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DEDICATION.

This work is respectfully dedicated to
THE PIONEERS,

long since departed. May the memory of those who laid down their burdens
by the wayside ever be fragrant as the breath of summer
flowers, for their toils and sacrifices have made
Fayette County a garden of sun-
shine and delights.






PREFACE

All life and achievement is evolution; present wisdom comes from past
experience, and present commercial prosperity has come only from past exer-
tion and suffering. The deeds and motives of the men that have gone before
have been instrumental in shaping the destinies of later communities and
states. The development of a new country was at once a task and a privi-
lege. It required great courage, sacrifice and privation. Compare the pres-
ent conditions of the people of Fayette County, Ohio, with what they
were one hundred vears ago. From a trackless wilderness and virgin land,
it has come to be a center of prosperity and civilization, with millions of
wealth, systems of railways, grand educational institutions, splendid indus-
tries and immense agricultural and mineral productions. Can any think-
ing person be insensible to the fascination of the study which discloses the
aspirations and efforts of the early pioneers who so strongly laid the founda-
tion upon which has been reared the magnificent prosperity of later days? To
perpetuate the story of these people and to trace and record the social, polit-
ical and industrial progress of the community from its first inception is the
function of the local historian. A sincere purpose to preserve facts and per-
sonal memoirs that are deserving of perpetuation, and which unite the pres-
ent to the past, is the motive for the present publication. A specially valuable
and interesting department is that one devoted to the sketches of representa-
tive citizens of these counties whose records deserve preservation because of
their worth, effort and accomplishment. The publishers desire to extend
their thanks to the gentlemen who have so faithfully labored to this end.
Thanks are also due to the citizens of Fayette county for the uniform kind-
ness with which they have regarded this undertaking, and for their many
services rendered in the gaining of necessary information.

In placing the “History of Fayette County, Ohio,” before the citizens,
the publishers can conscientiously claim that they have carried out the plan
as outlined in the prospectus. Every biographical sketch in the work has
been submitted to the party interested, for correction, and therefore any error
of fact, if there be any, is solely due to the person for whom the sketch was
prepared. Confident that our effort to please will fully meet the approbation
of the public, we are,

Respectfully,
THE PUBLISHERS.
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HISTORICAL

CHAPTER L
RELATED STATE HISTORY.

The first white men to set foot upon the Northwest Territory were
French traders and missionaries under the leadership of La Salle. This
was about the year 1670 and subsequent discoveries and explorations in this
region by the French gave that nation practically undisputed possession of
all the territory organized in 1787 as the Northwest Territory. It is true
that the English colonies of Virginia, Connecticut and Massachusetts claimed
that their charters extended their grants westward to the Mississippi river.
However, France claimed this territory and successfully maintained posses-
sion of it until the close of the French and Indian War in 1763. At that
time the treaty of Paris transferred all of the French claims east of the
Mississippi river to England. as well as all claims of France to territory on
the mainland of North America. For the next twenty years the Northwest
Territory was under the undisputed control of England, but became a part
of the United States by the treaty which terminated the Revolutionary War
in 1783. Thus the flags of three nations have floated over the territory now
comprehended within the present state of Ohio—the tri-color of France, the
union jack of England and the stars and stripes of the United States.

History will record the fact that there was another nation, however,
which claimed possession of this territory and, while the Indians can hardly
be called a nation. yet they made a gallant fight to retain their hunting
grounds. The real owners of this territory struggled against heavy odds
to maintain their supremacy and it was not until the battle of Tippecanoe, in
the fall of 1811, that the Indians gave up the unequal struggle. Tecumseh,
the Washington of his race, fought fiercely to save this territory for his
people, but the white man finally overwhelmed him, and “Lo, the poor Indian”
was pushed westward across the Mississippi. The history of the Northwest
Territory is full of the bitter fights which the Indian waged in trying to drive
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the white man out and the defeat which the Indians inflicted on General
St. Clair on November 4, 1792, will go down in the annals of American
history as the worst defeat which an American army ever suffered at the
hands of the Indians. The greatest battle which has ever been fought in the
United States against the Indians occurred in the state of Ohio. This was
the battle of Fallen Timbers and occurred August 20, 1794, the scene of
the battle being within the present county of Defiance. After the close
of the Revolutionary \War the Indians, urged on by the British, caused the
settlers in the Northwest Territory continual trouble and defeated every de-
tachment sent against them previous to their defeat by Gen. Anthony \Wayne
at the battle of Fallen Timbers in 1794. Although there was some trouble
with the Indians after this time, they never offered serious resistance after
this memorable defeat until the fall of 1811, when Gen. William Henry Har-
rison completely routed them at the battle of Tippecanoe.

NORTHWEST TERRITORY (1670-1754).

Ohio was the first state created out of the old Northwest Territory,
although Indiana had been previously organized as a territory. When the
land comprehended within the Northwest Territory was discovered by the
French under La Salle about 1670, it was a battle ground of various Indian
tribes, although the Eries, who were located along the shores of Lake Erie,
were the only ones with a more or less definite territory. From 1670 to
1763, the close of the French and Indian \War, the French were in possession
of this territory and established their claims in a positive manner by exten-
sive exploration and scattered settlements. The chief centers of French
settlement were at Detroit, Vincennes, Kaskaskia, Cahokia, Fort Crevecour
and at several missionary stations around the shores of the great lakes. The
French did not succeed in doing this without incurring the hostility of the
Iroquois Indians, a bitter enemity which was brought about chiefly because
the French helped the Shawnees, Wyandots and Miamis to drive the Iroquois
out of the territory west of the Muskingum river in Ohio.

It must not be forgotten that the English also laid claim to the North-
west Territory, basing their claim on the discoveries of the Cabots and the
subsequent charters of Virginia, Massachusetts and Connecticut. These
charters extended the limits of these three colonies westward to the Pacific
ocean, although, as a matter of fact, none of the three colonies made a settle-
ment west of the Alleghanies until after the Revolutionary War. New York
sought to strengthen her claim to territory west of the Alleghanies in 1701,
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by getting from the Iroquois, the bitter enemies of the French, a grant to the
territory from which the French and their Indian allies had previously ex-
pelled them. Although this grant was renewed in 1726 and again confirmed
in 1744, it gave New York only a nominal claim and one which was never
recognized by the French in any way.

English traders from Pennsylvania and Virginia began in 1730 to pay
more attention to the claims of their country west of the Alleghanies and
north of the Ohio river. \Vhen their activities reached the ears of the French
the governor of French Canada sent Céleron de Bienville up and down the
Ohio and the rivers and streams running into it from the north and took
formal possession of the territory by planting lead plates at the mouth of
every river and stream of any importance. This peculiar method of the
French in seeking to establish their claims occurred in the year 1749 and
opened the eves of England to the necessity of taking some immediate action.
George 11, the king of England at the time, at once granted a charter for the
first Ohio Company (there were two others by the same name later organized),
composed of London merchants and enterprising Virginians, and the com-
pany at once proceeded to formulate plans to secure possession of the territory
north of the Ohio and west of the Mississippi. Christopher Gist was sent
down the Ohio river in 1750 to explore the country as far west as the mouth
of the Scioto river, and made several treaties with the Indians. Things
were now rapidly approaching a crisis and it was soon evident that there
would be a struggle of arms between England and France for the disputed
region. In 1754 the English started to build a fort at the confluence of the
Monongahela and Allegheny rivers, on the site of the present city of Pitts-
burgh, but before the fort was completed the French appeared on the scene.
drove the English away and finished the fort which had been begun.

FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR (1754-63).

The crisis had finally come. The struggle which followed between the
two nations ultimately resulted in the expulsion of the French from the
mainland of America as well as from the immediate territory in dispute.
The war is known in America as the French and Indian War and in the
history of the world as the Seven Years’ War, the latter designation being
due to the fact that it lasted that length of time. The struggle developed
into a world-wide conflict and the two nations fought over three continents,
America, Europe and Asia. It is not within the province of this resume of
the history of Ohio to go into the details of this memorable struggle. It is
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sufficient for the purpose at hand to state that the treaty of Paris, which
terminated the war in 1763, left France without any of her former posses-
sions on the mainland of America.

PONTIAC’S CONSPIRACY (1763-64).

\Vith the English in control of America east of the Mississippi river and
the French regime forever ended. the Indians next command the attention
of the historian who deals with the Northwest Territory. The French were
undoubtedly responsible for stirring up their former Indian allies and
Pontiac’s conspiracy must be credited to the influence of that nation. This
formidable uprising was successfully overthrown by Henry Bouquet, who
led an expedition in 17€4 into the present state of Ohio and compelled the
Wyandots, Delawares and Shawnees to sue for peace.

N

NORTHWEST TERRITORY AND QUEBEC ACT.

From 1764 to 1774, no events of particular importance occurred within
the territorv north of the Ohio river, but in the latter year (June 22, 1774).
England, then at the breaking point with the colonies, passed the Quebec
act, which attached this territory to the province of Quebec for administrative
purposes. This intensified the feeling of resentment which the colonies
bore against their mother country and is given specific mention in their list
of grievances which they enumerated in their Declaration of Independence.
The Revolutionary War came on at once and this act, of course, was never
put into execution.

REVOLUTIONARY PERIOD (1775-83).

During the War for Independence (1775-1783), the various states with
claims to western lands agreed with the Continental Congress to surrender
their claims to the national government. In fact, the Articles of Confedera-
tion were not signed until all of the states had agreed to do this and Mary-
land withheld her assent to the articles until March 1, 1780, on this account.
In accordance with this agreement New York ceded her claim to the United
States in 1780, Virginia in 1784, Massachusetts in 1785 and Connecticut in
1786, although the latter state excepted a one-hundred-and-twenty-mile strip
of three million five hundred thousand acres bordering on Lake Erie. This
strip was formally relinquished in 1800, with the understanding that the
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United States would guarantee the titles already issued by that state. Vir-
ginia was also allowed a reservation, known as the Virginia Military Dis-
trict, which lay between the Little Miami and Scioto rivers, the same being
for distribution among her Revolutionary veterans. There is one other fact
which should be mentioned in connection with the territory north of the
Ohio in the Revolutionary period. This was the memorable conquest of the
territory by Gen. George Rogers Clark. During the vears 1778 and 1779,
this redoubtable leader captured Kaskaskia, Cahokia and Vincennes and
thereby drove the English out of the Northwest Territory. It is probable
that this notable campaign secured this territory for the Americans and that
without it we would not have had it included in our possessions in the treaty
which closed the Revolutionary War.

FIRST SURVEYS AND EARLY SETTLERS.

The next period in the history of the territory north of the Ohio begins
with the passage of a congressional act (May 20, 1785), which provided for
the present system of land surveys into townships six miles square. As soon
as this was put into operation, settlers—and mostly Revolutionary soldiers—
began to pour into the newly surveyed territory. A second Ohio. Company
was organized in the spring of 1786, made up chiefly of Revolutionary
officers and soldiers from New England, and this company proposed to estab-
lish a state somewhere between Lake Erie and the Ohio river. At this junc-
ture Congress realized that definite steps should be made at once for some
kind of government over this extensive territory, a territory which now in-
cludes the present states of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin and
about a third of Minnesota. Various plans were proposed in Congress and
most of the sessions of 1786 and the first half of 1787 were consumed in
trying to formulate a suitable form of government for the extensive terri-
tory. The result of all these deliberations resulted in the famous Ordinance
of 1787, which was finally passed on July 13, 1787.

ORDINANCE OF 1787.

There have been many volumes written about this instrument of gov-
ernment and to this day there is a difference of opinion as to who was its
author. The present article can do no more than merely sketch its outline
and set forth the main provisions. It was intended to provide only a tem-
porary government and to serve until such a time as the population of the
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territory would warrant the creation of states with the same rights and
privileges which the thirteen original states enjoyed. It stipulated that not
less than three nor more than five states should ever be created out of the
whole territory and the maximum number was finally organized, although it
was not until 1848 that the last state, Wisconsin, was admitted to the Union.
The third article, “Religion, morality and knowledge being necessary to good
government and the happiness of mankind, schools and the means of educa-
tion shall forever be encouraged,” has given these five states the basis for
their excellent system of public schools, state normals, colleges and uni-
versities. Probably the most widely discussed article was the sixth, which pro-
vided that slavery and involuntary servitude should never be permitted within
the territory and by the use of the word “forever” made the territory free
for all time. It is interesting to note in this connection that both Indiana
and Illinois before their admission to the Union sought to have this pro-
vision set aside, but every petition from the two states was refused by Con-
gress in accordance with the provision of the Ordinance.

FIRST STAGE OF GOYERNMENT UNDER TIIE ORDINANCE,

The ordinance contemplated two grades of territorial government.
During the operation of the first grade of government the governor, his secre-
tary and the three judges provided by the ordinance were to be appointed by
Congress and the governor in turn was to appoint ‘‘such magistrates and
other civil officers in each county and township as he shall deem necessary
for the preservation of the peace and good will of the same.” After the
federal government was organized a statutory provision took the appoint-
ment of these officers out of the hands of Congress and placed it in the hands
of the President of the United States. All executive authority was given
to the governor, all judicial authority to the three judges, while the governor
and judges, in joint session, constituted the legislative body. This means
that during the first stage of territorial government the people had absolutely
no voice in the affairs of government and this state of affairs lasted until
1799, a period of twelve years.

SECOND STAGE OF GOYERNMENT UNDER THE ORDINANCE.

The second stage of government in the territory was to begin whenever
the governor was satisfied that there were at least five thousand free male
inhabitants of the age of twenty-one and above. The main difference be-
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tween the first and second stages of territorial government lay in the fact
that the legislative functions were taken from the governor and judges and
given to a ‘“‘general assembly or legislature.” The ordinance provided for
the election of one representative for each five hundred free male inhabitants,
the tenure of the office to be two years. While the members of the lower
house were to be elected by the qualified voters of the territory, the upper
house, to consist of five members, were to be appeinted by Congress in a
somewhat complicated manner. The house of representatives were to select
ten men and these ten names were to be sent to Congress and out of this
number five were to be selected by Congress. This provision, like the ap-
pointment of the governor, was later changed so as to make the upper house
the appointees of the President of the United States. The five men so selected
were called councilors and held office for five years.

ORGANIZATION OF THE NORTHWEST TERRITORY.

The first governor of the newly orgaﬁized territory was Gen. Arthur
St. Clair, a gallant soldier of the Revolution, who was appointed on October
5. 1787, and ordered to report for duty on the first of the following February.
He held the office until November 22, 1802, when he was dismissed by Presi-
dent Jefferson “for the disorganizing spirit, and tendency of every example,
violating the rules of conduct enjoined by his public station, as displayed in
his address to the convention.” The governor’s duties were performed by
his secretary. Charles W. Byrd, until March 1, 1803, when the state officials
took their office. The first judges appointed were Samuel Holden Parsons,
James Mitchell Varnum and John Armstrong. Before the time came for
the judges to qualify, Armstrong resigned and John Cleves Symmes was ap-
pointed in his place. The first secretary was Winthrop Sargent, who held-
the position until he was appointed governor of Mississippi Territory by the
President on May 2, 1798. Sargent was succeeded by William Henry Har-
rison, who was appointed by the President on June 26, 1798, and confirmed
by the Senate two days later. Harrison was later elected as the first dele-
gate of the organized Northwest Territory to Congress and the President
then appointed Charles Willing Byrd as secretary of the Territory, Byrd’s
appointment being confirmed by the Senate on December 31, 1799.

REPRESENTATIVE STAGE OF GOVERNMENT (1799-1803).

The Northwest Territory remained under the government of the first
stage until September 106, 1769, when it formally advanced to the second or




32 FAYETTE COUNTY, OHIO.

representative stage. In the summer of 1798 Governor St. Clair had ascer-
tained that the territory had a population of at least five thousand free male
inhabitants and, in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance of 1787,
was ready to make the change in its form of government. On October 29,
1798, the governor issued a proclamation to the qualified voters of the Terri-
tory directing them to choose members for the lower house of the Territorial
Legislature at an election to be held on the third Monday of the following
December. The twenty-two members so elected met on January 16, 1799,
and, pursuant to the provisions of the ordinance, selected the ten men from
whom the President of the United States later chose five for the Legislative
Council. They then adjourned to meet on September 16, 1799, but since
there was not a quorum on that day they held adjourned sessions until the
23rd, at which time a quorum was present.

At the time the change in the form of government went into effect there
were only nine counties in the whole territory. These counties had been
organized either by the governor or his secretary. The following table gives
the nine counties organized before 1799 with the dates of their organization
and the number of legislators proportioned to each by the governor:

Date of Number of

County. organization. _ representatives.
Washington _______________ July 27, 1788 . 2
Hamilton _________________ January 4, 1790  ______________________ 7
St. Clair __ ! April 27, 1790 - ______ I
Knox o _______ June 20, 1790 . __________ ______ I
Randolph —_______________ October 5, 1795 - ____ I
Wayne ___________________August 6, 1796 ________________________ 3
Adams ___________________ July 10, 1797 - ____ 2
Jefferson _________________ July 29, 1797 . I
Ross o ___: August 20, 1798 _ . 4

FIRST TERRITORIAL LEGISLATURE OF NORTIIWEST TERRITORY.

The twenty-two representatives and five councilors were the first rep-
resentative body to meet in the Northwest Territory and they represented a
constituency scattered over a territory of more than two hundred and sixty-
five thousand square miles, an area greater than Germany or France, or even
Austria-Hungary. It would be interesting to tell something of the delibera-
tions of these twenty-seven sterling pioneers, but the limits of the present
article forbids. It is necessary, however, to make mention of one important
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thing which they did in view of the fact that it throws much light on the
subsequent history of the Northwest Territory.

DIVISION OF 1800.

The Legislature was authorized to elect a delegate to Congress and two
candidates for the honor presented their names to the Legislature, William
Henry Harrison and Arthur St. Clair, Jr., the son of the governor. The
Legislature, by a joint ballot on October 3, 1799, elected Harrison by a vote
of eleven to ten. The defeat of his son undoubtedly had considerable to do
with the subsequent estrangement which arose between the governor and his
legislature and incidentally hastened the division of the Northwest Terri-
tory. Within two years from the time the territory had advanced to the
second stage of government the division had taken place. On May 7, 1800,
Congress passed an act dividing the Northwest Territory by a line drawn
from the mouth of the Kentucky river to Fort Recovery, in Mercer county,
Ohio. and thence due north to the boundary line between the United States
and Canada. Governor St. Clair favored the division because he thought it
would delay the organization of a state and thus give him a longer lease on
his position, but he did not favor the division as finally determined. He was
constantly growing in disfavor with the people on account of his overbearing
manner and he felt that he would get rid of some of his bitterest enemies if
the western inhabitants were set off into a new territory. However, the
most of the credit for the division must be given to Harrison, who, as a dele-
gate to Congress, was in a position to have the most influence. Harrison also
was satisfied that in case a new territory should be formed he would be
appointed its first governor and he was not disappointed. The territory west
of the line above mentioned was immediately organized and designated as
Indiana Territory, while the eastern portion retained the existing govern-
ment and the old name—Northwest Territory. It is frequently overlooked
that the Northwest Territory existed in fact and in name up until March 1,
1803. ~

CENSUS OF NORTHWEST TERRITORY IN 1800.

The division of 1800 left the Northwest Territory with only about one-
third of its original area. The census of the territory taken by the United
States government in 1800 showed it to have a total population of forty-five
thousand three hundred and sixty-five, which fell short by about fifteen thou-

(3)° '
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sand of being sufficient for the creation of a state as provided by the Ordi-
nance of 1787, which fixed the minimum population at sixty thousand. The
counties left in the Northwest Territory, with their respective population,
are set forth in the appended table, all of which were within the present state
of Ohio, except Wayne:

Adams _ o ___ 3,432
Hamilton . _ . __ . ______ 14,632
Jefferson _____ . _______________ 8,766
Ross .. 8,540
Trumball _____ _________ 1,302
Washington - ____________________ 5,427
Wayne _ . ____ 3,206

Total __ .. 45,305

The population as classified by the census with respect to age and sex is
interesting and particularly so in showing that considerably more than one-
third of the total population were children under ten years of age.

Males. Females.

Whites up to ten years of age________ 9,362 8,644
Whites from ten to sixteen_.________ 3,647 3,353
Whites from sixteen to twenty-six____ 4,636 3,861
Whites from twenty-six to forty-five__ 4,833 3,342
Whites forty-five and upward________ 1,955 1,395

Total __ . __ 24,433 20,595
Total of both sexes ________________ 45,028
Total of other persons, not Indians____ 337

Grand total _____________________ 45,365

A digression is necessary at this point in order to trace the growth of
settlement of the territory now within the present state of Ohio up to 1803,
when it was admitted to the Union as a state. Marietta, founded in July,
1788, by the Ohio Company, is the oldest permanent settlement in the state.
A number of New Jersey settlers were organized by -John Cleves Symmes,
and Symmes succeeded in securing a grant of land from Congress (1788-
1792) containing two hundred forty-eight thousand five hundred and forty
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acres, located between the Great Miami and Little Miami rivers. This grant
of iand is known in Ohio history as the Symmes purchase and contained the
scttlements of Columbia (1788) and Cincinnati (1789), although'the latter
place was first christened Losantiville. The man who devised this name
exercised no small amount of ingenuity in its manufacture. The proposed
settlement happened to he located at the mouth of the Licking river and this
circumstance, with a little knowledge of Latin and a vivid imagination, was
responsible for this hybrid word. The Latin word for town is “villa,” which
is Anglicized into “ville;” the Latin for opposite is “anti” and for mouth
“0s.” These three Latin words account for the completed word, with the
exception of the “L,” and this letter is the initial letter of Licking. To make
the word clear it must be read backward, syllable at a time—thus L-os-anti-
ville, which being interpreted means the town opposite the mouth of the
Licking.

The Virginia Military District, to which reference has been made, was
settled largely by people from that state. The Connecticut Reserve, along
Lake Erie, attracted many settlers from that state, among whom should be
mentioned Moses Cleaveland, who, in 1796, founded the city which bears his
name. The northern part of the state did not begin to fill up rapidly until
after 1832, when the Ohio-Erie canal was opened for traffic. There have
been estimates running from fifteen to twenty thousand as to the number of
people who floated down the Ohio river within a year after the Ordinance
of 1787 went into effect.

COUNTY ORGANIZATION (1788-1810).

It has already been stated that there were nine counties within the
Northwest Territory in 1799, when it advanced to the second stage of terri-
torial government. According to the provisions of the ordinance, the crea-
tion of new counties was in the hands of the governor, although after the
federal constitution went into effect the secretary was also given the same
power. Knox and Wayne counties were started by Secretary Winthrop Sar-
gent according to this provision. The state of Ohio is now divided into
eighty-eight counties, ten of which were created before the state was admitted
to the Union on March 1, 1803. The counties organized by Governor St.
Clair, or his secretary, from 1788, when Washington county was organized.
up to 1803, when the state was admitted to the Union, are ten in number:
Washington, Hamilton, Wayne, Adams, Jefferson, Ross, Trumbull, Cler-
mont. Fairfield and Belmont. The dates of the creation of the first six
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have already been given. Trumbull county was organized on July 10, 1800:
Clermont and Fairfield, December 9, 1800; Belmont, September 7, 1801I.
Between the years 1803 and 1810, when Fayette county was organized, there
were no less than twenty-four counties organized within the state of Ohio.
The first session of the General Assembly of the state organized eight coun-
ties, as follows: I‘ranklin, Gallia, Greene, Scioto, Warren, Butler, Mont-
gomery and Columbiana. Muskingum started its independent existence on
the first day of March, 1804. In 1805 there were four counties created.
Champaign, Athens, Geauga and Highland. The session of 1807 added
four more to the rapidly growing state, Miami, Ashtabula, Cuyahoga and
Portage. The following year saw six new counties opened for entry, Dela-
ware, Stark, Tuscarawas, Preble, Knox and Licking. One county, Huron,
was created in 1809. The five counties organized in 1810 include Fayette.
the history of which is the main theme of this volume. The other counties
created in this year are Pickaway, Guernsey, Clinton and Madison. This
makes a total of thirty-nine counties up to and including the year 1810. In
this year Cincinnati, the largest city of the state, boasted of a population of
two thousand three hundred and twenty, while Fayette, which had been made
out of parts of Highland and Ross counties, started out with a total popula-
tion of one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four.

INDIAN WARS (1787-1803).

The period from 1787 to 1803 in the Northwest Territory was marked
hy several bitter conflicts with the Indians. Just as at the close of the French
and Indian \War had the I‘rench stirred up the Indians against the Ameri-
cans, so at the close of the Revolutionary \War did the English do the same
thing. This inciting of the Indians by the British was one of the causes of
the War of 1812, a struggle which has very appropriately been called the
second \War for Independence. The various uprisings of the Indians up to
1794 retarded the influx of settlers and was a constant menace to those who
did venture into the territory. Three distinct campaigns were waged against
the Indians during this period before they were finally subdued. The first
campaign was under the command of Gen. Josiah Harmar, 1790, and re-
sulted in a decisive defeat for the whites. The second expedition was under
the leadership of Gen. Arthur St. Clair, the governor of the Territory, and
was marked by one of the worst defeats ever suffered by an American army
at the hands of the Indians. A lack of knowledge of Indian methods of
warfare, combined with reckless mismanagement, sufficiently accounts for
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both disasters. It remained for Gen. Anthony Wayne, the “Mad Anthony”
of Revolutionary fame, to bring the Indians to terms. The battle which
closed his campaign against the Indians is known as the battle of Fallen
Timbers and was fought on August 20, 1794. The scene of the battle lies
along the Maumee river within the limits of the present county of Defiance.
This crushing defeat of the Indians, a rout in which they had lost twelve
out of thirteen chiefs, was so complete that the Indians were glad to sue for
peace. On June 10, 1795, delegates from the various Indian tribes, headed
by their chiefs, met at Greenville, Ohio, to formulate a treaty. The United
States government appointed General Wayne as commissioner plenipotentiary
to draft the treaty and, after nearly two months of bickering, a treaty was
drawn up on August 3, 1795. It was signed by General Wayne on behalf of
the United States and by ninety chiefs and the delegates of twelve interested
tribes. The treaty was faithfully kept by the Indians and ever afterward
Little Turtle, the real leader of the Indians, was a true friend of the whites.
It may be said that this battle of l‘allen Timbers was the most important
battle fought in A\merica between the close of the War for Independence and
the battle of Tippecanoe in the fall of 1811. To Gen. Anthony Wayne will
remain the honor of opening the way for the permanent settlement of the
Northwest Territory.

THE FORMATION OF A NEW STATE.

Tlie three vears intervening between the creation of Indian Territory
(May 7. 1800). and the admission of Ohio to the Union (March 1, 1803),
are marked by an acrimonious struggle during which Governor St. Clair was
constantly growing in disfavor with his Legislature and the great mass of
the people of the Territory. The Legislature wanted a state formed as soon
as possible and succeeded in getting Congress to pass an act, April 30, 1802,
authorizing the calling of a constitutional convention. This act established
the limits of the proposed new state as follows: ‘That part of the North-
west Territory bounded east by Pennsylvania. south by the Ohio river, west
by a line drawn from the mouth of the Big Miami river due north to an east
and west line passing through the south extremity of Lake Michigan, and by
this line and the Canada line through Lake Erie to the west line of Penn-
sylvania.” Since these boundaries omitted the eastern half of the present
state of Michigan which had been left a part of the Northwest Territory by
the division of May 7, 1800, it was denounced as a fraud by the Federalists
in the omitted territory. However, it is very plain that Congress carried out
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the intent of the Ordinance of 1787 by their act and the charge of political
trickery fails of substantiation in the light of the specific provisions therein
set forth regarding the creation of states out of the Northwest Territory.
The enabling act provided for an election for delegates to the constitutional
convention to be held in September of the same year (1802), the delegates
to meet at Chillicothe on the first Monday of the following November. The
thirty-five delegates met at the appointed time and by a vote of thirty-four
to one, the negative vote being cast by FEphraim Cutler. decided to proceed at
once to the organization of a state government and the formation of a consti-
“tution. The convention was in session until November 29th, at which time
it had completed the first constitution for the state and the one which lasted
until 1851, when a second constitution was adopted.

WHEN WAS OHIO ADMITTED TO THE UNION

It is interesting to note the difficulty which Ohio historians have had in
trying to fix upon the date which marks the formal admission of the state to
the Union.

The natal day of Ohio has given rise to more dispute than the natal day
of any other state in the Union. This is undoubtedly due to the fact that
Congress never passed an act formally admitting it to the Union. There
have been no less than five dates assigned by as many different authorities
and each group of historians substantiate their claim by the citation of facts.
These five dates are as follows: April 30. 1802; November 2¢9, 1802: Febru-
ary 19, 1803; March 1, 1803; March 3, 1803.

The first date (April 30, 1802) has for its chief sponsor the -editor of
the "“United States Statutes at Large.” This date is not tenable at all, since
the territorial judges were in office for several months after this date and
were, by the congressional act of February 21, 1800, paid their full salaries
up to March 1, 1803. The second date (November 29, 1802) is advanced
by Hickey in his volume, “The Constitution,” on the ground that the con-
stitution was adopted on that day. The third date (February 19, 1803) has
been held by several good authorities, notably, Caleb Atwater, in his ‘“Politi-
cal Manual;” G. W. Pascal, in his “.\nnotated Constitution,” and the late
president of Marietta College, 1. \W. Andrews. [t was upon this date that
Congress passed an act to “‘provide for the due execution of the laws of the
United States within the state of Ohio.” This would seem to indicate that
Congress recognized February 19, 1803, as the date of the admission of Ohio
to the Union, but when it is recalled that Congress had not vet appointed the
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necessary judicial officers it must be concluded that this is not the proper date.
The fourth date (March 1, 1803) is now recognized officially as the
actual day on which Ohio formally entered the Union, although it was an act
-of Congress passed nearly three vears later which definitely settled this fact.
The question arose in 1806 in Congress regarding the payment of the terri-
torial officers and the act of February 21st of that year ordered that the gov-
ernor and judges be paid for their services up to March 1, 1803. There can
be no question but that Congress placed its official approval on this da.c as
being the first day of Ohio’s existence as a separate state. The fifth and
last date (March 3. 1803) was advanced as the real date of the admission of
the state, for the reason that on this date Congress gave its approval to
certain changes in the constitution of the state which had been adopted on
November 29, 1802. These changes related to the disposition of certain
school lands within the state and were of minor importance and in no sense
advocated any radical changes in the constitution of the state. However, on
March 3, 1803, the state had heen in full operation for a space of three days
and exercising all the rights and privileges of a state: the governor had been
installed ; the Legislature was in session and the various state officials were
discharging their duties in accordance with the constitution. Thus it must
be concluded from all available evidence that Ohio was admitted to the Union
on March 1, 1803.

CAPITALS OF NORTHWEST TERRITORY AND OHI1T0O.

The capital of the Northwest Territory was located within the present
limits of Ohio during the whole existence of the Territory both before and
after the division of the Territory in 1800. \When the Ordinance of 1787
was formally put into operation, on July 17, 1788, the capital was established
at Marietta, the name being chosen by the directors of the Ohio Company on
July 2, 1788. The name of Marietta was selected in honor of the French
Queen Marie Antoinette, compounded by a curious combination of the first
and last syllables of her name.

The capital remained at Marietta until 1800, when it was moved by the
congressional act of May 7th of that year to Chillicothe and by the con-
stitution adopted in 1802 the capital was to remain there at least until 1808.
The Legislature of 1809 moved the capital to Zanesville until such time as a
permanent site should be selected. The Legislature at the same time that it
moved the capital to Zanesville appointed commissioners to report at the fol-
lowing sessions “the most eligible and central spot for permanently estahlish-
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ing it.” The approaching War of 1812 made it necessary to take the capital
back to Chillicothe, where there was less danger from attack by the Indians
and British. The commissioners appointed by the Legislature of 1809 se-
lected a small village by the name of Dublin, on the Scioto, about fourteen
miles north of Columbus, but the Legislature refused to abide by their choice.

The capital was permanently located at Columbus by the legislative act
of February 14, 1812, although no less than nine different sites were under
consideration before the final decision was made. The act selecting the site
did not choose a name for the proposed city and this honor belongs to Joseph
Foos, the senator from I‘ranklin county, who had been largely instrumental
in the selection of the Legislature. .t that time there was a solitary log
cabin on the site and the whole tract was covered with a dense forest. The
act of February 17, 1816, formally designated Columbus as the capital “from
and after the second Tuesday of October, 1816.” During the War of 1812,
and until the buildings were ready at Columbus, the capital remained at
Chillicothe.

CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY OF OHIO,

The state of Ohio has had four constitutional conventions: 1802,
1850-51, 1873-74 and 1912. The constitution of 1802, it is interesting to
note, was never submitted to the people for ratification. Between the adop-
tion of the first and second constitution there was an effort to hold a con-
stitutional convention. A resolution, passed December 25, 1818, authorized
a vote on the question of holding a constitutional convention, but at the elec-
tion which was subsequently held it was decided adversely by a vote of 29,315
to 6,987.

The main facts concerning the second constitutional convention may be
briefly summed up as follows. The Legislature on October 9, 1849, author-
ized a vote on the question of holding a convention and the voters of the
state cast a majority of 94,531 in favor of the constitutional convention.
The vote stood 145,698 for and 51,167 against the convention. On April 1,
1850, the one hundred and eight delegates were elected and on the 6th of the
following May thev met at Columbus. The convention was in continuous
session until July g, 1850, and then, not having yet completed their delibera-
tions, adjourned to meet again on December 2, 1850. The second session
continued to hold daily meetings until March 10, 1851. when it finally con-
cluded its labors after having spent a total of one hundred and sixty-three
days. The constitution was submitted to the people of the state on June 17,
1851, and adopted by a vote of 125,504 to 100.270.
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An attempt to adopt a new constitution was made in 1874, but failed.
On March 30, 1871, the Legislature provided for a vote on the question of
holding a constitutional convention and at an election held October 10, 1871,
it was decided, by a vote of 267.618 to 104,231, to hold such a convention.
On April 6, 1873, the one hundred and five delegates to the convention were
elected and on the 13th of the following month they met and organized.
The convention continued in session from that date until August 8th, and,
after a recess, met on December 2d and remained in continuous session until
May 15th of the following year. The convention held daily sessions for one
hundred and eighty days, one of the longest constitutional conventions ever
held in the United States. With all this deliberation it would seem that a
satisfactory constitution could have been framed, but the voters of the state,
on August 18, 1874, rejected it by a vote of 250,169 to 102,885. This ex-
pensive attempt to make a new constitution was sufficient to thwart all efforts
along this line for several years. However, the changes in economic, social
and industrial conditions became more pronounced year by year, and on
March g, 1909, the Legislature submitted the question of holding a constitu-
tional convention. At an election held on November 8, 1910, it was decided.
by a vote of 693,263 to 67,718, to select delegates to a constitutional con-
vention. The convention met on the second Tuesday of January, 1912, and
remained in session until June 8, 1912, when it finally concluded its labors.
This convention submitted forty-two changes in the existing constitution and
on September 3d of the same year the qualified voters of the state accepted all
but eight of the proposed amendments. The eight amendments lost are as
follows: Suffrage. good roads, advertising, injunctions, capital punishment,
voting machines, eligibility of women and elimination of word “white” from
the constitution. The amendments which carried by various majorities con-
cerned the following subjects: Jury system, depositions, suits, wrongful
death, initiative and referendum, investigations, limiting veto, mechanics’
lien, welfare, compensations, conservation of natural resources, eight-hour
day. removal of officials, expert testimony, land titles, prison contracts, extra
sessions, reform of the judiciary, county judges, justices, school boards,
school commissioners, insurance, abolishing of board of public works, taxa-
tion, corporations, double liability, state printing, civil service, submission of
amendments. home rule for cities, schedule and license. The fight was the
most bitter on woman’s suffrage and the initiative and referendum. The
vote on the first proposition was 249,420 to 336.875 and was defeated largely
on account of the activity of the liquor interests. The initiative and referen-
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dum. carried by a vote of 312,592 to 231,312, despite the fact that every
ruse and trick known to professional politicians was used to compass its
defeat.

On November 3, 1914, there were four constitutional amendments sub-
mitted to the voters of the state and the two which caused the most discussion,
viz., woman'’s suffrage and prohibition, were defeated. The other two amend-
ments related to home rule for cities and the regulation of the liquor traffic.

MILITARY RECORD.

The state of Ohio has had its citizens in four wars in which the United
States has engaged since 1803: the War of 1812, the Mexican War, the
Civil War and the Spanish-American War. It is very unfortunate that the
public records of Ohio contain no list of the soldiers of the state who fought
in the War of 1812, although large numbers of the citizens served in the
field under various commanders. The records as regards the Mexican \War
are fairly complete and show that a total of 5,536 men were sent to the front
by the state. When the call was first issued for troops. Ohio was called
upon to furnish three thousand men and within a short time forty companies
reported at Camp Washington, near Cincinnati. Thirty companies were
formed into three regiments, commanded by Cols. Alexander M. Mitchell,
George W. Morgan and Samuel R. Curtis. These troops were sent down the
Ohio in July, 1846, and joined General Taylor on the Rio Grande. In 1847
additional troops were sent from Ohio, but none of them saw any active
service. The regiment under the command of Mitchell was the only one to
take part in a battle, and it distinguished itself in the storming of Monterey.
The state of Ohio suffered a severe loss in the death of Brig.-Gen. Thomas
L. Hamer, one of the most prominent men of the state at that time. He was
a member of Congress at the time of the opening of the war, but left Con-
gress, enlisted as a private and soon after received a commission as brigadier-
general. He was in the operations around Monterey and shortly afterward
was stricken with a fatal disease and died on December 30, 1846.

The part which Ohio played in the Civil War can be only briefly noticed
in this resume of the history of the state. That Ohio did her full duty as a
loyal member of the Union is a fact which is known to everyone. Within
twenty-four hours from the time the President issued his first call for troops
on April 16, 1860, the Legislature had passed a bill appropriating one million
dollars for military purposes. Two days later (April 19) two regiments of
Ohio troops left by rail for Washington. The ease and quickness with which
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this was accomplished is an indication of the intense loyalty ol the state. |t
is a glowing tribute to the state of Ohio that although there were only thir-
teen regiments assigned to the state under the first call, enough men presented
themselves to make more than seventy regiments. This outhurst of loyalty
was such that the Legislature authorized the governor to accept ten more
regiments, and the state itself equipped and paid these additional men and
enrolled them for the defense of the state. By October 1, 1862, the state had
enrolled militia to the number of 425,147 and the state sent out for duty
outside of its own limits 319.659 men, although their quota was only 306,322.
This gives the state the honor of furnishing more than one-tenth of the total
enlistment of men in the Northern army. The soldiers were a part of every
army, participated in every campaign, fought in every important hattle from
Bull Run to Bentonville, from Sabine Cross Roads to Gettyvshurg. No
less than forty-three Ohio regiments of infantry were present at the san-
guinary engagement at Missionary Ridge and they were in like proportion at
the other battles. Twelve thousand brave Ohio men were killed or mortally
wounded and at least forty thousand received wounds of some kind. Thir-
teen thousand died of disease in the service and twenty thousand were dis-
charged for disability arising from wounds or disease. These figures give
some idea of the prominent part which the soldiers of Ohio played in the
great struggle.
_ It is pertinent to say something of the activity of the anti-war party in
the state during the time the struggle was going on. In the summer of 1863
the Democrats of the state nominated Vallandigham for governor, a man
who was very outspoken in his denunciation of the war, but John Brough, a
stanch Union man, had no difficulty in defeating him for the governorship.
The part which Vallandigham subsequently played in the history of his state
is sufficient proof that it was for the hest interests of the state that he was
defeated.

The Spanish-American War of 1808 has been the last one in which
troops from Ohio have taken any part. Following the call of President
McKinley for seventy-five thousand volunteers, Ohio had no difficulty in
filling their quota. This war opened officially on April 25th and formally
came to an end by the signing of a protocol on August 12th. The battles of
Manila Bay, Santiago, El Caney and San Juan Hill were the only engage-
ments of importance. According to the treaty of Paris, which was signed
December 12, 1898, Spain relinquished her sovereignty over Cuba, ceded to
the United States Porto Rico and her other West India possessions and the
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Island of Guam, and transferred her rights in the Philippines for a sum of
twenty million dollars paid to her for public works and improvements which
belonged to the Spanish government.

THE LAND GRANTS OF OHIO.

Ohio was the first state organized out of the territory north of the Ohio
river and east of the Mississippi river and was divided into several grants,
reservations and military districts of one kind and another. These various
divisions have led to an endless amount of confusion in the surveying of
lands in the state and in many cases in expensive litigation. A brief sum-
mary of each one of these divisions is here presented.

THE OHIO LAND COMPANY PURCHASE.

This company was organized March 3, 1786, at Boston and on October
27, 1787. bought from the government 1,500,000 acres and received, outside
of the portions reserved by Congress. 1.064.285 acres. Congress set aside
the sixteenth section of each township for school purposes, the twenty-ninth
section for religious purposes and the eighth, eleventh and twenty-sixth for
such purposes as Congress might determine in the future. This tract in-
cluded what was known as the “Donation Tract” of 100,000 acres, the same
now being the northern part of \Vashington county. For this immense tract
the Ohio Company paid the government sixty-six and two-thirds cents an’
acre.

THE FRENCH GRANT.

The secretary of the United Board of Treasury, William Duer, was in-
strumental in helping the Ohio Company to secure from Congress the option
on 3.000,000 acres lying west and north of the original purchase of this com-
pany. The title to this tract remained in the government and out of this
peculiar arrangement arose the Scioto Company, which was organized in
[France. Hundreds of deluded Frenchmen invested their money in this tract
and received cloudy titles which caused no little trouble in later years. A
large number of these French settlers landed on the banks of the Ohio on
October 20, 1790. on the site of the present city of Gallipolis, which they
founded and named. The Scioto Company was incompetently managed, be-
came insolvent and the land on which the unfortunate Frenchmen had settled
reverted fo the United States government. While the most of them remained,
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there were many of them who went on farther west and located where other
French settlers had previously established themselves. The United States
treated the remaining French settlers in a very generous manner and by the
act of March 3, 1795, granted them 24,000 acres on the Ohio river within
the present limits of Scioto county.

THE SYMMES PURCHASE.

In 1788 John Cleves Symmes and other men of New Jersey organized
the Miami Company and bought from the United States 1,000,000 acres, for
which the company agreed to pay sixty-six and two-thirds cents an acre. As
in the case of the purchase of the Ohio Company, the government made
reservations of school and church sections. as well as three additional sections
for general purposes. The Miami Company later found out that they had
contracted for more than they could pay and the records show that they
.received and paid for only 311,682 acres in the southern part of the tract.
It is interesting to note that the present site of Cincinnati was sold by the
company to one Matthias Denman for the sum of five hundred dollars. The
city of Cincinnati was founded the following year and the monument in that
city on Third street, between Broadway and Ludlow streets, marks the loca-
tion of Fort Washington, which was erected to protect the infant city from
the Indians.

CONNECTICUT RESERVE,

In the year 178G the state of Connecticut relinquished all her claims to
lands in the Northwest Territory with the exception of a strip of 3,500,000
acres bordering I.ake Erie.  This immense tract became an integral part of
Ohio as the result of two separate acts on the part of Connecticut. The
state granted 500,000 acres in the western part of the reserve in 1792 to those
citizens of Connecticut whose homes had been burned by the British during
the Revolutionary War. The towns of Norwalk, Greenwich, Fairfield, New
Haven and New London furnished the greater part of the eighteen hundred
who took advantage of the generous offer of their state. The land was sur-
veyed into townships of five miles square and divided among the settlers in
proportion to their losses. In 1795 the Connecticut I.and Company purchased
the rest of the reserve, amounting to 3,000,000 acres, and on April 28, 1800,
the United States government passed an act which paved the way for the
final ahsorption of the tract by the state of Ohio. In May, 1800. the Connect-
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icut Legislature accepted the offer of the United States and formally re-
nounced all claims to the territory in favor of the state of Qhio.

THE VIRGINIA MILITARY DISTRICT.

The reservation was retained by Virginia when the state relinquished
her claim to Congress in 1784, being retained by the state for the use of the
Revolutionary soldiers who had enlisted from Virginia. It comprised the
territory between the Little Miami and Scioto rivers, but was not to be used
unless the lands claimed by Virginia south of the Ohio river proved insufii-
cient to pay all of the bounties promised by Virginia to her soldiers. By the
year 1790 it was seen that Virginia would not have enough territory south
of the Ohio to satisfy all of her needs and accordingly, in August of that
year, Congress passed an act allowing the state to use the optional territory
north of the Ohio river. Owing to the fact that the territory was not sur-
veyved according to any definite plan, the various allotments assigned to the
Virginia soldiers frequently overlapped and in many instances confusion and
litigation resulted.

THE UNITED STATES MILITARY LANDS.

The Continental Congress during the Revolutionary \Var offered boun-
ties of Western lands in order to increase enlistments, and soldiers so secured
were givcn land warranis which they later presented to Congress and ex-
changed for land. On June 1, 1796, Congress passed an act which called
upon the survevor-general of the United States to locate a tract in the North-
west Territory for the purpose of enabling the government to have land to
take up the land warrants which it had issued during the late war. The limits
of this particular tract hegan “at the northwest corner of the Seven Ranges,
thence south fifty miles, thence west to the Scioto river and along that river
to the Greenville treaty line. thence along that line and east to the place of
beginning.” These lands were surveyed into townships five miles square and
each owner received a patent for his land signed by the President of the
United States.

THE REFUGEE TRACT.

This tract was set aside by the Continental Congress in April, 1783, for
the benefit of such people as left Canada and Nova Scotia to help .the
American colonies in their fight against England during the Revolution.
The subsequent congressional act of 1798 confirmed the act of the Continental
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Congress and on February 18, 1801, Congress definitely selected “those frac-
tional townships of the sixteenth, seventeenth, eighteenth, nineteenth, twen-
tieth, twenty-first and twenty-second ranges of townships joining the south-
ern boundary line of the military lands.” This tract of four and a half
miles in width, and extending forty-two miles east of the Scioto river, con-
tained more than twice as much as was needed to satisfy the claims of the
refugees. The part unclaimed by those for whom it was set aside was at-
tached to the Chillicothe land district and sold as Congress lands. It so hap-
pened that the future capital of the state, Columbus, is in the extreme western
side of this tract.
CONGRESS LANDS.

Some of the tracts of land already described were Congress lands, viz.,
the French Grant, the Seven Ranges and the Refugee Tract. Congress re-
tained and sold all lands not specifically relinquished to land companies and
established land offices for the purpose at different times at Marietta, Cin-
cinnati, Steubenville, Chillicothe, Zanesville, Canton, Wooster, Piqua, Dela-
ware, Wapakoneta, I.ima and Upper Sandusky.

THE MORAVIAN GRANT.

The congressional grant to the Ohio Company in 1787 reserved ten
thousand acres in what is now Tuscarawas county for the use of the Mora.
vians and Christian Indians who had previously settled there, the title being
vested in the Moravian Brethren at Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. A few years
later two thousand acres were added to the original grant and in 1823 the
territory reverted to the United States, with the exception of the cemeteries.
church yards and a few special leases.

DOHRMAN’S GRANT.

Congress granted all of township 13, range 7, in Tuscarawas county to
one Henry Dohrman, a Portuguese citizen, who rendered valuable services
to the colonies during the Revolutionary War. '

THE MAUMEE ROAD LANDS.

In 1823 Congress granted to the state of Ohio about sixty thousand acres
for the purpose of constructing a road from the lower rapids of the Maumee
river to the western limits of the Western Reserve of Connecticut.
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TITE TURNPIKE LANDS.

In 1827 Congress granted to the state of Ohio forty-nine sections of
land in Seneca, Crawford and Marion counties for the construction of a road
from Columbus to Sandusky.

CANAL GRANTS.

Between 1825 and 1845 Congress at different times made special grants
of land to the state of Ohio for canal purposes, and a total of about one
million acres were thus secured by the state. By the year 1842 the state had
completed six hundred and fifty-eight miles of canals, at the staggering cost
to the state of $14,688,606.97. although before they were all completed the
railroads were in operation in the state.

SALT SECTIONS.

In the early history of the Northwest Territory salt was a commodity
hard to secure and necessarily high in price. Congress reserved every place
where it was thought salt could be obtained and in this way helped the
settlers to get salt at the least expense. In Ohio an entire township within
the present county of Jackson was reserved, as well as about four thousand
acres in Delaware county. In 1824 Congress relinquished its claim in favor
of Ohio.

THE ZANE SECTIONS.

Ebenezer Zane, one of the most prominent of the men in the early his-
tory of the state, was granted three sections by Congress in 1796 in return
for his services in opening a road from Wheeling to Maysville. These three
sections were located at Zanesville, Chillicothe and Lancaster. Isaac Zane
was granted three sections in Champaign county by Congress for valuable
services to the colonies during the Revolution. lsaac Zane had been cap-
tured by the Indians when a small boy and spent the major portion of his
life with them, and his influence with the Indians was such that he proved to
be of great assistance to the colonies in handling them.

THE MINISTERIAL LANDS.

These lands have been previously mentioned and were reserved only
in two grants, those of the Ohio L.and Company and the Symmes Purchase.
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‘I 'he grants to both set aside section twenty-nine of each township for relig-
ious purposes.
SCHOOL. SECTIONS,

Provisions for public schools were made in all states created by the
United States after the adoption of the constitution. The Ordinance of
1787 had made specific mention of the value of schools and a wise Congress
set aside section sixteen of every township, which was surveyed into town-
ships six miles square. The United States military lands were surveyed into
township five miles square, but Congress reserved one thirty-sixth of the
whole area for school purposes. There are no reservafions in the Connecti-
cut Reserve and Virginia Military District for school purposes, but Congress
made up for this by setting aside an amount equivalent to one thirty-sixth of
the area in each tract from other lands belonging to the United States. As a
matter of fact, one thirty-sixth of the whole state was reserved for school
purposes as well as three townships for universities.

OHIO POLITICS.

The politics of Ohio presents many interesting features, but this brief
summary can do little more than indicate the more important landmarks in
the political history of the state. The first governor of the Northwest Terri-
tory, Arthur St. Clair, was an ardent Federalist and undoubtedly his pro-
nounced political views had something to do with his removal from the
office on November 22, 1802. I‘rom that time until 1836 the Democratic
party, or the Republican or Democratic-Republican, as it was at first called,
controlled the state, and it was not until William Henry Harrison, a *“favorite
son,” became a candidate for the presidency, that the \Whigs were able to
break the strength of the Democratic party in the state. In 1836, 1840 and
1844 the Whigs carried the state for the President. The panic of 1837, the
popularity of Harrison and the Texas question were largely determining
factors in the success of the \Whigs. The Democrats regained sufficient
power in 1848 to carry the state again and repeated their victory in 1852. In
1856 John C. Fremont carried the state for the newly organized Republican
party and since that year there has been only one Democratic electoral vote
in the state of Ohio. In 189z Grover Cleveland received one of Ohio’s
twenty-three electoral votes, but with this exception the state has cast a
solid Republican vote for President every vear since 1850. Ohio has fur-

(4)
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nished five Presidents of the United States: \William Henry Harrison,
Rutherford B. laves, James .\. Garfield, William McKinley and William H.
Taft.

While the state has been registering Republican votes for the President,
it has had eight Democratic governors and has frequently elected them by
large majorities. A complete list of the governors of the state, with the
years of their tenure and their politics, is given at this point for reference:

Governor. Tenure. Politics.
Edward Tiffin _____ . 1803-07 - cccmmeeee Democratic-Rep.
Thomas Kirker (acting)_._--__.____ 1807-00 —_________ Democratic-Rep.
Samuel Huntington __ . _____ 1809-11 —__________ Democratic-Rep.
Return Jonathan Meigs__________.__ I8IT-1.4 oo Democratic-Rep.
Othniel Looker (acting) - __________ 1R14-15 . Democratic-Rep.
Thomas Worthington _________.____ 1815-10 - . _____ Democratic-Rep.
Ethan Allen Brown________________ IR1g-22 ___________ Democratic-Rep.
Allen Trimble (acting)____________ 1822-23 ___________ Democratic-Rep.
Jeremiah Morrow _________________ 1823-27 o ____. Democrat
Allen Trimble __ __________________ 1827-31 o _.__ Democrat
Duncan McArthur ________________ 1831-33 —ccceoee National Republican
Robert Lucas ____________________ 1833-37 -cccmema_ - Democrat
Joseph Vance ____________________ 1837-30 cc oo Whig
Wilson Shannon _________________ 1839-41 . Democrat
Thomas Corwin __ . 184143 o Whig
Wilson Shannon __________________ E843 -4 — o Democrat
Thomas W. Bartley (acting) -_______ T Democrat
Mordecai Bartley _________________ IR c ool \Vhig
Wilbam Bebb ____________________ Rl U Whig
Seabury Ford ____________________ 184951 oo Whig
Reuben Wood - ___________________ 1831-53 oo ___ Democrat
William Medill (acting, 1853)-——___ 1853-50 . Democrat
Salmon P. Chase . __________ 1856-60 ___________ ~----Republican
William Dennison, Jr.______________ 1860-62 ________________ Republican
David Tod ___.__ e 1862-64 . Republican
John Brough ____________________ 1804-65 - ____ Republican
Charles Anderson (acting)_________ 1805-66 __ o _____ Republican
Joab Cox _ o e__ 1866-68 . ______________ Republican
Rutherford B. Hayes______________ 1868-72 __ Republican
Edward F. Noves_________________ 1872-74 . Republican
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William Allen __ . _______________ 1874-76 oL Democrat
Rutherford B. Hayes_ . _.__-.__ 187677 oo Republican
Thomas L. Young_________________ 1877-78 - Republican
Richard M. Bishop________________ 1878-80 o __ Democrat
Charles Foster ___________________ 1880-84 - oo Republican
George Hoadley __________________ 1884-86 o _____ Democrat
Joseph Benson Foraker_____________ 1886-90 .. Republican
James E. Campbell________________ 1890-902 — oo oo Democrat
William McKinley ________________ 1892-96 - ___ Republican
Asa S. Bushnell___________________ 1896-00 — . Republican
George K. Nash___________________ 1900-04 - - ccoccmeeo Republican
Myron T. Herrick_________________ 1904-06 o __ Republican
John M. Patterson (died in office)-___1906 ____________________ Democrat
Andrew Litner Harris.____________ 1906-0Q . Republican
Judson Harmon __________________ 1Q0Q-13 oo~ Democrat
James M. Cox-__________________ 1QT3~— e Democrat

The political history of Ohio can not be dismissed without reference to
the amendments incorporated in the constitution in 1912 which have made
the constitution practically a new instrument of government. The general
tendency of the thirty-three amendments is to make a freer expression of
democracy through the medium of the initiative and referendum, direct pri-
maries and home rule for cities. .\ workmen's compensation law was enact-
ed which provides for compulsory contributions to an insurance fund by the
employers of the state. Many changes were made in providing for improve-
ments in social and industrial conditions. Ohio now has a constitution
which is sufficiently flexible to allow changes to be made by amendment with-
out the trouble of a constitutional convention.

BOUNDARY LINES.

The state boundaries of Ohio have been the cause for most animated
discussions, not only in regard to state limits but county and township lines
as well. 1In 1817, and again in 1834, a severe controversy arose over the
boundary between Ohio and Michigan which was settled only after violent
demonstrations and government interference.

In primitive times the geographical position, extent and surface diversi-
ties were but meagerly comprehended. In truth, it may be asserted they
could not have been more at variance with actual facts had they been laid out
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“haphazard.” The Ordinance of 1787 represented l.ake Michigan far novth
of its real position, and even as late as 1812 its size and location had not been
definitely ascertained. During that vear Amos Spafford addressed a clear,
comprehensive letter to the governor of Ohio relative to the boundary lines
between Michigan and Ohio. Several lines of survey were laid out as the
first course, but either Michigan or Ohio expressed disapproval in every case.
This dispute came to a climax in 1835 when the party beginning a ‘“‘perma-
nent” survey began at the northwest corner of the state and was attacked by a
force of Michigan settlers who sent them away badly routed and beaten. No
effort was made to return to the work until the state and various parties had
weighed the subject, and finally the interposition of the government became
necessary. .\ settlement resulted in the establishment of the present boundary
line hetween the two states, Michigan being pacified with the grant of a large
tract in the northern peninsula.

Ohio is situated between the 38" 23" and 42 north latitude, and
80° 30" and 84" 50" west longitude from Greenwich, or 3 30" and 7° 50’
west from Washington. From north to south it extends over two hundred
and ten miles, and from east to west two hundred and twenty miles—com-
prising thirty-nine thousand nine hundred and sixty-four square miles.

The state is generally higher than the Ohio river. In the southern
counties the surface is greatly diversified by the inequalities produced by the
excavating power of the Ohio river and its tributaries. ‘The greater portion
of the state was originally covered with timber, although in the central and
northwestern sections some prairies were found. The crest or watershed be-
tween the waters of Lake Erie and those of the Ohio is less elevated than in
New York or Pennsylvania. Sailing upon the Ohio the country appears to
be mountainous, bluffs rising to the height of two hundred and fifty to six
hundred feet above the bed of the river. .Ascending the tributaries of the
Ohio, these precipitous hills gradually lessen until they are resolved into
gentle undulations and toward the sources of the river the land becomes low
and level.

Although Ohio has no inland lakes of importance, it possesses a favor-
able river system which gives the state a convenient water transportation.
The lake on the northern boundary, and the Ohio river on the south afford
convenient outlets by water to important points. The means of communica-
tion and transportation are superior in every respect, and are constantly being
increased by railroad and electric lines.
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ORGANIZATION OF COUNTIES AND EARLY EVENTS.

Adams county was named in honor of John Adams, the second Presi-
deni of the United States. Governor St. Clair proclaimed it a county on
July 10, 1797. The Virginia Military Tract included this section, and the
first settlement made within its boundaries was in this county in 1790-9I,
between the Scioto and Little Miami, at Manchester, by Gen. Nathaniel
Massie. In this town was held the first court of the county. West Union,
the present county seat, was laid out by the Honorable Thomas Kirker. It
occupies the summit of a high ridge. The surface of this county is hilly and
broken, and the eastern part is not fertile. It produces corn, wheat and oats.
Its hills are composed of aluminous shale.

Ashland county, one of the finest agricultural sections, was formed
February 26, 1846. Wheat, oats, corn, potatoes, grass and fruit are raised.
Ashland is its county seat and was laid out by William Montgomery in 1816.
It was called Uniontown for several years. Daniel Carter raised the first
cabin within the county limits in 1811.

Auglaize county was formed in February, 1848, from Allen and Mercer
counties. Wapakoneta is its county seat.

Allen county was formed from the Indian territory April 1, 1820. Lima
is its county seat.

Ashtabula county was created June 7, 1807, and was organized January
22, 1811. The surface is level near the lake, while the remainder is undu-
lating. The soil is mostly clay. This was the first county settled on the
Western Reserve and also the earliest in northern Ohio. On the 4th of
July, 1796, the first surveying party arrived at the mouth of Conneaunt creek.
Judge James Kingsbury was the first who wintered there with his family. He
was the first man to use a sickle in the first wheat field in the Western Re-
serve. Their child was the first born on the Western Reserve and was
starved to death. The first regular settlement was at Harpersfield in 1798.
Jefferson is the county seat. Ashtabula is pleasantly situated on the river,
with a fine harbor two and a half miles from the village. The first church on
the Western Reserve was founded at Austinburg in 1801.

~ Athens county was formed from Washington March 1, 1805. It pro-
duces wheat, corn, oats and tobacco. The surface is hilly and broken, with
rich bottom lands between. Coal, iron ore and salt add materially to its com-
mercial value. Athens, its county seat, is situated on the Hocking river.
Ohio University, the first college founded in the state, is located here. We
have mentioned the ancient mounds found in this county heretofore.
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Brown county was formed March 1, 1818, from Adams and Clermont.
It produces wheat, corn, rye and oats. The southern part is prolific in grain,
while the northern is adapted to grazing purposes. The surface is undulating,
with the exception of the Ohio river hills. Over this county Tecumseh once
held sway. Georgetown, the county seat, was laid out in 1819. Ripley is
the largest business town in the county.

Belmont county was created by Governor St. Clair September 7, 18o1.
It produces large crops of wheat, oats, corn and tobacco. [t is a picturesque
tract of country, and was one of the pioneers in the early settled portions. In
1790 Fort Dillie was erected on the west side of the Ohio. Baker’'s Fort was
a mile below the mouth of the Captina. Many desperate Indian battles werc
fought within the limits of this county, and the famous Indian scout, Lewis
Wetzel, roamed over the region. Saint Clairsville is the county seat, situated
on the elevation of land, in a fertile district. Captain Kirkwood and Eliza-
beth Zane, of historic fame, were early pioneers here.

" Butler county was formed in 1803 from Hamilton. It is within the
blue limestone formation, and one of the most fertile sections of Ohio. Ham-
ilton, the county seat, is situated on the Great Miami. Its hydraulic works
furnish superior water power. Rossville, on the opposite side of the Miami,
is a large mercantile town. St. Clair passed through this county on his
Indian campaigns in 1791, building Fort Hamilton on the Miami.

Champaign county was formed March 1, 18035. from Greene and Frank-
lin. It is drained by Mad river and its tributaries. The soil is fertile, and
produces wheat, corn, barley, hay, while beef and wool add to the general
wealth. Urbana, the county seat, was laid out in 1805, by Col. William \Ward.
He was the chief owner of the land and donated many lots to the county
under condition that their proceeds be devoted to public improvements. Joseph
Vance and George Fithian were the first settlers. The Methodists built the
first church in 1807. The main army of Hull concentrated at this point before
setting out for Detroit. Many Indian councils were called here and Tecumseh
was located for a time near Deer creek.

Carroll county was formed from Columbiana in 1832-33. It produces
wheat, oats and corn, and valuable coal and iron. The surface is hilly. Car-
rollton is its county seat. :

Clark county was formed March 1, 1817, from Champaign, Madison
and Greene. Its second settlement was at Kreb’s Station in 1796. It is
highly cultivated, well watered and very fertile. Tecumseh, the old Indian
warrior, was born at the ancient Indian village of Piqua. on the Mad river
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on the site of New Boston. Piqua was destroyed by Gen. George Rogers
Clark. Skeletons, beads, gun barrels, tomahawks, kettles, etc., have been
found in the vicinity. Springfield, the county seat, is situated on the national
road. It has convenient transportation facilities, is handsomely laid out, and
is noted for its cultured citizens. It is near Mad river and Buck creek runs
through it.

Clinton county was formed in 1810. Its surface is undulating, in some
parts hilly, and the soil fertile. The county was settled in 1798-99. Wil-
mington is the county seat, and was laid out in 1810. The first log house was
built by William Hobsin.

Clermont county was the eighth formed in the Northwest Territory -by
proclamation of Governor St. Clair, December g, 1800. The soil is exceed-
ingly rich, and the surface is broken and, near the Ohio, hilly. Wheat, corn,
oats, hay, potatoes, tobacco, barley, buckwheat and rye form the main crops.
Batavia, its county seat, is situated on the Little Miami river and was laid out
in 1820 by George Ely.

Columbiana county was formed March 25, 1803, from Jefferson and
Washington. Its soil is very fertile, producing wheat, corn, oats and potatoes.
It is wealthy in mineral deposits, coal, iron ore, lime and freestone being
abundant. Its water-line stone is of superior quality. It was settled in 1797.
Lisbon is the county seat. The first paper mill in Ohio was erected in this
county, on Little Beaver creek, by John Coulter and John Bever.

Coshocton county was organized April 1, 1811. Hills and valleys alter-
nate along the Muskingum river. Coal and iron ore add to its general im-
portance. Coshocton, the county seat, is built on four wide, natutal terraces,
at the junction of the Tuscarawas and Walhonding.

Cuyahoga county was formed June 7, 1807, from Geauga county. Near
the lake the soil is sandy, while a clayey loam may be found elsewhere. As
early as 1775 there was a French settlement within the boundaries of Cuya-
hoga. In 1786 a Moravian missionary came to the present site of Cleve-
land and settled in an abandoned village of the Ottawas. Circumstances pre-
vented a permanent settlement, and the British tacitly took possession, even
remaining upon the lake shores after the Revolution. The first permanent
settlement was made at Cleveland in 1796. Job V. Stiles and family
and Edward Paine passed the first winter there, their log cabin standing
where the Commercial Bank is now located. Rodolphus Edwards and Na-
thaniel Doane settled here. In 1813 the town was a depot of supplies and a
rendezvous for troops engaged in the war. Cleveland, the county seat, is
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situated at the northern termination of the old Ohio canal on the lake shore.
In 1814 it was incorporated as a village, and in 1836 as a city. Its elevation
is about a hundred feet above the lake. Ohio City is another important town
nearly opposite Cleveland on the Cuyahoga. It was incorporated in 1836.

Crawford county was formed April 1, 1820, from the old Indian Terri-
tory. The entire county is adapted to grazing. The soil is generally com-
posed of rich vegetable loam and in some parts the subsoil is clay mixed with
lime. Rich beds of shell marl have been discovered. Bucyrus, the county
seat, was laid out February 11, 1822, by Samuel Norton and James Kil-
bourn, original owners of the land. The first settler in the town proper was
Samuel Norton. Crawford's sulphur springs are located nine miles from
Bucyrus. The water is impregnated with sulphuretted hydrogen and deposits
a reddish-purple sediment. In its nature the water is a cathartic, and is
diuretic and diaphoretic in its effects. The Annapolis Sulphur Spring is clear
and has gained considerable fame by its curative qualities. Opposite Bucyrus
is a chalybeate spring of tonic qualities.

Darke county was organized in March, 1817, from Miami county. In
this county occurred the lamentable defeat of St. Clair, and the treaty of
Greenville. Greenville, the county seat, was laid out August 10, 1808, by
Robert Gray and John Dover. In December, 1793, Wayne built Fort Green-
ville on this spot, which covered about the same extent as the present town.

Delaware county was formed February 10, 1808, from Franklin. Dela-
ware, the county seat, was laid out in the spring of 1808, by Moses Byxbe.

Defiance county was created March 4, 1845, frém Williams, Henry
and Paulding. The Maumee, Tiffin and Auglaize flow through it. The
county is now one of the largest producers of sugar beets in Ohio. Defiance.
the county seat, is situated on the Maumee. It was laid out in 1822 by B.
Level and H. Phillips. A large Indian settlement occupied its site in very
early times. Wayne arrived here August 8, 1794, captured the place, finding
about one thousand acres of corn, peach and apple orchards and vegetables
of all varieties. Here he built Fort Defiance.

Erie county was formed in 1838 from Huron and Sandusky. The soil
is alluvial and yields large crops of wheat, corn, oats and potatoes. It pos-
sesses inexhaustible quarries of limestone and freestone. The Erie tribe is
said to have once occupied the land and were extirpated by the Iroquois. As
early as 1754 the French had built settlements here. In 1764 the county was
overrun by Pontiac, who came here with warlike demonstrations, but made
peace with the whites. Erie was included in the “fire lands” of the Western
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Reserve. Sandusky City is the county seat and was laid out in 1817, then
termed Portland. At that time it contained two log huts. The town is finely
situated and is based upon an inexhaustible quarry of the finest limestone.
In the “patriot war” with the Canadians, this city was the rendezvous for the
“patriots.”

Franklin county was formed April 30, 1803, from Ross. It was in early
times occupied by the Wyandot Indians. Its first white settlement was made
in 1797 by Robert Armstrong and others. Franklinton was laid out in 1797
by Lucas Sullivan. Worthington was settled by the Scioto Company in 1801.
Colonel Kilbourn, who was interested in the work, constructed the first map
of Ohio during his explorations by uniting sectional diagrams. Columbus,
the capital of the state, is also the county seat of Franklin county. In 1810
the sessions of the Legislature were held at Chillicothe, in 1811 and 1812 at
Zanesville, removing again to Chillicothe, and in 1816 being located at
Columbus. The town was laid out during the spring of 1812. A penitentiary
was erected in 1813 and the state house was built in 1814. It was incorpor-
ated as “the borough of Columbus’ February 10, 1816. The city charter was
granted March 3, 1834. It is beautifully located on the east bank of the
Scioto. The Ohio Lunatic Asylum, the Ohio Institution for the Education
of the Blind and the Ohio Institution for the Education of the Deaf and
Dumb are located at Columbus.

Fairfield county was formed by proclamation of Governor St. Clair.
December 9, 1800. The soil is varied, being in some parts exceedingly rich,
and in others very sterile. Lancaster, the county seat, was laid out by
Ebenezer Zane in 1800. In 1797 he opened the road known as “Zane’s
Trace,” from Wheeling to Limestone—now Maysville. It passed through
Lancaster at a fording about three hundred yards below the present turnpike
bridge. :
Fayette county was formed from Ross and Highland in 1810. Wash-
ington, its county seat, was laid out in 1810. Colonel Stewart was active in
the interests of this section and his memory is sacredly revered. Jesse Milli-
kan was prominent in early public affairs.

Fulton county, bordering on Michigan, was organized in 1850. It is
drained by Bean creek and other small affluents of the Maumee river. The
surface is nearly level and the soil fertile. Wauseon is the county seat.

Guernsey county was organized in March, 1810. Tt produces wheat,
corn and oats. Cambridge is the county seat and was laid out in June, 1806.
Mr. Graham was the first settler on the site of the town and his was the only
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dwelling between Lancaster and Wheeling. The first cannel coal found in
the county was discovered near Mill's creek.

Greene county was formed May 1, 1803, from Hamilton and Ross. It
produces wheat, corn, rye, grass seed, oats, barley, sheep and swine. The
Shawnee town was on the Little Miami and was visited by Capt. Thomas
Bullit in 1773. When Daniel Boone was captured in 1778, he was brought to
this town and escaped the following year. General Clark invaded this
county and the Indians reduced the town to ashes. Xenia, the county seat,
was laid off in the forest in 1803 by Joseph C. Vance. The first cabin was
erected in April, 1804, by John Marshall. The Rev. James Fowler built the
first hewed-log cabin. David A. Sanders built the first frame house. Nine
miles north of the town, on the Little Miami river, are the Yellow Springs,
which are impregnated with sulphur.

Geauga county was formed in 1805 from Trumbull. It is situated at
the head of Chargrine, Cuyahoga and a part of Grand rivers, on high ground
and is subjected to snow storms more frequently than any other part of the
reserve. Its first settlement was made in 1798 at Burton. Chardon is four-
teen miles from Lake Erie and is six hundred feet above it. It was laid out
as the county seat in 1808.

Gallia county was formed April 30, 1803, from Washington. The sur-
face is generally broken. Its first settlement was made in 1791 by a French
colony at Gallipolis. This colony was sent out under the auspices of the
Scioto Company. This town is now the county seat.

Hamilton county was the second established in the Northwest Terri-
tory by proclamation of Governor St. Clair, January 2, 1790. Its surface 1s
generally rolling. It produces the ordinary farm products and a great variety
of fruits and vegetables for the Cincinnati market. This county was the
second settled in Ohio and the first within the Symmes Purchase. Settlers
arrived at the spot now occupied by Cincinnati and three or four log cabins
were erected. Gen. Arthur St. Clair arrived here in January, 1790. The
army of Wayne encamped here later, at Fort Washington. Mr. Maxwell
established, in 1793. the “Sentinel of the Northwestern Territory,” the first
newspaper printed north of the Ohio river. In 1796 Edward Freeman be-
came its proprietor and changed the name to “IFreeman’s Journal.” January
11, 1794, two keel-boats sailed from Cincinnati to Pittsburgh, making regu-
lar trips-every four weeks. In 1801 the first sea vessel built at Marietta came
down the Ohio. Cincinnati, the county seat, was incorporated January 2,
1802. It was chartered as a city in 1819. The city is beautifully laid out and
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delightfully situated. Its public buildings are elegant and substantial, includ-
ing the court house and many literary and charitable institutions.

Cincinnati is a large manufacturing city and possesses fine water-power
facilities. It communicates with the world by means of the Ohio river, rail-
ways and electric lines. North Bend is another prominent town in this
county, having been the residence of Gen. William H. Harrison, and the
site of his burial place. The town was of considerable importance in the
early settlement of the state. About thirty yards from Harrison’s tomb is
the grave of Judge Symmes. :

Hancock county was formed April 1, 1820. The surface is level and its
soil is fertile. Blanchard’s Fork waters the central and southern part of the
county. Findlay, the county seat, was laid out by ex-Governor Joseph
Vance and Elnathan Corry in 1821. It was relaid in 1829. William Vance
settled there in the fall of 1821. ‘

Hardin county was formed April 1, 1820, from the old Indian Terri-
tory. A portion of the surface is level and the remainder undulating. Fort
McArthur was built on the Scioto river but proved a weak stockade. Kenton
is the county seat. situated on the Scioto river.

Harrison county was formed from Jefferson and Tuscarawas, January
1. 1814. The surface is hilly, abounding in coal and limestone. Its soil is
clayey. In April, 1799, Alexander Henderson and family settled in this
county, and at the same time Daniel Peterson and his family resided at the
forks of Short creek. The early settlers were much annoyed by Indians and
wild beasts. Cadiz is the county seat and was laid out in 1803 and 1804 by
Messrs. Briggs and Beatty.

Henry county was formed from the old Indian Territory \pril 1, 1820.
Indian corn, oats, potatoes and maple sugar constitute the main products.
The county is well supplied with running streams and the soil is unusually
rich. The soil is superior for grain. ['ruit thrives and all varieties of vege-
tables are produced in large quantities. Simon Girty, notorious for his
wicked career, resided in this county. Girty led the attack on Fort Henry in
September, 1777. He demanded the surrender of the fort, and menaced its
inmates with an Indian massacre in case of refusal. The action began, but
the: fort gained the victory. He led a ferocious band of Indians and com-
mitted the most fiendish atrocities. Napoleon, the county seat, is situated on
the Maumee river.

Highland county was formed in May, 1805, from Ross, Adams and
Clermont. It is a wealthy, productive county. Its first settlement began in
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1801, at New Market by Oliver Ross, Robert Keeston, George W. Barrere,
Bernard Weyer and others. Simon Kenton made a trace through this county
in early time. Hillsboro is the county seat and was laid out in 1807 by David
Hays on the land of Benjamin Ellicott. It is situated on the dividing ridge
between the Miami and Scioto. The Hillsboro Academy was founded in
1827.

Hocking county was formed March 1, 1818, from Ross, Athens and
Fairfield. Its surface is broken and hilly, but is level and fertile beside the
streams. The Wyandots once occupied this tract and built a large town
herein. In 1798 a few white families ventured to settle. Logan is its county
seat and is situated on the Hocking river.

Holmes county was formed from Coshocton, Tuscarawas and \Wayne
January 20, 1824. The southwestern portion is broken. Thomas Butler was
the first settler in 1810. Millersburg is the county seat and was laid out in
1830.

Huron county was organized in 1815. Norwalk is the county seat.

Jackson county was organized March, 1816. The country is rich in
minerals and ahounds in coal and iron ore. Jackson, the county seat, was
laid out in 1817. The old Scioto salt works were among the first worked in
Ohio by the whites. Prior to this period the Indians came some distance to
this section to make salt. \Vhen Daniel Boone was a prisoner he spent some
time at these works.

Jefferson county was proclaimed by Governor St. Clair July 29, 1797,
and was the fifth county established in Ohio.  Its resources in coal are also
extensive. The surface is hilly and the soil fertile, producing wheat, corn
and oats. The old “Mingo™ town was on the present farms of Jeremiah
Hallock and Daniel Potter. The troops of Colonel Williamson ren-
dezvoused at this point when they set out in their cruel Moravian campaign
and also the troops of Colonel Crawford, when they started on the campaign
against the Sandusky Indians. Here Logan, the powerful and manly chief
of the Mingo nation, once resided. He took no active part in the old French
war, which closed in 1760, except that of a peacemaker. He was a stanch
friend of the whites until the abominable and unprovoked murder of his
father. brother and sister, which occurred in 1774 near the Yellow creek.
He then raised the battle cry and sought revenge.

However, Logan was remarkably magnanimous toward prisoners who
fell into his hands. The vear 1793 was the last spent in Indian warfare in
Jefferson county. Fort Steuben was erected on the present site of Steuben-
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ville, the county scat, in 1789. It was constructed of block-houses, with
palisade fences and was dismantled during \Wayne's campaign. Bezaleel
Wells and Hon. James Ross laid the town out in 1798. It was incorporated
February 14, 1805. It is situated upon an elevated plain. In 1814 Messrs.
Wells and Dickerson built a woolen manufactory and introduced Merino
sheep to the county. .

Knox county was formed March 1, 1808, from Fairfield. It is drained
by the Vernon river. Mount Vernon was laid out in 1805. The early settlers
found two wells on the Vernon river built of hammered stone, neatly laid.
and near by was a salt-lick. Their direct origin remains a mystery. Gilman
Bryant, in 1807, opened the first store in Mount Vernon. The Indians came
to Mount Vernon in large numbers for the purpose of trading in furs and
cranberries. Fach Saturday the settlers worked on the streets, extracting
stumps and improving the highway. The first settler north of the place was
N. M. Young, who built his cabin in 1803. Mount Vernon is now the county
seat, beautifully situated on Vernon river. Kenyon College is located at
Gambier. This institution was established under the auspices of Bishop
Chase in July, 1826, in the center of a four-thousand-acre tract belonging to
Kenyon College. It was chartered as a theological seminary.

Lucas county is of comparatively recent origin. This county is situated
in the Maumee valley, which was the great arena of historical events. The
frightful battle of Wayne's campaign, where the Indians found the British
to be traitors, was fought near Fort Miami in this county. Maumee City was
laid out in 1817 by Major William Oliver and others. It is situated on the
Maumee at the head of navigation. The surface is one hundred feet above
the water level. This town, with Perrysbhurg, its neighbor. is exceedingly
picturesque and was in early times frequented by the Indians. The French
had a trading post at this point in 1680, and in 1794 the British Fort Miami
was built. Toledo, the county seat, is on the left bank of the Maumee and
covers the site of a stockade fort, known as Fort Industry, erected in 18acc.
An Indian treaty was concluded here July 4. 1805, by which the Indians re-
linquished all rights to the “fire lands.” In 1832 Capt. Samuel .\llen gave an
impetus to the place and Major Stickney also Decame interested in its ad-
vancement. Speculation in lots began in 1834. The Wabash & Erie canal
interest arose in 1836. Mr. Mason and Edward Bissel added their energies
to assist the growth of the town. It was incorporated as a city in 1836. It
was the center of the military operations in the “Ohio and Michigan war.”
known as the “boundary conflict.”
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Lorain county was formed from Huron, Cuyahoga and Medina on
December 26, 1822. The soil is generally fertile and the surface level. A
curious relic has been found in this county, bearing the date of 1533. Elyria
is the county seat and was laid out in 1817. The first settler was Heman
Ely. Oberlin is situated about eight miles southwest of Elyria. Oberlin
College has attained a wide reputation.

Logan county was formed March 1, 1817. The surface is broken and
hilly near the Mad river, but is generally level. The Shawnee Indians were
destroyed in 1786 by a body of Kentuckians under Gen. Benjamin Logan.
The whites surprised the towns. However, they returned after the ‘work of
destruction had been completed and for many years frequented the section.
On the site of Zanesville was a Wyandot village. By the treaty of September
29, 1817, the Senecas and Shawnees held a reservation around Lewistown.
April 6, 1832, they vacated this right and removed west. Isaac Zane was
born about the year 1753 and was, while a boy, captured and afterward
adopted by the Wyandots. Attaining the age of manhood, he had no .desire
to return to his people. He married a Wyandot woman, who was half
French. After the treaty of Greenville he bought one thousand eight hun-
dred acres on the site of Zanesville, where he lived until the year 1816, when
he died, lamented by all his friends. Logan county was settled about the year
1806. During the War of 1812 it was a rendezvous for friendly Indians.
Bellefontaine, the county seat, was laid out March 18, 1820. on land owned
by John Tulles and William Powell. Joseph Gordon built a cabin and An-
thony Ballard erected the first frame dwelling. Gen. Simon Kenton is buried
at the head of Mad river, five miles from Bellefontaine. He died \pril 29,
1830, aged eighty-one vears and twenty-six days. This remarkable man
came west to Kentucky in 1771. He probably encountered more thrilling
escapes than any other man of his time. In 1778 he was captured and suf-
fered extreme cruelties and was ransomed by the British. He soon recovered
his robust health and escaped from Detroit the following spring. He settled
in Urbana in 1802. He was commissioned brigadier-general of the militia
and in the War of 1812 joined General Harrison's army. In the vear 1820
he removed to Mad river. General Vance and Judge Burnet secured him a
pension of twenty dollars a month.

Licking county was formed from Fairfield March 1, 1808. The surface
is generally level, diversified by slight hills in the eastern portion. Coal and
iron ore of good quality add to the wealth of the county. Newark is the
county seat, and is situated at the confluence of the three principal branches

-
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of the Licking. In 1801 it was laid out by Gen. William C. Schenk, George
\W. Burnet and John M. Cummings, who owned this military section of four
thousand acres. In 1802 Samuel Elliott and Samuel Parr built hewed-log
houses. The picturesque “Narrows of the Licking” are in the eastern part
of the county.

Lawrence county was organized March 1, 1816. There are many high
and abrupt hills in this section, which abound in sand and freestone. It is
rich in minerals and the most important section of Ohio for iron manufac-
ture. Coal is abundant and white clay exists in the western part suitable for
pottery purposes. The county was settled in 1797 by the Dutch and Irish.
The iron region extends through the west part of this county. Ironton is
the county seat.

Lake county was formed from Geauga and Cuyahoga March 6, 1840.
The soil is good and the surface rolling. As early as 1799 a settlement was
formed at Mentor. Painesville, the county seat, is situated on Grand river
in a beautiful valley. Painesville was laid out by Henry Champion in 1805.
At TFairport the first warehouse in this section and probably the first on the
lake, was built by Abraham Skinner in 1803. This town has a fine harbor
and has a light-house and beacon. Kirtland, southwest from Painesville.
was, in 1834, the headquarters of the Mormons. At that time they numbered
about three thousand. The old Mormon temple is of rough stone, plastered
over, colored blue, and marked to imitate regular courses of masonry.

Madison county was organized in March, 1810. The surface is gener-
ally level. Jonathan Alder was much interested in the settlement of the
county. He, like some other whites, had lived with the Indians many years
and had formed a lasting affection for them, and had married a squaw. He
became dissatisfied with his Indian wife and this caused him to look up his
own family. He succeeded through the assistance of John Moore. He left
his Indian wife and joined his people.

This county was first settled in 1795. Benjamin Springer made a clear-
ing and built a cabin. Joshua Ewing brought four sheep to this place and
the Indians exhibited great astonishment over these strange animals. When
the hostilities of 1812 began, the British offered inducements to the Indians
to join them and they consulted Alder regarding the best policy to adopt. He
advised them to preserve neutrality until a later period, which they did, and
eventually became firm friends of the Americans. I.ondon is the county seat
and was laid out in 1810-11 by Patrick McLene.

Marion county was organized March 1, 1824. The soil is fertile and
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produces extensive farm crops. The Delaware Indians once held a reserva-
tion here and conceded their claims August 3, 1829, and then removed west
of the Mississippi. Marion, the county seat, was laid out in 1821 by Eber
Baker and Alexander Holmes. General Harrison marched through this sec-
tion during his campaign.

Mahoning county was formed in 1846 trom Trumbull and Columbiana.
The surface is rolling and the soil generally fertile. Bituminous coal and
iron are found in large quantities. Col. James Hillman came to the Western
Reserve in 1786. The settlement of the county went forward. Youngstown
is the county seat.

Medina county was formed from the \Western Reserve February 12,
1812. The surface is rolling and the soil is fertile, producing fine agricul-
tural products. The first trail made through the county was made by George
Poe, Joseph H. Larwell and Roswell M. Mason. The first settlement was
made by Joseph Harris in 1811. He was soon joined by the Burr Brothers.
Medina is the county seat.

Meigs county was formed from Gallia and Athens April 1, 1819. The
general character of the soil is clayey, producing large quantities of wheat,
oats, corn, hay and potatoes. Pomeroy. the county seat, is situated under a
lofty hill, surrounded by picturesque scenery. Nathaniel Clark was the first
settler of the county. He arrived in 18106. The first coal mine opened in
Pomeroy was in 1819 by David Bradshaw.

Mercer county was formed from the Indian Territory in 1820. The sur-
face is generally flat. St. Clair's battle was fought on the boundary line be-
tween this and Darke county. Lewis Cass and Duncan McArthur made a
treaty on St. Mary's with the \Wyandots, Shawnees and Ottawas in 1818.
The odious Simon Girty lived at one time at St. Mary's. Wayne built St.
Mary’s fort on the west bank of the river. John Whistler was the last com-
mander of the fort. The largest artificial lake in the world, so it is asserted,
is formed by the reservoir supplying the St. Mary’s feeder of the Miami Ex-
tension Canal. It is about nine miles long and from two to four broad.
Celina is the county seat.

Miami county was formed January 16, 1807, from Montgomery. It
abounds in excellent limestone and possesses remarkable water-power facili-
ties. Its agricultural products rank high in quality and quantity. John
Knoop came into this section about the year 1797 and its first settlement
began about this time. Troy, the county seat, is situated upon the Great
Miami. Piqua is the largest city in the county. '
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Monroe county was formed January 29, 1813, from Belmont, Wash-
ington and Guernsey. A portion of its surface is abrupt and hilly. Large
quantities of tobacco are raised. lron ore and coal abound. The valleys of
the streams are very narrow, bounded by rough hills. In some places are
natural rock grottoes. The first settlement was made in 1799 near the mouth .
of the Sunfish. At this time wolves were numerous and caused much alarm!
Volney entered this county but was not prepossessed in its favor. One town-
ship was settled by the Swiss. Woodsfield is the county seat.

Montgomery county was formed from Ross and Hamilton May 1,
1803. The soil is fertile and its agricultural products are most excellent.
Quarries of grayish-white limestone are found east of the Miami. Dayton
is the county seat, situated on the Great Miami at the mouth of Mad river.
-\ company was formed in 1788, but Indian wars prevented settlement. \fter
Wayne's treaty in 1795, a new company was formed. It advanced rapidly
between the vears 1812 and 1820. The beginning of the Miami canal re-
newed its prosperity in 1827. The first canal-boat from Cincinnati arrived
at Dayton on the 25th of January, 1829. The first one arrived from Lake
Erie in June, 1845. Col. Robert Patterson came to Dayton in 1804. At one
time he owned Lexington, Kentucky, and about one-third of Cincinnati.

Morgan county was organized in 1818, March 1. The surface is hilly
and the soil strong and fertile, producing wheat, corn, oats and tobacco.
Pork is a prolific product and considerable salt is made. The first settlement
was made in 1790 on the Muskingum. McConnelsville is the county seat.
Mr. Ayres made the first attempt to produce salt in 1817.

Morrow county was organized in 1848. It is drained by the Vernon
river, which rises in it, by the East Branch of the Olontangy or Whetstone
river, and by Walnut creek. The surface is undulating and the soil fertile.
The staple products are corn, wheat, oats, hay, wool and butter. Mount
Gilead, the county seat, is situated on the East Branch of the Olentangy river.

Muskingum county was formed from Washington and Fairfield. The
surface is rolling or hilly. It produces wheat, corn, oats, potatoes, tobacco,
wool and pork. Large quantities of bituminous coal are found. Salt is
made in large quantities—the fine being obtained from a stratum of whitish
sandstone. The Wyandots, Delawares, Senecas and Shawnees Indians once
inhabited this section. An Indian town occupied the site of Duncan’s Falls.
A large Shawnee town was located near Dresden. Zanesville is the county
seat, situated opposite the mouth of the Licking. It was laid out in 1799 by
Mr. Zane and Mr. McIntire. This is one of the principal towns in the state.

(5)
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Noble county, organized in 1851, is drained by Seneca, Duck and Wills
creeks. The surface is undulating and a large part of it is covered with for-
ests. The soil is fertile. Among its mineral resources are limestone, coal

and petroleum. Near Caldwell, the county seat, are found iron ore, coal and

salt.

Ottawa county was formed from Irie, Sandusky and Lucas March 6,
1840. It was very thinly settled before 1830. Extensive plaster beds exist
on the peninsula, which extends into I.ake Erie. It has also large limestone
quarries, which are extensively worked. The very first trial at arms upon the
soil of Ohio, during the War of 1812, occurred upon this peninsula. Port
Clinton, the county seat, was laid out in 1827.

Perry county was formed from Washington, Fairfield and Muskingum
March 1, 1817. Fine tobacco is raised in large quantities. Wheat, corn,
oats, hay, cattle, pork and wool add to the general wealth. This county was
first settled in 1801. The first settler was Christian Binckley, who built the
first cabin in the county, about five miles west of Somerset, near the present
county line. New Lexington is the county seat.

Paulding county was formed from old Indian Territory August 1, 1820.
It produces corn, wheat, sugar beets and oats. Paulding is the county seat.

Pickaway county was formed from Fairfield, Ross and Franklin January
12, 1810. The county has woodland, barren, plain and prairie. The barrens
were covered by shrub oaks and when cleared are adapted to the raising of
corn and oats. The Pickaway plains are three and a half miles west of Cir-
cleville and this tract is said to contain the richest land in Ohio. Here, in the
olden times, burned the great council fires of the red man. Here the allied
tribes met General Lewis, who fought the battle of Point Pleasant. Dun-
more’s campaign was terminated on these plains. It was at the Chillicothe
towns, after Dunmore’s treaty, that Logan delivered his famous speech. Cir-
cleville, the county seat, is situated on the Scioto river and the Ohio canal.
It was laid out in 1810 by Daniel Dresbach. It is situated on the site of
ancient fortifications.

Portage county was formed June 7, 1807, from Trumbull. It is a
wealthy, thriving section. It also produces wheat, corn, oats, barley, buck-
wheat, rye, butter and wool. Ravenna is the county seat and was originally
settled by the Hon. Benjamin Tappen in June, 1799. In 1806 an unpleasant
difficulty arose between the settlers and a camp of Indians in Deerfield,
caused by a horse trade between a white man and an Indian. David Daniels
settled on the site of Palmyra in 1799.
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i'ike county was organized in 1815. The surface is generally hilly,
wlich abound with freestone, which is exported in large quantities for build-
ing purposes. Rich bottom lands extend along the Scioto and its tributaries.
John Noland and the three Chenoweth brothers settled on the Pee Pee prairie
about 1796. Piketown, the former county seat, was laid out about 1814.
\Vaverly, the present county seat, is situated on the Scioto river.

Preble county was formed March 1, 1808, from Montgomery and But-
ler. The soil is varied. Eaton, the county seat, was laid out in 1806, by
William Bruce, who owned the land. An overflowing well of strong sulphur
water is near the town, while directly beside it is a limestone quarry. Holder-
man'’s quarry is about two miles distant, from which is obtained a beautifully
clouded gray stone. Fort St. Clair was built near Eaton in the winter of
1791-92. General Harrison was an ensign at the time and commanded a
guard every other night for three weeks during the building. The severe
battle of November 6, 1792, was fought under its very guns. Little Turtle.
a distinguished chief of the Miamis, roamed over this county for a time. He
was witty, brave and earnest and, although engaged in several severe con-
tests with the whites, he was inclined toward peace. But when his warriors
cried for war he led them bravely.

Putnam county was formed April 1, 1820, from old Indian Territory.
The soil is fertile, its principal productions being wheat, corn, potatoes and
oats. Kalida, once the county seat, was laid out in 1834. Ottawa is the
county seat.

Ross county was formed August 20, 1798, by the proclamation of
Governor St. Clair and was the ninth county formed in the Northwest
Territory. The Scioto river and Paint creek run through it, bordered with
fertile lands. It exports cattle and hogs. The Rev. Robert W. Finley, in
1794, addressed a letter of inquiry to Col. Nathaniel Massie, as many of his
associates had designed settling in the new state. This resulted in packing
their several effects.and setting out. A trivial Indian encounter was the
only interruption they met with on their way. After Wayne’s treaty, Colonel
Massie and many of these early explorers met again and formed a settle-
ment—in 1796—at the mouth of Paint creek. In August of this year, Chilli-
cothe was laid out by Colonel Massie in a dense forest. He donated lots to
the early settlers. A ferry was established over the Scioto and the opening
of Zane’s trace assisted the progress of settlement. Chillicothe, the county
seat, is situated on the Scioto. Its site is thirty feet above the river. In
1800 it was the seat of the Northwest territorial government. It was in-
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corporated as a city in January, 1802. During the War of 1812, the city
was a rendezvous for the United States troops. A large number of British
were at one time guarded here. .\dena is a beautiful place and the seat of
Governor Worthington's mansion, which was built in 1806.

Richland was organized March 1, 1813. It was settled about 1809 on
branches of the Mohican. Two block-houses were built in 1812. ‘Mansfield,
the county seat, is charmingly situated and was laid out in 1808 by Jacob
Newman, James Hedges and Joseph H. Larwell. The county was at that
period a vast wilderness, destitute of roads. From this year the settlement
progressed rapidly.

Sandusky county was formed April 1, 1820, from the old Indian Terri-
tory. The soil is fertile and country generally level. Near Lower Sandusky
lived a band of Wyandots, called the Neutral Nation. They preserved
their peacemaking attributes through the Iroquois conflicts. [‘remont, form-
erly called Lower Sandusky, the county seat, is situated at the head of navi-
gation on the Sandusky on the site of the old reservation grant to the Indians,
at the Greenville treaty council. Fort Stephenson was erected in .\ugust.
1813, and was gallantly defended by Colonel Croghan.

Summit county was formed March 3. 1840, from Medina, Portage and
Stark. The soil is fertile and produces excellent {ruit, hesides large crops oi
corn, wheat, hay, oats and potatoes. The first settlement made in the county
was at Hudson in 1800. The old Indian portage-path, extending through
this county, between the Cuyahoga and Tuscarawas branch of the Musk-
ingum. This was a part of the ancient boundary hetween the Six Nations and
the Western Indians. Akron, the county seat, is situated on the portage sum-
mit. It was laid out in 1825. In 1811 Paul Williams and Amos and Minor
Spicer settled in this vicinity. Middlebury was laid out in 1818 by Norton
and Hart.

Stark county was formed February 13, 1808. It is a rich agricultural
county. It has large quantities of mineral coal and ifon ore. Limestone
and extensive beds of lime-marl exist. Irederick Post, the first Moravian
missionary in Ohio, settled here in 1761. Canton is the county seat, situated
in the forks of the Nimishillen, a tributary of the Muskingum. It was laid
out in 1806, by Bezaleel Wells, who owned the land. Massillon was laid out
in March, 1826, by John Duncan.

Shelby county was formed in 1819, from Miami. The southern por-
tion is undulating, arising in some places to hills. Through the north it is a
flat table-land. The first point of English settlement in Ohio was'at the
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mouth of Laramie’s creek in this county as early as 1752. Fort Laramie
was built in 1794 by Wayne. The first white family that settled in this
county was that of James Thatcher in 1804. Sidney, the county seat, was
laid out in 1819 on the farm of Charles Starrett.

Seneca county was formed April 1, 1820, from the old Indian Territory.
Fort Seneca was built during the War of 1812. The Senecas owned forty
thousand acres of land on the Sandusky river, mostly in Seneca county.
Thirty thousand acres of this land was granted to them in 1817 at the treaty
held at the foot of the Maumee Rapids. The remaining ten thousand was
granted the following vear. These Indians ceded this tract, however, to the
government in 1831. It was asserted by an old chief that this band was the
remnant of Logan’s tribe. Tiffin, the county seat, was laid out by Josiah
Hedges in the year 1821.

Scioto county was formed May 1. 1803. It is a good agricultural sec-
tion, besides producing iron ore, coal and freestone. Tt is said that a French
fort stood at the mouth of the old Scioto as early as 1740. In 1785 four
families settled where Portsmouth now stands. Thomas McDonald built the
first cabin in the county. The French grant was located in this section—a
tract comprising twenty-four thousand acres. The grant was made in March,
1795. Portsmouth, the county seat, is located upon the Ohio.

Trumbull county was formed in 1800. The original Connecticut West-
ern Reserve was within its limits. The county is well cultivated and very
wealthy. Coal is found in its northern portion. Warren, the county seat,
is situated on the Mahoning river. It was laid out by Ephriam Quinby in
1801.  Mr. Quinby owned the soil. His cabin was built here in 1799. In
August, 1800, while Mr. McMahon was away from home, a party of drunken
Indians called at the house, abused the family, struck a child a severe blow
with a tomahawk and threatened to kill the family. Mrs. McMahon could
not send tidings which could reach her hushand before noon the following
day. The following Sunday morning, fourteen men and two boys armed
themselves and went to the Indian camp to settle the difficulty. Quinby ad-
vanced alone, leaving the remainder in concealment, as he was better ac-
quainted with these people, to make inquiries and ascertain their intentions.
He did not return at once and the party set out, marched into camp and
found Quinby arguing with Captain George, the chief. Captain George
snatched his tomahawk and declared war, rushing forward to kill McMahon.
But a bullet from the frontiersman’s gun killed him instantly, while Storey
shot “Spotted John” at the same time. The Indians then fled. They joined
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the council at Sandusky. Quinby garrisoned his house. Fourteen days
thereafter, the Indians returned with overtures of peace, which were, that
‘McMahon and Storey be taken to Sandusky. tried by Indian laws. and if
found guilty punished by them. This could not be done. McMahon was
tried by General St. Clair and the matter was settled. The first missionary
on the reserve was the Rev. Joseph Badger.

Tuscarawas county was formed February 15, 1808, from Muskingum.
It is well cultivated with abundant supplies of coal and iron. The first white
settlers were Moravian missionaries, their first visits dating back to 1761.
The first permanent settlement was made in 1803. Mary Heckewelder, the
daughter of a missionary, was born in this county April 16, 1781. Fort
Laurens was built during the Revolution. It was the scene of a fearful car-
nage. It was established in the fall of 1778 and placed under the command of
General Mcintosh. New Philadelphia is the county seat, situated on the
Tuscarawas. It was laid out in 1804 by John Knisely. A German colony
settled in this county in 1817, driven from their native land by religious
persecution. Thev called themselves Separatists. They are good people,
strictly moral and honest.

Union county was formed from Franklin, Delaware, l.ogan and Madi-
son in 1820. Extensive limestone (uarries are also valuable. The Ewing
brothers made the first white settlement in 1798. Col. James Curry, a mem-
ber of the State Legislature, was the chief instigator in the progress of this
section. 1le located within its limits and remained until his death, which
occurred in 1834. Marysville is the county seat.

Van Wert county was formed from the old Indian Territory April 1,
1820. Van Wert, the county seat, was founded by James W. Riley in 1837.
An Indian town had formerly occupied its site. Captain Riley was the first
white man who settled in the county. arriving in 1821. He founded Will-
shire in 1822.

Vinton county was organized in 1850. It is drained by Raccoon and
Salt creeks. The surface is undulating or hilly. Bituminous coal and iron
ore are found. McArthur is the county seat.

Washington county was formed by proclamation of Governor St. Clair
July 27, 1788 and was the first county founded within the limits of Ohio.
The surface is broken with extensive tracts of level, fertile land. It was
the first county settled in the state under the auspices of the Ohio Company.
A detachment of United States troops, under command of Major John
Doughty, built Fort Harmar in 1785 and it was the first military post estab-
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lished in Ohio by Americans, with the exception of Fort laurens, which
was erected in 1778. It was occupied by United States troops until 1790,
when they were ordered to Connecticut. .\ company under Captain Haskell
remained. In 1785 the directors of the Ohio Company began practical opera-
tions and settlement went forward rapidly. Campus Martius, a stockade
fort, was completed in 1791. This formed a sturdy stronghold during the
war. During the Indian war there was much suffering in the county. Many
settlers were killed and captured. Marietta is the county seat and the oldest
town in Ohio. Marietta College was chartered in 1835. [Herman Blenner-
hassett, whose unfortunate association with .\aron Burr proved fatal to him-
self, was a resident of Marietta in 1796. _

Warren county was formed May 1, 1803, from Hamilton. The soil is
very fertile and considerable water power is furnished by its streams. Mr.
Bedell made the first settlement in 1795. Lebanon is the county seat. Henry
Taylor settled in this vicinity in 1796. Union Village is a settlement of
Shakers. They came here about 1805.

\Vayne county was proclaimed by Governor St. Clair, August 15, 1796,
and was the sixth county. in the Northwest Territory. The settlement of this
section has already been briefly delineated. \Vooster is the county seat. It
was laid out during the fall of 1808, by John Beaver, William Henry and
Joseph H. Larwell, owners of the land. Its site is three hundred and thirty-
seven feet above Lake Erie. The first mill was built by Joseph Stibbs in
1809, on Apple creek. In 1812 a block-house was erected in Wooster.

Wood county was formed from the old Indian Territory in 1820. The
soil is rich and large crops are produced. The county is situated within the
Maumee valley. It was the arena of brilliant military exploits during early
times. Bowling Green is the county seat.

Williams county was formed .\pril 1, 1820, from the old Indian Terri-
tory. Bryan is the county seat. It was laid out in 1840.

Wyandot county was formed February 3, 1845, from Marion, llardin,
Hancock and Crawford. The surface is level and the soil fertile. The
Wyandot Indians frequented this section. It was the scene of Crawford's
defeat in June, 1782, and his fearful death. By the treaty of 1817, Hon. Lewis
Cass and Hon. Duncan McArthur, United States commissiohers, granted to
the Indians a reservation twelve miles square, the central point being Fort
Ferree. The Delaware reserve was ceded to the United States in 1829. The
\WWyandots ceded theirs March 17, 1842. The United States commissioner
was Col. John Johnson, who thus made the last Indian treaty in Ohio. Every
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foot of this state was fairly purchased by treaties. The Wyandots were ex-
ceedingly brave and several of their chiefs were men of exalted moral
principles.

~ Upper Sandusky is the county seat and was laid out in 1843. General
Harrison had built Ferree on this spot during the war of 1812. Governor
Meigs, in 1813, encamped near the river with several thousand of the Ohio
militia. The Indian village of Crane Town was originally called Upper
Sandusky. The Indians transferred their town, after the death of Tarhe,
to Upper Sandusky.




CHAPTER IL
GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHY.

Fayette county is bordered on the north by Madison county, on the east
by Pickaway, on the south by Highland and Ross and on the west by Clinton
and Greene counties.

The geological formations of Fayette county are very little exposed.
being generally covered with alluvial and drift deposits. However, where
they are exposed they present a great variety of material, such as imbedded
fossils, ores, coal and valuable stone. There are no swift streams. There
is a level surface of underlying rock, a superficial covering of deep, black
loam, which condition is wonderfully suited to the pursuit of agriculture.
In fact, the soil is adapted to all kinds of growth, including grasses and
cereals. The production of good grasses has naturally led to the extensive
raising of stock.

WATER COURSES.

There are numerous water courses traversing Fayette county from the
northern to the southern boundary, varying but little in direction. These
streams are all sluggish in the upper half of their course, but they have
adequate fall to constitute a good natural system of drainage. At an early
day in the settlement of this part of the country the greater portion of the
county was too swampy to admit the use of the plow, but since the streams
have been cleared and ditches have been dug, the water is carried away in
proportionate quantities to the amount remaining in the soil.

The water courses of the county are singular in their uniformity of
direction and tributaries. The main water channels are nearly parallel with
each other and they take the same general direction, uniformly to the east
of south. This is true of Deer creek, as of Paint creek and its tributaries.
There is another peculiar characteristic of the streams, that is, most of the
tributaries enter the main channels from the west. This proves the county
to be a natural water shed from east to south, and that as the lowest land in
the county is at the point where the water leaves it, so the highest may be
discovered in the region whence it flowed. the northwest.

Deer creek is abhout one hundred feet lower than the north fork of



74 FAYETTE COUNTY, OHIO.

Paint creek, on the line of the White Oak turnpike; Compton’s creek, on the
line of the New Holland and Bloomingburg turnpike, is fifty feet higher than
the North fork and East fork is eighty-seven feet higher than North fork
and main point one hundred and four feet higher than the same stream.

LAND ELEVATION.

The rise in the land from Washington to the northern boundary of the
county is estimated to be about fifty feet; and from the extreme north to
the south along Paint creek the fall reaches almost two hundred and ten
feet. Near Greenfield is a point four hundred and fifty-one feet above low
water mark at Cincinnati and perhaps seventy-five feet above the bed of
the creek at the Fayette county line, the point of Paint creek, where it leaves
the county, would be three hundred and seventy-six feet above low water
mark at Cincinnati. Add one hundred and sixty feet, the elevation of
Washington C. H. above Paint creek, at the southern line of the county, and
the elevation of this town above low-water mark of the Ohio river at Cin-
cinnati is about five hundred and thirty-six feet. or nine hundred and sixty-
eight feet above tide water. It will appear from these figures that the aver-
age elevation of Fayette county is about two hundred feet less than that of
Clinton county on the west.

' FORMATIONS.

In tracing the line of outcrop of the various formations from a point in
the western point of Clinton county, where Todd's fork leaves the county,
it is found that the strata of stone at the bottom proceeds to the east. If
a well were dug at \Washington C. H., it would cut through all the strata
found to the west as far as Cincinnati. It would first penetrate the strata
overlying those exposed at Rock Mills, and, passing through these, would
reach the strata represented at Paint creek, below Rock Mills, and then would
reach the stone so abundant on Rattlesnake, from the line of the Washing-
ton and Leesburg road to the south. It would next penetrate the water-
line building stone of Greenfield and Lexington and, going deeper, would
penetrate the great Niagara system, about one hundred and seventy-five feet
in depth. The next strata would be the Clinton iron ore and then the strati-
fied stone of this formation about thirty feet in thickness, and then, after
cutting through three feet of a ferruginous clay, would reach the Cincinnati
group, or blue limestone, and in about one hundred and twenty-five feet
would reach the strata which are seen in Todd’s fork, where it fows out of
Clinton county.
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It has been stated that the average level of Fayette county is about two
hundred feet lower than that of Clinton county, while numerous formations
overlie in lYayette county those found exposed in Clinton county. This is
explained by the dip of the strata to the east. The water-line building stone,
as seen at Lexington and Greenfield. dips from thirty-five to forty feet per
mile to the east, also a little to the north. In fifteen miles the dip would be
about six hundred feet: subtracting two hundred feet, the difference in level,
there would be left nearly four hundred feet to be made up in Fayette county
by additional strata.

While the deposit of sandstone which extends almost from the very
border of Fayette county to the south indefinitely and to the east, underlying
the coal, was being made, the land to the north was above water, as well as
when the deposits above the sandstone were made; at least, whatever mater-
ial, organic or inorganic, was ever deposited here has long since disappeared.
There is some evidence, however, that the slate which immediately underlies
the sandstone extended somewhat farther north than the sandstone itself has
been found. In Fayette county, near Rock Mills, about one hundred and
twenty-five feet above the stream, also on several farms and near the south-
ern line of the county, a slate formation is to be seen capping the highest
point of land in the southern half of the county. The material must once
have been continuous and may have extended farther than any traces of it
are now found.

Throughout these stratas there is evidence of various denuding and
eroding agencies. which have tended to wear down the rock and channel it.

THE DRIFT. -

The old channels became silted up and other accumulations were made
subsequent to the period of denudation. The surface of the land sank so as
to be beneath the surface of the water. Every indication points to water
as the medium by which the deposits were made. Upon the surface of the
stone is everywhere found more or less loose material. The study of this
material, or drift, makes known the fact that it is composed of clay, with
varying proportions of sand and gravel, with occasional rounded blocks of
granite rock, and with the remains of trees and sometimes of other vegeta-
tion. The greatest thickness of the drift is in Clinton county, east of the
“‘prairie,” where a deposit of over one hundred feet is found. The clays of
the drift are both blue and vellow. The blue clay, or, as frequently called.
blue mud, is uniformly found, but there is no uniformity in the thickness of
it. It ranges from two to forty feet in depth. It is generally interstratified
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with sand and fine gravel, but sometimes no such stratification is seen. Water
is found nearly everywhere within a very few feet of the surface of the
earth.

There are found, scattered over the county, apparently belonging to the
blue clay deposits, many boulders. In the extreme northern part of Fayette
boulders weighing from twenty to thirty tons have been discovered.

GRAVEL AND SAND.

Mingled with the drift deposits is always found a considerable propor-
tion of gravel and sand, but bheing scattered throughout the whole masses,
or, at most, showing only a slight tendencv to be distinct in strata, more or
less mixed with soft material. For many years after the settlement of the
county these gravel and sand deposits were not known. The demand for
gravel in road making led to the discovery of their existence, and now there
is material in plenty. People have learned where to find it readily. When
the currents of water carried away the higher drift deposits, the heavier con-
stituents were left behind. The highest land may be regarded as the lard
level at the beginning. There was then a deposit of loose material, some
times a hundred feet in thickness above the bedded stone. This material
was manifestly deposited from water. The passage of glacier ice also is
accountable for these deposits. When the water subsided new lines of drain-
age appeared, depending upon the physical features of the country. The
emergence of the land was gradual and the subsiding water stood for greater
or less periods of time at different levels. During the emergence of the solid
earth the currents of water carried away some of the material constituting
the drift sediment of the former period. These channels of drainage mark
the direction of the current. Within these channels the drift deposits were
sometimes removed to the bedded rock. The varying force of the currents
distributed the material as we now see it. Strong currents carried all before
them; the weaker currents just the finer material.

The Niagara stone formation dips too far under the surface in Fayette
county to be of use. but the lower Heidelberg group, or water line, on Rattle-
snake creek, is about one hundred feet in thickness and is accessible. The
exact location where the greatest thickness may be observed is on the Wash-
ington and Leesburg road, west of Rattlesnake.

The locality of Rock Mills presents more points of interest to the geolo-
gist than any other in Fayette county. There are numerous shale and clay
stratas visible here.



CHAPTER 111
COUNTY ORGANIZATION.

In order to present the formation and organization of Fayette county
properly. it is best to give a sketch of the territory from which it was taken.

On July 27, 1788, Washington county was formed under the territorial
government, and included all that part of Ohio east of a line drawn from
Cleveland, up the Cuyahoga, down the Tuscarawas; thence west to the road
from the Shawanoes town on the Scioto to Sandusky: thence south to and
down the Scioto to its mouth.

On January 2, 1790, Hamilton county was organized. embracing the
territory between the two Miamis, as far north from the Ohio as the *‘stand-
ing stone forks™ of the Big Miami. On June 22, 1798. it was changed so
as to include all that part of Indiana lying between the Greenville treaty
line and the western line of Ohio and all that part of Ohio west of the Little
Miami, to the lower Shawanoes town on the Scioto, and extending north to
the southern line of Wayne.

The county of \Wayne, created August 6, 1796, hegan at the Cuyahoga.
ran up that river and down the Tuscarawas to the portage above Fort Law-
rence: thence west to the east line of Hamilton; thence west, northerly, to
the portage of the Miami and St. Mary's; thence west, northerly, to the
portage of the Wabash and Maumee, where Fort Wayne. Indiana, now is,
extending to the southern point of Lake Michigan; thence along its wesiern
shore to the northwestern part: thence north to the territorial boundary in
Lake Superior, and with the said boundary through Lakes Huron, Sinclair
and Erie, to the place of beginning.

Ross county was established August 20. 1798, “beginning at the forty-
second-mile tree, on the line of the original grant of land by the United
States to the Ohio Company, which line was run by Israel Ludlow.” This
forty-second-mile tree was forty miles almost due north from Pomeroy, on
the Ohio river, and a little distance southwest from Athens, in Athens
county. From this point it extended west into the western part of what is
now Highland county, about ten miles southwest from Hillsboro; thence
north to the southern boundary line of Wayne county, described above:
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thence east on said line to a point on the present southern boundary line of
Wayne county, almost due south from Wooster, and a very little east of the
eighty-second meridian west longitude; thence south to the place of be-
ginning. The eighty-second meridian west from Greenwich is perhaps not
more than a mile west of the original eastern line of Ross county.

It will be ohserved that the original east line of Hamilton was the Little
Miami. Yet in the description of Wayne we find the words, “thence by a
west line to the eastern boundary of Hamilton” (“which is a due north line
from the lower Shawanoe town on the Scioto™). :Also, that a portion of
Hamilton, beginning at the mouth of Eagle creck, was attached to Adams.

Highland county originally began at the twenty-mile tree, due north
from the mouth of Elk creek, on the Ohio; ran east twelve miles; then north-
cast to the eighteen-mile tree from the Scioto, at the intersection of Ross,
Clermont and Adams lines: “then to the mouth of the rocky fork of Paint
creek; thence up main Paint to the south line of Franklin county (now
Pickaway) ; thence with said line west to the east line of Greene county;
thence with said line south to the southeast corner of the same; thence with
the south line west, to the northeast corner of Clermont (certainly Warren) ;
and from the beginning west to the north fork of White Oak creek; then
north to the line of Warren county; thence with said line east to corner of
Clermont and Warren.” .

FFayette countv was created. from the counties of Ross and Highland,
on Januarv 19. 1810, the act taking effect March 1st. Beginning at the
southwest of Pickaway, running north “with the line of said county to the
corner of Madison: thence west with said line to the line of Greene county;
thence south with Greene county to the southeast corner thereof; thence
east five miles; thence south to the line of Highland county ; thence east with
said line to Paint creek: thence in a straight line to the place of beginning.”
All the lower portion was taken from Highland and the upper from Ross.

The county was named for the Marquis de Lafayette, the French soldier
of fortune who so nobly assisted the American colonies in their struggle for
independence.

ORIGINAL TOWNSHIPS.

The county of Fayette was originally divided into six townships, Jeffer-
son, Greene, Wayne, Madison, Paint and Union.

Jefferson began at the north part of survey number 1093, on Paint
creek, and followed its present boundary to the northwest corner of Jasper;
thence south along the present western boundary of Jasper to the southwest
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corner of the same; thence east five miles to the northeast corner of Clinton
county ; thence northwest to the north part of survey 899, to Sugar creek;
thence with its present boundary to the beginning, including. as will be seen,
the principal part of the present territory of Jasper.

Green township began at Henry Snider’s mill, on Sugar creek, thence
up said creek with its meanderings to the line of Jefferson, northern part
survey 899; thence southwest with said line to the northeast corner of Clin-
ton county; thence south with the county line to the southwest corner of
Fayette county; thence east with county line of Lemuel Hand’s. Thence to
Alexander Beatty’s survey 3713: thence north, bearing west to Samuel Ed-
ward’s, north part survey 660; thence to beginning, including about three-
fourths of the present territory of Perry, all of Concord and about a quarter
of Jasper.

It appears that about 1818 Green was reduced in territory by the forma-
tion of Concord, whose boundaries there is no means of knowing until
March 3, 1828, when its lines are given. Green, at that time, was limited on
the north and west by a line beginning at the mouth of Hankin’s run on
Sugar creek at the lower bend, eastern part survey 626, and running south-
west to Samuel Stockey’s, a little north and east of Staunton, thence follow-
ing very nearly its present limits to the county line.

When Perry was first formed it further reduced Green to its present
limits, save that portioh north of a line extending from near Buena Vista
to the mouth of Sugar creek, thence up Sugar creek to Hankin’s run, the
western portion of which was subsequently, March 3, 1849, joined to Con-
cord and the eastern to Perry, thus leaving it in its present shape in 1849.

Wayne township originally included on the west all that territory not
taken from Green in the formation of Perry and with her other lines nearly
as they are now, except on the southeast corner of Union, at the mouth of
Sugar, where we infer from the language used the line followed the creek
(Paint).

Madison township originally included all the territory now embraced in
Madison and Marion until June, 1840, when it was divided and the southern
portion called Marion, and the northern retained the original name. '

Paint township also was one of the original townships and has not
been altered in its boundaries.

Union township has preserved its original lines, with the exception of a
few slight changes near the old Snider mill on Sugar and extending a little
farther into Wayne. so as to touch the corner of Bernard’s survey 739. and
following the meanderings of Paint creek above the Brannon farm.
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PRESENT TOWNSHIPS.

On March 5, 1845, William Rankin presented a petition to the commis-
sioners for a new township to be taken from Jefferson and Concord, be-
ginning in the northwest corner of R. Clayborn’s survey 889 and following
the present boundaries of Jasper until it strikes the southwest corner of
Jefferson on Sugar creek, thence northeast, following the present line of
Jefferson and Union to Paint creek, thence up Paint creek to the dividing
line of the Trent and White surveys 942 and 1205, thence west to the be-
ginning, including, as will be seen, the southern point of Jefferson.

On the 2nd day of December, 1845, by petition of Joseph J. Parrott,
Jasper township was reduced to her present limits and electors assembled
April 7th at the house of John Andrews to elect officers.

The following record gives the dates of the organization of Concord:
“Friday, May 1, 1818 —It appearing to the court that a new township has
been set off by the commissioners called Concord, it is ordered that there be
one justice of the peace elected in this township, the electors to meet at the
house of Edward Figgins on the third Monday of the present month for this
purpose.”

The boundaries at this date are not given. In 1828 its bounds were
defined as beginning on the east at Hankin’s run and following the line of
Green to the northeast corner of Clinton county, thence northwest to Sugar
creek and down to beginning. In 1848 the line was run hetween Concord
and Green, beginning at Hankin's run, thence south thirty-six degrees,
twenty-six minutes west, three miles and one hundred and twenty poles,
crossing said run to a stake one-half pole on northwest side of a pile of
clay, the remains of a chimney of John Draper’s house: thence south sixty-
three degrees, four minutes west, three miles and one hundred sixty poles,
to a road near Jerry McFlay’s house, crossing Rattlesnake at forty poles,
Lee’s creek at two miles and fifty-two poles, thence continuing same course
south three degrees, four minutes, west one mile and forty-eight poles, to
line of Clinton and Fayette counties, which distance eight miles and fourteen
poles is well marked with a hand axe with three hacks on the side. March
3, 1849, this line was so altered as to run from the banks of Sugar creek
" where the lines of Concord and Green join, thence with the said line to the
-state road running from Washington to Leesburg, thence north eighty-five
degrees, east to Perry township line, thence north with Perry and Green to
Sugar creek, thence up the creek to the beginning, which portion was added to
Concord for the convenience of schools and working the roads.
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Marion township was, in June, 1840, began by a petition signed by the
houscholders of Madison township, praying for a division of the same, so as
to form two separate townships. This was presented to the county commis-
sioners, in pursuance ot which the board appointed Jacob Creamer county
surveyor, to ascertain whether there was territory sufficient to warrant a
division and, if so, to run a line through the center of the same, so as to
make an equal division. The surveyor. upon finding suthcient territory,
proceeded to divide the township as per instructions. The board being satis-
fied that the interest of the citizens of the aforesaid township required a
division, ordered the report of the surveyor to be placed on record and said
township established as laid down in said plat.

“The northern part of the division shall be known as the original town-
ship of Madison and the southern part shall be known as Marion township.
That the electors of Marion township assemble on July 18, 1840, at the
house of John McArthur on the Circleville road, to elect township officials,
who shall continue in office until the next annual spring election.”

Perry township.—On the 4th of June, 1844, a petition was presented
to the commissioners by N. Rush, as attorney, praying for a new township
to be taken from Green and Wayne, which was refused on account of a re-
monstrance by L. V. Willard.

On June 4, 1845, a petition was presented by Robert Eyre and the new
township was granted, called Perry. Beginning at a point where the state
road leading from \Washington C. H. to Leesburg crosses Rattlesnake
creek, thence on a straight line to Samuel Briggs' mill, near the mouth of
Sugar creek, thence down Paint creek to the Highland county line, thence
west with said line to Rattlesnake, thence up said creek to the beginning,
thus including a part of Wayne and Green. These limits, as will be observed,
left out that portion north of the line, extending from near Buena Vista to
the mouth of Sugar. ‘

On June 14, 18435, a petition was presented signed by \Wayman Stafford
and a number of others protesting against the decision of the commissioners
in forming a new township and finally an appeal bond was filed in the sum
of five hundred dollars, with James Larkins and Anderson Rowe, securities.
Notice was given of an appeal to the court of common pleas. Subsequently
a decision was rendered favorable to its organization and that portion an-
nexed north of the line from Buena Vista to Briggs’ mill.

(6)



CHAPTER 1V

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

INDIAN INHABITANTS.

In presenting the early history of Fayette county it is necessary to
give first a brief account of the first authenticated inhabitants of this portion
of Ohio. These were the Indians.

The great Algonquin family, perhaps the largest Indian federation in
the United States at that time, were undoubtedly the first of the red men to
inhabit IFavette countv. Th-re were manv tribes composing this organiza-
tion known as the Algonquins. but in the territory which later comprised
Fayette county the Twigtwees, or Twightwees, called by the French Miamis,
were the original possessors. It is said that at the time of the visit to them
by Christopher Gist, the English agent for the Ohio Land Company, in 1751,
they were superior in numbers even to the Huron Iroquois, with whom they
were on hostile terms. Their country extended on the west as far as the
Pottawatomie territory, between the \Vabash and Illinois rivers. On the
north were also the Pottawatomies, who were slowly encroaching upon the
Miamis, who. in turn, were gradually extending their territorv westward into
Ohio and absorbing the land claimed by the Huron Iroquois. \ccording to
the best authority, they were the undisputed claimants of the territory of
Ohio as far westward as the Scioto river.

The Piankeshaws, or Peanzichias-Miamis, a branch of the Algonquin
family, were the men who first lived and hunted in Fayette county. They
built their villages along the streams and spent their days hunting in_the
forest. The Wyandots, long before the coming of the English and the
French, had resided in the territory now embraced by Ohio. In 1841-2
they ceded their lands to the United States commissioner, Col. Joha
Johnston, and removed themselves beyond the Missouri. In about 1750 the
Shawanoes came from Florida, under Blackhoof, and, as tenants-at-will of
the Wyandots, took possession of the valleys of the Maumee, Scioto. Mad
and Miami rivers.
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FIRST SURVEYS.

The territory of Virginia, granted by the charters of King James I, was
very extensive. Three separate charters were granted and in each the Missis-
sippi river was made the western boundary of the British provinces. Thus
restricted, the territory of Virginia included all of that territory occupied
by Pennsylvania, North and South Carolina, Kentucky, and all of the land
northwest of the Ohio river. Other negotiations later restricted this bound-
ary of the Virginia territory, although that state still held on to the North-
west territory, comprising the present states of Ohio, Indiana, lllinois, Michi-
gan, Wisconsin and the northern part of Minnesota. In 1779 Virginia
opened an office for the sale of her western lands. Violent protest was
made by other states and in 1783 Virginia passed an act allowing one hun-
dred and fifty thousand acres of land on the northwest side of the Ohio
river to Col. George Rogers Clark and his men, this land to be surveyed.
The land embraced in this reservation was in the present state of Indiana
and is largely in Clark county. Although this cession was made in 1783 it
was not until 1824 that the definite boundary was established, by a decision
of the supreme court. These lands were in the nature of bounties.

In the winter of 1787 Major John O’Bannon and Arthur Fox. two
Kentucky surveyors, explored this Virginia reservation with the view of
making entries as soon as the law would permit., The pioneer surveyor in
the district of Fayette county was Nathaniel Massie.

The first portion of land entered within the territory of what is now
Fayette county was a part of survey Nos. 243 and 772 in one tract, lying
partly in Clinton county, extending in a triangle into Fayette, southwest of
No. 6623 in the southwestern part of Concord township. The next is a
part of No. 428, extending into the extreme southeastern part of the county,
and the first survey lying wholly within the county is No. 463, in the north-
ern and eastern part of what is now Madison township. surveyed for Thomas
Overton by John O’Bannon, June 30, 1796; John Hamilton and Joshua
Dodson, chain carriers, and Edward Mosby, marker. This tract contained
one thousand three hundred and thirty-three and one-third acres and was a
part of military warrant No. 44. It was located northwest of the Ohio on
Deer creek, a branch of the Scioto, “beginning at three white oaks and an
elm, southwest corner to James Currie’s survey (471) running east three
hundred and twenty poles, crossing Deer creek at one hundred and forty-
eight poles to a hickory and two black oaks. southeast corner to Currie,
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thence south eight, west five hundred and ninety-seven poles, crossing the
creek at one hundred and seventy-four poles to a stake, thence north sixteen,
east six hundred and fifteen to the beginning.”

This land was entered by persons holding land warrants issued by the
state of Virginia to her soldiers in the continental army and in the army of
Gen. George Rogers Clark. In the majority of cases the original owners
did not themselves enter the land, but other parties purchasing them located
them. These surveys were numbered in the order in which the tracts of
land were entered, the survey taking its number from the entry. Thus it
often occurred that a survey with a high number was surveyed long before
one with a lower number. Also some surveys have several numbers. Again
one entry maybe surveyed into two tracts. Thus entry No. 669, of one
thousand acres, was surveyed into tracts, one of six hundred for Daniel
Clark and the other of four hundred for James Dougherty, found in the
southern part of Wayne township. These were surveyed by Nathaniel Mas-
sie, both on the same day, March 13, 17935, returned to the land office.
examined and recorded, the former July 3d and the latter July 4th, 1795.

EARLY SETTLERS.

John Popejoy was one of the first residents of Fayette county. He
came to Washington C. H. in 1811, purchased a lot and erected a log cabin
He was afterward a justice of the peace. He was a native of Virginia. His
death occurred in 1816 or 1817. He was an eccentric character and con
ducted his legal business without a docket, simply keeping brief tab on a
sheet of paper which he kept in the crevices of his cabin.

Jacob Jamison came to this county several years before its organization.
He later purchased land two miles southwest of the village of Washington
C. H. He was at one time severely stabbed by one of his neighbors, but
finally recovered. He served as justice of the peace, collector, commissioner
and associate judge.

Samuel Waddle was a Kentuckian, came to Ross county, this state, and
in 1810 came to Fayette, locating on a piece of ground five miles south of
Washington C. H. He served in the Indian wars of 1812. In 1814 he
purchased seven lots in Washington C. H., for which he paid ten thousand
dollars, but at his death the property did not bring one thousand dollars.

John Dewitt was another of the first settlers. He was born in Kentucky
and in 1806, accompanied by his uncle and brothers, came to Ross county,
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Ohio. The party traveled the entire distance on foot. Dewitt remained in
Ross county two years and then came to Fayette.

Jesse Rowe left his Virginia home when he was forty years of age and
came to Ross county and in 1808 to this county, settling on Wabash creek,
seven miles south of Washington C. H., where he purchased about fifteen
hundred acres of land.

Thomas Green was born in Hampshire county, Virginia, in the year
1784. In 1808 he came to Ohio with his bride, traveling in a four-horse
wagon. They settled in Highland county first and in 1810 removed to
Fayette, locating four miles southeast of Washington C. H. on Buckskin.
He served as a teamster in the war of 1812.

Col. James Stewart, with his father, came from Maryland in 1807 and
bought land in Ross county. In 1810 he came to this county, and located on
land adjoining Bloomingburg. In 1812 he was made a colonel of a regiment
made up of Fayette county men.

Hugh Steward was born in 1805 and came to Fayette county for per-
manent settlement in 1828.

Philip Moor was a Kentuckian by birth and came to this county in 1811,
with his wife and nine children, traveling by teams. They crossed the Ohio
on rafts at Maysville. Adam Funk, who was a neighbor of Moor’s before
the latter left Kentucky, purchased for him three hundred acres in Paint
township, paying nine hundred dollars for the land. The family took pos-
session on the 1st of April, 1811, about one year after the first court had
been held in the same cabin they now occupied, then owned by a Mr.
Devault.

James Kirkpatrick and his family left Virginia in 1810 and came over-
land to the cabin of Solomon Soward, in Jefferson township, where they
spent the winter. Upon arriving in this county they stopped at the cabin of
Capt. Joseph Parrett and inquired for Soward’s cabin. They were informed
that it was located about two miles farther, on Paint creek. No road but a
bridle path led to the place and they were compelled to leave their wagons
behind. The next morning they returned for their goods and found them
intact, although the neighborhood was filled with bands of Indians. The
- redskins were peaceable, but did not like the visits of the white men and soon
left the neighborhood. .

James Hays was a native of Virginia and came to Kentucky in a very
early day. At the beginning of the nineteenth century he came to Pickaway
county, Ohio, and in about 1805 to Fayette county. They settled on a two-
hundred-acre tract in Paint township.
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George Creamer came to Fayette county in 1810 from Berkeley county,
Virginia. :

Philip Fent came to this county from Greene county, Tennessee, in
1814, accompanied by his family. He held a military grant of land from
the government, but was deprived of it by poor management of his uncle,
who had it in charge prior to his arrival. He procured another tract, how-
ever, in Jefferson township. He took fifty acres and gave his wagon in
exchange.

William Robinson, Sr., a North Carolinian, moved from Virginia in
1801 to Greene county, Ohio. They remained here several years and then
came to Fayette county.

Adam Allen was a native of Pennsylvania, but ran away from home at
the age of sixteen and enlisted in the Revolutionary War. At the close he
went to Kentucky and engaged in running the Upper and Lower Blue Lick
Salt Works. He was married in Kentucky to Miss Kyger and came to
Clark county, Ohio. During the war of 1812 he started to Fort \Wayne to
enlist, but hostilities were over before he got there. He next came to
Fayette county and ‘“‘squatted” on the site of Allentown. He died in 1851,
aged ninety-four.

James Sanderson, a Kentuckian, came to Ohio in 1812 and settled on
the Hite survey, No. 1223, consisting of one thousand acres in this county.
The family followed an old Indian trace when coming from the Blue Grass
state.

Jacob A. Rankin was born in Ross county, Ohio. in 1800, and at the
age of twelve left his home because of the dissipation of his father and
came to Bloomingburg, Fayette county, and was employed by Judge Gilles-
pie as a farm hand.

Rafe Durham, a Virginian, came to Ohio in 1816 and to this county
twenty years later.

Thomas Fullerton, a native of Pennsylvania and a graduate of Yale
University, came to Fayette county in 1814.

Henry Strope left Pennsylvania on July 7. 1812, in a covered wagon
and came to Chillicothe and in 1814 came to Fayette. He settled on a farm
in Marion township.

Gen. Batteal Harrison was a Virginian by birth. He started with his
parents for Kentucky while vet a child, but stopped with his aunt at Wheel-
ing owing to the danger from Indians, while his parents went on into Ken-
tucky to find a home. They returned for him in two years, but he refused
to leave his aunt and remained with her until he was a man. He recruited a
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company of men for the War of 1812 and after the war, in 1815, removed
to the north fork of Paint creek and settled on a tract of land located by
John A. Fulton on a warrant obtained by the services of his father in the
Revolutionary War. This tract was in Madison township and consisted of
one thousand and forty acres. General Harrison became one of the most
prominent men in the county of Fayette. He was an associate judge and
served several terms in the Legislature.

The Allens, Ananias and his sons, came from Pennsylvania about 1810
and settled near Bloomingburg, on what was then called the New Purchase,
so called because it was the first purchase on the east fork of Paint creek.
The Allens all took part in the War of 1812.

Enoch Harvey, with his father, Samuel, and his brother, James. came
from Virginia and settled on Deer creek, near Yankeetown, about 1810.
The Coons also came from Virginia and, in about 18co, located near the
site of the Harveys. They put up four or five small cabins for their accom-
modation. Albert Ogden was a Virginian; came to this county near 1804
and settled north of Yankeetown. Isaac Dickinson came from Virginia and
located near Yankeetown. John Page was a settler of 1804 and a Virginian;
he was one of the first justices of the peace of the county. He settled near
the Dickinsons.

James McCafferty and his brothers were Virginians and came here
about 1804 and settled northwest of Yankeetown. William Morgan came
also from the Old Dominion in about 1808 and settled first in Ross county;
then located adjoining Samuel Myers', on Duff’s fork of Deer creek. Charles
White came from Maryland about 1809 or 1810, and settled west of Myers’,
on Long branch of Deer creek. Thomas Barton, son of Stephen, came from
Virginia in 1805 and settled just across Deer creek from Yankeetown.
Jesse Stretch came from Pennsylvania in 1804 and located south of Yankee-
town. William Sawyer came from Island in 1810 and put up a cabin near
that of Stretch. James Rozzell, from Pennsylvania, and Amos Hawkins,
from Virginia, came in 1810 and stopped near Yankeetown. Amstead Car-
der, from Virginia, settled on the Springfield road south of Bloomingburg.
He was a son of Sanford Carder, an old Revolutionary soldier, who drew a
pension. John McGowen was cook in the War of 1812 in S. Myers’ com-
pany.
Two bachelors by the name of George Kyle and Alexander Riley lived
together in a cabin near Bloomingburg, but finally quarreled and parted.
because one accused the other of heing intolerably filthy. Riley suhsequently
moved to Compton’s creek, but cut hay and fed cattle on his farm. He



88 FAYETTE COUNTY, OHIO.

would go in the evening to feed his cattle, crawl into the haystack and remain
until morning, feed again and return home. These old bachelors came to
the county some time previous to 1810.

Daniel Hinkle, a tall, swarthy Virginian, was a powerful man and
noted for his fighting ability. John and Samuel Herrod were sons-in-law
of Sanford Carder: both came from Virginia, and, about 1808, settled on
the west side of Madison township. Thomas Cook came from Maryland in
1808. James Thompson, son-in-law of James Hays, came from Kentucky
and settled on a fork of the north fork of Paint creek, which afterwards
took his name. George Busic, in 1806, settled on Deer creek, hailing from
Virginia. Sol Parker, also a Virginian, settled on the Springfield road in
1808. George Jamison, from Kentucky, settled on Deer creek near the old
Indian trace leading to Chillicothe. James Kerr, from Virginia, settled also
on the Springfield road. John Mclntire, a very early settler, located south
of Yankeetown. Gideon Veezey settled early on Paint creek. Mr. Salmon
settled on a part of the old Vevay farm. He came from Delaware about
1806.

In the spring of 1811 Joel Wood., Adam Harper and Michael Kerr
settled on a tract of land embracing one thousand and thirty-five acres,
survey Nos. 5780, 7043 and 6879, lying partly in Paint and partly in Jeffer-
son townships, with Paint creek running through the center. Mr. Wood
moved from Pendleton county, Virginia, and, being a man of intelligence,
was created one of the first justices of the peace. Mr. Harper came from
Ross county, Ohio, and remained about a year, when he returned and his
son, Benjamin, took charge of the farm. Mr. Kerr came from Virginia and
first settled in Jefferson township. He was a farmer and the father of Col.
S. F. Kerr, of Washington C. H.

Thomas McDonald came from Kentucky to Ross county in 1794, with
Nathaniel Massie, the early surveyor, and in 1811 removed to Fayette and
settled.

In 1810 or 1811 there was a large family of Allens left Pennsylvania
and settled in this county. Many of their descendants are still living; Elijah
lived near the old Myers place, on the Bloomingburg and Danville pike, about
four miles from the former; James and John lived nearer Bloomingburg.
There were also George, Davis and Ananias.

Jesse Milliken came from North Carolina and settled in Washington
C. H. in 1810. He had little to do with politics and religion, but was a
prominent citizen. He was a good surveyor and performed a greater part
of the first surveying done in the county. He was a builder of some of the
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first houses erected in \Vashington C. H. He was the first postmaster and
the first clerk of both the supreme and common pleas courts of Fayette county
and held these offices until his death, in August, 1835.

Wade Loofborrow was one of the first citizens and lawyers in the
county. He came to Fayette in 1810 from Pennsylvania and beginning his
practice continued for a quarter of a century. He was a Democrat.

Thomas McDonald was one of the first settlers in this part of Ohio,
built the first cabin in Scioto county, was associated with General Massie and
others in laying off the county in surveys. He rendered valuable services
as a scout in Wayne’s campaign, was a soldier in the War of 1812, the first
representative of Fayette county in the Legislature and secured the passage
of a bill authorizing the coustruction of a toll bridge over the creek west of
the county. seat in 1816.

Dr. Thomas McGara and family emigrated from Pennsylvania in 1812
to the new town of Washington C. H., in which he was the first physician
and where he practiced his profession for many years. He served as an
associate judge and represented the county in the Legislature.

Hamilton Rogers, Sr., and Benjamin Rogers were pioneers from Ken-
tucky in 1810. They entered the woods of Wayne township and set to work
making improvements. They continued their labors for years and were
leading farmers.

William Harper and family were emigrants from Kentucky to Fay-
ette county in 1808. His daughter was the first lady married in Wayne
township. The marriage was in 1810 to Mr. Ellis. Michael Carr, from
Virginia, settled in Jefferson township at a nearly date and served in the
War of 1812. Peter Eyeman, of Virginia, became a resident of Fayette in
the early days of organization.

Henry Snider, father of William, moved into the county in 1809 and.
setting stake about four miles south of Washington C. H., on Sugar creek.
erected for himself and family a habitation and set about the building of a
water mill, which was among the first in the county. He served as associate
judge. Peter Snider, a brother, came in 1810.

Judge Jacob Jamieson was a settler from Kentucky upon Deer creek in
1808. He found only a waste of wet lands and timber, but remained. In
1811 he came to within one mile of Washington C. H. and bought land.
He was an associate judge, justice of the peace and collector.

William Rankin settled on the west fork of Paint creek and put up the
cabin usual to the pioneer settlement.
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PIONEER LIFE.

The following narrative is from the pen of an old pioneer and illustrates
well the life of the times:

“Immigrants poured in from different parts, cabins were put up in
every direction and women, children and goods tumbled into them. The tide
of immigration flowed like water through a breach in the mill dam. Every-
thing was bustle and confusion and all at work that could work. In the
midst of all this the mumps and perhaps one or two other diseases prevailed
and gave us a seasoning. Our cabin had been raised, covered. part of the
cracks chinked and part of the floor laid when we moved in on Christmas
day. There had not heen a stick cut except in building the cabin. We had
intended an inside chimney, for we thought the chimney ought to be in the
house. We had a log put across the whole width of the cabin for a mantle.
But when the floor was in we found it so low as not to answer and so we
removed it.

Here was a great change for our mother and sister as well as the rest.
But particularly my mother: she was reared in a most delicate manner, in
and near London, and lived most of her time in comfort. She was now in
the wilderness, surrounded by wild beasts, in a cabin with half a floor, no
doors, no ceiling overhead, not even a tolerable sign for a fireplace. The
light of day and the chilling winds of night passing between every two logs
in the building; the cabin so high from the ground that a bear, wolf, panther
or any other animal less in size than a cow, could enter without even a
squeeze. Such was our situation on Thursday and Thursday night, Decem-
ber 25, 1800, and which was bettered but by very slow degrees. \We got the
rest of the floor laid in a very few days: the chinking of the cracks went on
slowly, but the daubing could not proceed until weather became more suitable,
which happened every few days. Doorways were sawed out and steps made
of the logs and the chimney was raised up to the middle, but the funnel of
sticks and clay was delayed until spring. Our family consisted of my mother,
a sister of twenty-two, my brother, near twenty-one and very weakly, and
myself, in my eleventh vear. Two vears afterward Black Jenny followed
us, in company with my half-brother, Richard, and his family. She lived
two years with us in Ohio and died in the winter of 1803-4.

“In building our cabin it was set to front the north and south. my
brother using my father’s pocket compass on the occasion. We had no idea
of living in a house that did not stand square with the earth itself. This

A —
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argued our ignorance of the comforts and conveniences of pioneer life. The
position of the house end to the hill necessarily elevated the lower end and
the determination of having a north and south door added much to the airi-
ness of the domicile, particularly after the green ash puncheons shrunk so
as to have cracks in the floors and doors from one to two inches wide. At
both the doors we had high, unsteady and sometimes icy steps, made by
piling up the logs cut out of the wall. We had a window which was the
largest spot in the top, bottom or side of the cabin at which the wind could
not enter. It was made by sawing out a log, placing sticks across and then
by pasting an old newspaper over the hole and applying some hog's lard, we
had a kind of glazing which shed a most beautiful and mellow light across
the cabin when the sun shone upon it. All other light entered at the door
cracks and chimney. Our cabin was twenty-four by eighteen. The west
end was occupied by two beds, the center of each side by a door, and here
our symmetry had to stop, for on the opposite side of the window, made of
clapboards, supported on pins driven in the logs. were our shelves. Upon
these shelves my sister displayed in ample order a host of pewter plates,
basins, dishes and spoons, scoured and bright. It was none of the new-
fangled pewter made of lead, but the best London pewter. on which you
could hold your meat so as to cut it without slipping and without dulling
your knife. But. alas, the days of pewter plates and sharp dinner knives
have passed..

“To return to our internal arrangements, a ladder of five rounds occu-
pied the corner near the window. By this, when we got a floor above. we
could ascend. Our chimney occupied most of the east end: pots and kettles
opposite the window under the shelves: a gun on hooks over the north door.
five split bottom chairs, three-legged stools and a small eight-by-ten looking
glass, sloped from the wall over a large towel. and a pair of tongs made in
Frederick with one shank straight, as the best manufacture of pinchers and
blood-blisters, completed our furniture, except a spinning-wheel and such
things as were necessary to work. It was absolutely necessary to have three-
legged stools, as four legs of anything could not all touch the floor at the
same time. '

“The completion of our cabin went on slowly. The season was inclem-
ent; we were weak-handed and weak-pocketed: in fact, lahorers were not
to be had. We got our chimney up breast high. Our house never was
daubed on the inside, for my sister, who was very nice. would not consent to
live right next to the mud. My impression now is, that the windows were
not constructed till spring. for until the sticks and clay were put on the



Q2 FAYETTE COUNTY, OHl10.

chimney we could possibly have no need for a window, for the flood of light
which always poured into the cabin from the fireplace would have extin-
guished our paper window and rendered it as useless as the moon at noonday.
We got a floor laid overhead as soon as possible, perhaps in a month; but
when it was laid the reader will readily conceive of its imperviousness to
wind or weather, when we mention that it was laid of loose clapboards, split
from a red oak, the stump of which may be seen beyond the cabin. That
tree grew in the night, and so twisting, that should each board be laid on
two diagonally opposite corners, a cat might have shook every board on our
ceiling.

“It may be well to inform the unlearned reader that clapboards are
such lumber as pioneers split with a frow, and resemble barrel staves before
they are shaved, but are split longer, wider and thinner: of such our roof
and ceiling were made. Puncheons were plank made by splitting logs to
about two and a half or three inches in thickness, and hewing them on one or
both sides with the broad-ax: of such our floors, tables and stools were
manufactured. The eave-bearers are those end logs which project over to
receive the butting-poles, against which the lower tier of clap-boards rest in
forming the roof. The trapping is the roof timbers, composing the gable
end and the ribs, being those logs upon which the clap-boards rest. The trap-
logs are those of equal length above the eave bearers, which form the gable
ends, and upon which the ribs rest. The weight poles are those small logs
laid on the roof. The knces are pieces of heart timber, placed above the
butting poles successively, to prevent the weight poles from rolling off.

“The evenings of the first winter did not pass off as pleasantly as
evenings afterward. \We had raised no tobacco to stem and twist, no corn to
shell, no turnips to scrape; we had no tow to spin into rope yarn, nor straw
to plait for hats, and we had come so late we could get but few walnuts to
crack. We had, however. the Bible, George Fox's Journal, Berkeley’s
Apology and a number of books, all better than much of the fashionable
reading of today, from which, after perusing, the reader finds he has gained
nothing. To our stock of books was soon afterward added a borrowed copy
of the Pilgrim's Progress, which we read twice through without stopping.
The first winter our living was truly scanty and hard: but even this winter
had its felicities. \Ve had part of a harrel of flour which we had brought
from Fredericktown. Besides this, we had part of a jar of hog’s lard brought
from old Carolina; not the tasteless stuff which now goes by that name, but
pure leaf lard, taken from hogs raised on pine roots and fattened on sweet
potatoes and into which, while rendering, were immersed the boughs of the
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tragramt bay tree, which gave to the lard a rich flavor. Of that flour, short
ened with this lard, my sister, every Sunday morning, and at no other time,
made short biscuit for breakfast.

“In the ordering oi a good Providence the winter was open, but windy.
While the wind was of great use in driving the smoke and ashes out of our
cabin, it shook terribly the timbers standing almost over us. We had never
seen a dangerous looking tree near a dwelling, but here we were surrounded
by the-tall giants of the forest, waving their boughs and uniting their brows
over us, as if in defiance of our disturbing their repose and usurping their
long and uncontended pre-emption rights. The beech on the left often shook
his bushy head over us as if in absolute disapprobation of our settling there.
threatening to crush us if we did not pack up and start. The walnut over
the spring branch stood high and straight; no one could tell which way it
inclined, but all concluded that if it had a preference it was in favor of
quartering on our cabin. We got assistance to cut it down. The axeman
doubted his ability to control its direction, by reason that he must cut it
almost off before it would fall. He thought by felling the tree in the direc-
tion of the reader, along near the chimney, and thus favor the little lean it
seemed to have, would be the means of saving the cabin. He was successful.
These, and all other dangerous trees, were got down without other damage
than many frights and frequent desertions of the premises by the family
while the trees were being cut. The ash bevond the house crossed the scorf
and fell upon the cabin, but without damage.

“The monotony of the time for several of the first years was broken
and enlivened by the howl of the wild beasts. The wolves howling around
us seemed to mourn their inability to drive us out. The bears, panther and
deer seemingly got miffed at our approach, or the partiality of the hunters,
and but seldom troubled us. One bag of meal would make a whole family
rejoicingly happy and thankful then, when a loaded FEast Indiaman would
not do it now. When spring was fully come, and our little patch of corn,
three acres, put in among the beech roots, which at every step contended with
the shovel-plow for the right of svil, and held it, too, we enlarged our stock
of conveniences. As soon as bark would run (peel off) we could make ropes
and bark boxes. These we stood in great need of, as such things as bureaus,
stands, wardrohes, or even barrels, were not to be had. The manner of
making rope of linn bark was to cut the bark into strips of convenient length,
and water-rot it in the same manner as rotting flax or hemp. When this
was done the inside bark would peel off and split up so fine as to make a con-
_ siderably rough and good-for-but-little rope. Of this. however, we were very
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glad. We made two kinds of boxes for furniture. One kind was of hickory
bark with the outside shaved off. This we would take off all around the
tree, the size of which would determine the calibre of our box. Into one end
we would place a flat piece or puncheon, cut round to fit into the bark, which
stood on end the same as when on the tree. There was little need of hooping,
as the strength of the bark would keep that all right. Its shrinkage would
make it unsightly in a parlor nowadays. but then they were considered quite
an addition to the furniture. A much finer article was of slippery elm bark,
shaved smooth, and with the inside out, hent around and sewed together
where the ends of the hoop or main bark lapped over. The length of the
bark was around the box and inside out. A bottom was made of a piece of
the same hark, dried flat, and a lid like that of a common band box, made in
the same way. This was the finest furniture in the ladies’ dressing room and
then, as now, with the finest furniture, the lapped or sewed side was turned to
the wall and the prettiest part to the specator. They were usually made oval
and while he bark was green were easily ornamented with drawing of birds,
trees, etc., agreeable to the taste and skill of the fair manufacturer. As we
belonged to the Society of Friends it may be presumed that our band hoxes
were not thus ornamented.

“We settled on heech land, which took much labor to clear. We could
do no better than to clear out the smaller stuff, and burn the brush, etc.,
around the beeches. which, in spite of the girdling and burning which we
could do to them, would leaf out the first year and often a little the second.
The land, however, was very rich and would bring better corn than might be
expected. We had to tend it with the hoe: that is, to chop down the nettles.
the vatcr-veel, and the teuch-me-not.  Grass, coreless, lamb’s quarter and
Spanish needles were reserved to pester the better prepared farmer.

“We cleared a small turnip patch, which we got in about the 10th of
August. We sowed in timothy seed, which took well, and the next year we
had a little hay besides. The tops and blades were also saved for our horse,
cow and two sheep. The turnips were sweet and good, and in the fall we
took care to gather walnuts and hickory nuts, which were abundant. These,
with the turnips, which we scraped, supplied the place of fruit. T have al-
ways been partial to scraped turnips, and could now heat any three dandies
scraping them. Johnny-cake, also, when we had meal to make it, helped to
make up our evening’s repast. The Sunday morning biscuit had all evap-
orated, but the loss was partially supplied hy the turnips and nuts. Our regu-
lar supper was mush and milk, and by the time we had shelled our corn.
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stemmed tobacco, and plaited straw to make hats, etc., the mush and milk had
seemingly decamped from the neighborhood of our ribs. To relieve this
difficulty my brother and I would bake a thin Johnny-cake, part of which we
would eat, and leave the rest until morning. At daylight we would eat the
balance as we walked from the house to work.

“The methods of eating mush and milk were various. Some would sit
around the pot and everyone take therefrom for himself. Some would set
a table and each have his tin cup of milk, and with a pewter spoon take just
as much mush from the dish or pot, if it were on the table, as he thought
would fill his mouth. then, lowering it into the milk, would take some to wash
it down. This method kept the milk cool. Others would mix mush and
milk together.

“To get grinding done was a great difficulty, by reason of the scarcity
of mills, the freezes in winter, and drouths in summer. We had often to
manufacture meal., when we had corn, in any way we could get the corn to
pieces. We soaked and pounded it; we shaved it; we planed it; and at the
proper season, we grated it. When one of our neighbors got a hand mill, it
was thought quite an acquisition to the neighborhood. In after years, when
in time of freezing or drouth we could get grinding by waiting for our turn
no more than one day and a night at the horse mill, we thought ourselves
happv. To save meal, we often made pumpkin bread, in which, when meal
was scarce, the pumpkin would so predominate as to render it next to im-
possible to tell our bread from that article, either by taste, looks, or the
amount of nutriment it contained. Salt was five dollars per bushel, and we
used none in our corn bread, which we soon liked as well without it. Often
has the sweat run into my mouth, which tasted as fresh and flat as distilled
water. What meat we had at first was fresh, and but little of that, for had
we been hunters we had no time to practice it.

“We had no candles and cared but little about them, except for summer
use. In Carolina we had the real fat light wood—not merely pine knots,
but the fat, straight pine. This, from the brilliancy of our parlor of winter
evenings, might be supposed to put candles, lamps, etc., to blush. In the
\West we had not this, but my business was to ramble in the woods every
morning for the seasoned sticks, or the bark of the shelly hickory, for light.
'Tis true that our light was not even so good as candles, but we got along
without fretting. for we depended more upon the goodness of our eves than
we did upon the brilliancy of the light.”
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EARLY HABITS AND CUSTOMS.

In the matter of dress and furniture the early pioneer knew nothing
but the strictest simplicity. Every bit of food, all the dress and furniture
was manufactured and conceived at the home. The men raised their meager
crops, hunted the game in the forest, and drew the fish from the streams
while the women took care of the children, cooked, and spun the rough
clothes of homespun and linsey-woolsey. Animal skins, roughly cured,
formed a large part of the dress of the pioneer and the tails of fur-bearing
animals often served the purpose of my lady’s aigrettes today. Moccasins
formed the chief foot wear, being stuffed with dry leaves or hair in the
winter time to keep the feet warm.

Every cabin was fitted with loop-holes, bored at the height of a man’s
head. Block houses were constructed within a settlement and to these the
inhabitants gathered in time of danger from the Indians.

In the early day a wedding was the great social event of the year. It
was a signal for everybody to garh themselves in their best and meet. gen-
erally, at the cabin of the bride. The use of whiskey by the young men on
the way to the wedding, even the groom, was not uncommon; in fact, there
was a sport called the ‘“‘race for the bottle,” when a group of hot-bloods
would race their ponies through thickets and over hills and streams for a
bottle of rum. The winner got the liquor, but, of course, he had to ‘“treat”
the rest when he returned. The marriage ceremony over, the big feast came.
All kinds. of wild meats, vegetables, etc., loaded the table. Dinner over,
dancing began, consisting of reels, jigs and square sets. l.ater in the even-
ing a crowd of the young girls would assist the bride up the ladder to the
room above and see that she was put to bed properly. Later a bunch of
young men took the groom and saw to it that he was placed safely by the
side of his wife. Then they were left, but not forgotten, for in the progress
of the evening’s hilarity the bottle, or “‘Black Betty,” as it was called, was
passed up to them and they were obliged to partake. Iood in quantities
went up the ladder also and it was a serious breach of custom if the yvoung
couple did not pretend to eat anyway. The neighbors who were not invited
often stole to the corral where the horses were and clipped their manes, fore-
tops and tails in spite.

There was also a custom of ‘“settling” a young married couple. The
first day choppers would prepare the logs and clapboards for a new cabin.
Puncheons were shaved and sometimes the foundations were laid on the
evening of the first day. In the morning of the second day the neighbors
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collected for the raising of the house. Each man was assigned to a certain
duty and at a signal the work began, often being completed before nightfall.

Before the young couple were permitted to move into their new home,
there had to be a house-warming. This was, in other words, an all-night
dance. On the following day the bride and groom were left to themselves.

Thefts were uncommon among the settlers. When one did occur the
culprit was usually whipped and ordered to leave the community. Disputes
were usually settled by well-refereed fistic contests. Morality was high in
the early settlements, an offense being punishable by extreme methods in the
hands of the offended family. Tattling in the early day had a remedy which
could well be utilized in this day. A tattling woman was given the consent
to say as much as she pleased, but nobody believed her. She was said to be
harmless and she grew to be sort of an amusement.

MILLS AND MILLING.

Agriculture was the first great labor of the pioneer of Fayette county.
Hand in hand with this pursuit came the mills. Crude they were at first,
but they served their purpose. The block and pestle was the first contrivance
for the grinding of the grain. A block of hard wood was selected and, by
means of boring, hacking and burning, a depression was made in the block
having a capacity of about a pint. A rough pestle was made to fit into this
cavity and was worked by hand. The stone mill was the next step.
~ The first corn-cracker in the county was built by Jacob Coile in 1809 on
Sugar creck, in Union township. The Yeargon horse mill was constructed a
little later and perhaps the second corn-cracker in the county was put up by
Isaiah Pancoast on Deer creek in 1810, about a mile from Waterloo, close to
the county line between Fayette and Pickaway. It was made of solid bould-
ers with a hole drilled through. This primitive machine was subsequently
converted into a mill for grinding wheat, then into a fulling mill, next into a
woolen factory and later into a flouring mill. ‘

This unique structure consisted of an upright beam, or shaft, running
on pivots at both ends; passing through this, below at right angles, was an-
other shaft, about twenty feet long, at the end of which was attached a team
of horses, who walked in a circle as in our modern horse powers. At the
top of the upright shaft was attached a large wheel, which communicated its
motion by means of a rawhide belt to another wheel, which in turn worked
in a cog-wheel attached to the stones.

)
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These burrs, or stones, were generally made out of the native boulders
with holes drilled through them, roughly dressed, and running upon each
other, which ground the corn very coarse and left it with all the refuse ma-
terials accompanying it,” which were removed by means of a sieve, made by
taking the green hide of a deer, removing the hair, stretching it tightly over
a hoop and piercing it full of holes.

Bolting was done by hand, or rather the apparatus, which was a cloth
cylinder, turned with a crank, which it was expected the man or boy bringing
the grist to operate.

Before these mills were constructed, Springfield, Clifton and Chilli-
cothe were localities to which the settlers carried their grain to be ground.
Several neighbors would go together to make a full load, taking provisions
and forage, and make the journey in about ten days. Horse mills were soon
established at different points and hand mills were built. The hominy block
was another invention of the times; it was made by burning a hole in the end
of a block of wood. They pounded the corn in these mortars with a pestle.
The mills of early days ground very slowly. The settler went to mill very
early and remained late to get his sack of meal. The flour made in the
horse mills was like the brown, unbolted flour of the present. Thomas
Moon, Sr., erected the first flour and saw mill and the first distillery in the
county during the year 1810, upon a good site ten miles south of Washing-
ton C. H.

A third mill was built during the War of 1812 by Asa Davis, on main
Paint, two miles south of the county seat. A Mr. McDonald built a water
mill two miles north of the town in 1850 and later sold to Mr. Stafford. An
effort was made to establish a mill on main Paint, ten miles northwest of
town by Solomon Salmon; but the dam, being established on a bed of quick-
sand, continually broke away and prevented success. Still another water
mill was erected in Washington C. H. by Jesse Millikan. The saw mill was
in operation in 1817 and a year later a grist mill was operating. Millikan
died in 1836 and in about 1840 his son, Curren, applied steam power. A
water mill was built on Sugar creek, four miles south of town, with which a
distillery was connected. The mill was erected in 1820 by Adam Caylor.
There was also a horse mill erected by Mr. Dughan, three miles northwest of
Washington C. H., near Big run, prior to 1814. All of these mills were
soon superseded by steam and water power.
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TAVERNS.

The granting of licenses for keeping tavern was in accordance with a
territorial law passed by the first General Assembly of the Northwest terri-
tory, and approved December 6, 1800. By this law no person was permitted
to keep any tavern or public house of entertainment in any town, county or
place within the limits of the territory, unless first recommended by twelve
respectable freeholders of the county in which such house was to be kept.
All persons, except tavern or inn keepers, were forbidden under severe
penalties to sell liquor in small quantities.

The taverns of those days were very small, but very hospitable. One
room often served as sleeping quarters for all of the guests and the landlord
and family, also the domestic animals of the place. :

In the beginning of the year 1817, on motion of the common pleas
court, William Vaughan was granted a license to keep tavern at his house
in Madison township, one year, on complying with the law.

It is said that the first tavern in Fayette county was kept in 1810 by
William Harrison, on the then Parin lot, north of the court house, in an old
cabin. Another was kept on the Vandeman corner by John Torbin, in 1810
or 1812; Norman Jones, 1811 and 1812; Evans and sons on Court and
Fayette streets about 1816.

On December 18, 1817, John Evans and Nicholas Neely received licenses
to keep taverns in Washington C. H. In the following April, William
Rankin was allowed the same privilege at his residence in Paint township.
Also Joseph Parrott and Matthew Gillespie in the same township, and in
September, Sanford Corder, John Evans and Aaron Johnson started the
same business in Union township. Immediately following this Aaron John-
son was arrested for gambling, but plead not guilty.

As travel increased and improvements advanced, these unique places of
entertainment disappeared and with them a great deal of the old-fashioned
hospitality.

CORN HUSKINGS. ’

The festivity of corn husking was one of the most popular in pioneer
times. The whole assembly went into the fields and jerked the corn off the
stalks, throwing it into a pile until dinner. In the afternoon it was hauled
in. When the crop was all gathered preparations were made for a night’s
husking. The neighbors for miles around were invited in. Two captains

782653
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were chosen, who each selected an equal number of assistants. The pile was
then divided equally, by placing a pole in the center. When all was ready
“Black Betty” was passed around to get the proper spirit and work began
in good earnest, the object being to see who could husk out on his side of
the dividing line first. After many whiffs at the liquor the victorious party
placed the bottle in the hands of the captain, and two stout men would seize
him, one by each leg and, amid the shouts of “hoist the captain,” lift him up
and carry him over to the other party and, with swinging of hats and yells
of victory, parade him along the lines of the vanquished huskers. Then
“Old Betty” was again passed from mouth to mouth until all felt gloriously

happy.
HUNTING.

In the early times the rifle was found in every household, in the use of
which our forefathers were very familiar and were very careful in keeping
it in good working condition. Those who could afford it kept two rifles,
one for large game, carrying bullets about forty to the pound, and a smaller,
or squirrel rifle, running over one hundred and twenty to the pound. The
powder flask was made from the horn of an ox, boiled and scraped so thin as
to transmit the rays of light; a round block of wood fitted in the bottom and
a plug was inserted in the smaller end, with usually a buzzard’s quill for a
charger.

The territory watered by Deer, Paint, Rattlesnake, Sugar and Compton
creeks, now embraced in the limits of this county, when first settled abounded
in all kinds of game and had been for many years the favorite hunting
grounds of the Indians, and long after the white man's cabin was erected they
built their camps and followed the old trails over the white man's fences, and
through his tilled fields they stuck the trace in the woodlands.

There was an old Indian fort on the banks of Sugar creek, where the
red men would stop on their route from Fort Clark to Oldtown. Captain
Burnett, a Virginian and settler of 1810, said that parties of them, during
their yearly hunt, were in the habit of camping and resting awhile at the
old site vears after the white man came in.

Among the first hunters of note in this county was Jacob Alloway,
whose territory lay along the valleys of Paint and Compton creeks. Daniel
Grubs, moving from Virginia to Kentucky, came thence to Fayette and dwelt
on Glaze's run. The trees around bore marks for years of his presence.
Edmond Blearage, John Arnold, George and Samuel Viniger, James Stewart,
John Hase, David Baldwin, John Gest, and H. H. Harmer, were all men
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who made a specialty of hunting and were noted marksmen. George Rupert
claimed to have shot in one season one hundred and twenty deer, two bears,
wolves, and many of other game. George Roughner, a hater of Indians,
and a Virginian by birth, arrived in the Scioto valley in 1789. His father,
while serving under Dunmore in 1774 as a spy, was killed by the Indians,
so Roughner’s revenge extended to every exposed Indian. His hunting
grounds were on the Paint and Rattlesnake and he often met, at Cedar Pond
and Cliffs, the hunters from the Hocking and Kentucky. Finally, as a
volunteer under General Cass, he was slain by the Indians in 1813.

The Nimrod of old-time hunters was Frederick Berly. The forest was
his natural home. He loved solitude and lived a hermit. A camp fre-
quently used by him was on Sugar creek. From his record, it appears that
he had slain sixty bears, ninety-six panthers, one hundred and six wolves, one
thousand elk and deer, eleven buffaloes and ninety-six Indians. His comrades
in the chase were Boone, Kenton, Wetzel and others famous in history. At
the age of one hundred and one, he died in hi$ cabin on the banks of the
Mohican, where a monument was erected to his memory.

William Robinson, Fayette county’s first settler, was surrounded by a
multitude of game and in 1802 killed fifteen bears, three catamounts, fifteen
elk and one hundred deer. He was, on one occasion, hunting upon the head-
waters of the Rattlesnake, when a light noise behind him caught his ear.
Wheeling, he saw at a little distance an enormous panther following his
trail. It was the work of a moment to leap behind a large oak at hand, pick
his flint and cock his rifle. A failure to inflict a mortal wound was a prelude
to a terrible struggle and carefully the barrel of the gun was leveled as the
beast came near. He fired and as the ball struck the center of its head, the
panther fell lifeless to the ground. Its length was eleven feet and its height
thirty inches.

The number of deer slain in this county in the early days seems incredible.
In the winter of 181 5_-16 there fell a snow of sixteen inches, followed by rain
which froze and formed a crust. On this the boys and dogs could travel, but
which broke through beneath the deer. Every one turned deer hunter and
venison was sold in Washington C. H. at six cents a saddle, or two saddles
for a pound of lead or quarter pound of powder.

Wild turkeys abounded in the county till 1830. Their meat was whole-
some and preferred to bear or deer. Some weighed twenty pounds. Wolves
were dangerous only when famishing. They had here abundant food and
were never known to make an attack. The last wolf was killed in 1848 on
the waters of Sugar creek by Daniel Carmaen. Hogs ran at large and multi-
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plied rapidly. Hordes of them infested the woods. They had long tushes,
long and sharp head and nose and when aroused to anger were more to be
dreaded than any beast of the forest. They were swift of foot and ran like
hounds. Their favorite resorts were on the banks of Sugar creek, where
their nests were made in the jungles. Snakes were numerous. Of these
were rattlesnakes, black snakes, the garter, the spotted or “cabin” snake and
the copperheads.
EARLY MAILS.

Postal facilities were not so good in the early days, chiefly because of
the difficulty in transmitting the letters. The stamped envelope had not been
invented. The letter page was simply folded together securely and the ad-
dress written upon the back. Red sealing wax answered the purpose of
mucilage. In order to send this letter anywhere it was necessary to pay the
sum of twenty-five cents. Once every two weeks the blowing of a tin horn
announced the arrival of a dilapidated horse and rider, with a small mail-
bag containing the semi-monthly news.

PIGEON ROOSTS.

Beginning at the mouth of Sugar creek and extending down both banks
of Paint creek, about one and one-half miles, was a dense grove of cedar
trees, known throughout the county as the “Cedar Hole.” At these roosts
the pigeons congregated to breed and in some cases a single tree would hold
one hundred nests. The noise at night caused by the continual fluttering of
birds and cracking of overloaded branches could be heard quite a distance
and each morning, it is said, the ground was strewn with dead and wounded
birds, so that the pioneers in the vicinity were bountifully supplied. Samuel,
John and Frank \Waddle, Henry Snyder, William Blair and sons, Frank
McLaughlin, Jack Daugherty and all the neighbors for miles around visited
the spot at night, arriving about sunset as the pigeons began to come in. It is
said that the noise created by their arrival was almost equal to the roar of
a cataract, continuing for two or three hours, until they became so far settled
down as the breaking limbs would permit, when they knocked them off the
trees, wrung off their heads and turned them over to the housewife, who
cooked them in many styles.

SICKNESS.

In about the year 1817 a mill was built on the later site of the Milliken
mill and a high dam erected, which, during the wet season of the year, backed
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the water up and overflowed the adjacent lands, and when the rains ceased
and the waters dried up, produced great miasma and consequent sickness. In
time this grew to an alarming extent and threatened the depopulation of the
town. Doctors Hilton and McGara were confident that the cause arose from
the stagnant waters of the dam and the proprietors were requested to take it
down during the season of low water, from June until September, which
was accordingly done in about 1825 and the sickness almost wholly disap-
peared. It was taken down every year till about 1837, when, through care-
lessness, it remained up a year or two, and again the fever and ague mani-
fested themselves. The loss of many valuable citizens, among whom was the
owner of the mill, Jesse Milliken, rendered prompt action necessary, so the
administrator, Curren Milliken, was requested to remove it, but refused;
upon which action a number of citizens, among them Z. W. Heagler, Daniel
McLain, John C. Eastman, Arthur McArthur, L. D. Willard, David McLain
and Peter Wendell, proceeded to the spot with the necessary tools and de-
termined to remove the dam. They were met by the owner, at the head of
an equal number, equally as determined that it should remain. The forces
met in the center and in the struggle L. D. Willard slid down the slippery
bank into the mud and was nearly drowned. Curren Milliken finally pro-
posed to take it down if the other party would leave, to which they responded
that they came to tear it down and it should be done. After considerable
parleying and high words, Milliken agreed to take it away if they would
desist, which being complied with, the central portion was removed and the
parties withdrew.

Milliken immediately "went before the grand jury and had them all
indicted for riot. Whereupon the ‘“criminals” brought an action against
Milliken for keeping a public nuisance. The case was decided in their favor
and the court decreed that the dam should be completely destroved. Subse-
quently a race was constructed and a dam built farther north from the town.

One of the greatest scourges to the early settlers of Fayette county was
a disease known as milk-sick or trembles, which not only affected cattle,
sheep, hogs, horses and dogs, but the human family as well. Human beings
and stock would often be infected with the disease without any symptoms
manifested until brought into activity by certain conditions, when it would
suddenly develop itself with rapid and fatal effects. Stock driven until heated
would become sick of the disease if it had fastened upon them. Persons,
therefore, who wished to purchase stock, either for trade, service or butcher-
ing, took means to heat them up previously. According to the symptoms it
was given various names, such as sick stomach, swamp sickness, fires, slows,
stiff joints, puking fever, river sickness, etc. Vomiting, purging, extreme
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nervous agitation, constipation, low temperature of body, dry tongue and
skin, were some of the symptoms. Many theories were advanced as to its
origin. Some claimed that it was caused by lead held in solution by water;
some, that it was a weed, while others contended that it was a malarial epi-
demic. Among the first remembered cases of death was that of a Mr. Daw-
son, who died in 1816. His wife had been sick with it and finally died.
After this Mr. Dawson prepared to return to his home in Virginia and on his
way stopped at Harrison’s tavern in Washington C. H., where he sickened
and died. As late as 1879 a case of death from this malady was reported.

INCIDENTS.

The early history of Fayectte county is full of incidents of daring and
endurance. Edward Smith, Sr., entered lands on the banks of Paint creek,
known as the East fork, in the year 1810. He found his entry covered with
trees. A wigwam served as shelter by night. He made the accustomed
opening for a borderer, clearing up enough land for the starting of a crop.
The news of war declared caused him to lay aside the axe and take up his
rifle. Peace came and he returned to his home. One night, returning from
the county seat, he found the creek very high, but rode in fearlessly, was
thrown from his horse and drowned.

Thomas Moon, Sr., arrived in Green township, Fayette county, in 1810,
from Virginia. He was accompanied by his family of nine children and
settled on Rattlesnake creek, upon the dividing ridge. Finding a fine mill
site, he erected there the first grist mill, saw mill and distillery in the county.
Isaiah Pancoast, from Pennsylvania, removed to Fayette in 1810 and settled
on the west bank of Deer creek. He built a large log house, which had all
rooms in one. Opposite the house on the other bank of the stream was a
camp of Indians. The squaws often came over with venison to exchange for
meal. The Indians, having killed deer, threw the carcasses into the stream
above their camp and the watchful squaws pulled them out when they had
floated down. Pancoast passed the first season in a shelter made of wagon
covers stretched on poles, while he gave his chief attention to the planting
and raising of seven acres of corn. The daily fare was corn meal and game
from the woods. Wolves ran in large bands and the sheep had to be penned
at night for safety. Trading was done at Chillicothe. At this time there
were no settlements between Waterloo and Washington. The Indians moved
and left a pig behind. The animal came to Pancoast, who penned it and in
time it grew into a large porker. One day an Indian of the party called at
the house, was shown the pig, and told to do as he pleased with it. He killed
and dressed it, cut it in halves, and left one to Pancoast.
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A HERMIT.

Wild and lonely as were the forest wilds, distant and inaccessible as
were the various improvements, yet here, in the solemn silence of the wilder-
ness upon the west bank of Compton creek, dwelt a bold and fearless hunter.
In 1803 he came hither and built himself a cabin. He lined the interior
with skins of elk, bear and deer and made his garments from dressed deer-
skins. He owned many horses and cattle and when crowded by settlers and
stinted in game went westward for more room. He had seen service in Dun-
more’s campaign, had served in 1776, and, according to rumor, was killed in
the Black Hawk war of 1832. This hermit’s name was Nathan Hathaway.

DISTILLERIES.

In the early days it was thought that liquor was indispensable upon public
occasions of any kind or any social gathering. Liquor was thought to be
pure and harmless. The still of Solomon Sowards, started in 1824, eight
miles northwest from the county seat, seemed a great convenience to the
settlers. The customer brought his corn, had it ground, and exchanged the
meal for whiskey, or had his own meal stilled in the copper still, on shares.
On the occasion of an election for representative in 1823 parties were sent to
Caylor’s distillery for a barrel of whiskey, which was opened for general use
in Washington C. H.; tin cups were filled and emptied and by night there was
a general drunk. Such scenes were not uncommon. In almost every settle-
ment these copper stills were found, and corn, rye and peaches supplied ma-
terial for strong drink. The last still was erected in 1855, in Washington
C. H., on the later side of the woolen mill. The last copper still had been
in operation for a number of years on the farm of Joseph Orr, and was finally
sold as junk to J. W. Heagler, then a dealer in hardware and later recorder.
Heagler sent it to Columbus in 1849 and so ended the manufacture of whisky
in Fayette.

In those early days whiskey was sold as they hand letters from a post-
office. The bar was closed except a pigeon-hole, through which the customer
received his stimulant. One would step to the hole and ask for a gill, half-
pint or pint, these amounts being held by bottles behind the bar. The bottle
was handed through and with a pitcher of water and glasses the liquor was
consumed, the hottle returned, refilled, and ready for another. A gill cost
six cents and a half-pint a shilling.



CHAPTENK V.
COUNTY GOVERNMENT.

Counties, like states and nations, have a form of government peculiar
to themselves. Counties have rights that the state does not presume to in-
trude upon; states have rights that the Constitution of the republic does not
interfere with, providing such supposed rights, or legal enactments, do not
conflict with the rights of other commonwealths. The voters of a county are
supposed to dictate the policy of their section, under certain general forms
and restrictions of the state, and thus it is up to the people of a county to
govern themselves in a local sense. Some counties in our state have had
excellent systems, others have been questionable. Fayette county has been as
progressive, with the changes of time, as any county in the state. Her sys-
tem of keeping accounts has varied with the decades, but at present is provided
with a safe and correct method of bookkeeping. For the most part, the peo-
ple have elected good men to official positions, and when another type have
occasionally gotten into county office, they have been discarded as soon as
possible.

It will be the aim in this chapter to record some of the most important
transactions in governmental affairs, such as the acts of the board of county
commissioners, the various -institutions, care for the poor, the building of
court houses, jails, highways, etc. There will also be appended a list of
county and state officials, showing who have been at the head of different
departments here during the last century. It will be seen by the chapter on
“Organization” how the machinery of county government was first set in
motion and by what persons it was managed.

Unfortunately, the first court house, with most of the records of the
county for its first eighteen years, were totally destroyed by fire in 1828,
hence much concerning the first acts of the first set of county official has
forever been lost, save what is presented by tradition.

ROBBERIES.

The county has been unfortunate in having had three treasury robberies,
one under J. S. Bereman, treasurer, at an early day, when five thousand dol-
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lars was stolen by safe-breakers; a second entry of the county safe was under
Treasurer Robert Stewart, when about the same amount was taken and never
recovered. Again, under Treasurer A. E. Silcott, in February, 1864, the safe
was entered by a false key and four thousand seven hundred and forty-three
dollars stolen and this was never recovered. At the last robbery, it was dis-
covered that in his hurry to get away the burglar left his false key in the lock
of the safe, and it was shown by other circumstances that the robbery had
probably been committed by parties connected with the former robbery, who
had evidently preserved and used the same key to enter the safe with. Then
the county authorities secured a modern combination lock, since which time
there has been no money unlawfully taken from the safe of the treasurer.

EARLY COUNTY BILLS.

The county fathers nearly a hundred years ago were not spendthrifts,
but cut bills where they could, and were satisfied with simply what was abso-
lutely necessary to carry on the county government. As examples, the fol-
lowing is quoted from the records of James Henton, as published in the
Herald of May, 1834, which runs as follows:

Among the listed contingent items was that of Samuel Lydy, who was
paid ninety-nine dollars for “publishing list of forfeited lands, expenditures.
and notices, in 1833,” and he was also paid fifty-seven dollars “for publishing
delinquent lands in 1833, and notice to school clerks.” Three dollars and
sixty cents were paid for pasteboard, chair, etc.,, for use in the auditor’s
office. It will be seen that the amount of stationery and furniture required
in the county offices then was not in excess of what it should have been.

The account of Treasurer Benjamin Henton shows the total receipts for
that year to have been $8,845.19, including a balance on hand at the previous
June settlement, which was $1,368.72. The total disbursements for that
year were $6,083.88, leaving a balance in the treasury of $1,861.30. Among
the receipts was the item of $50 for tavern licenses in the county for 1833,
and also $215 for horse hire. Jesse Millikan was clerk of the courts then
and also served as postmaster in Washington, C. H.

THE FIRST COURT HOUSE.

Valentine, or “Felty,” Coil, while but two years old, was captured by the
Indians and taken to Canada. Coming to this county in its infancy, he found
use for his knowledge in making brick for the first court house and first brick
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building in the county. Early in 1813 excavations were made on the site
of the present court house and the clay taken out was burned into brick by
Coil and used in the building, which was completed and occupied as early as
March, 1814. The windows were composed of twenty-four lights, each ten
by twelve inches. The cupola was similar to that of the second court house,
although without a base. The location of the building was about twenty feet
west of the alley and twenty feet back from Court street. While it seems
that that building was in the main finished and occupied in 1814, yet it is
stated that two men by the names of Life and Burnett finished the cupola in
1815. It cannot be ascertained who built the house, but it is known that
Jacob Kelley and Silas Young, in addition to “Felty” Coil, were brick makers
and brick layers and resided in Washington at that time. In about the year
1828 this building burned down, involving the loss of nearly all the county
records. Court was then removed to a little brick office, occupied by Judge
Wade Loofborrow, situated in the rear of the present office of Doctor Sauls-
berry in the Brownell grocery building. From here it was next removed to a
house later owned by Mrs. R. A, Robison, Jr., where it was held until a new
court house was built.

THE SECOND COURT HOUSE.

On the first day of February, 1828, the board of commissioners, then
consis.ting of Jacob Jamison, Thomas Burnett and Matthew Jones, met for
the purpose of entering into negotiations for the erection of a new court
house. Together with other citizens, the brick walls of the old building, yet
remaining, were examined and, after consulting mechanics and masons, the
board decided that they were not worth repairing. On the following day
the board agreed to build a new court house with fireproof offices attached
for the clerk of the court, recorder and auditor. The clerk of the board,
Norman Jones, was instructed to draft a plan for the new building and the
auditor was ordered to give notice that the commissioners would meet on
the sth day of March, following, to receive bids. The auditor was also
authorized to sell the brick in the old walls to the highest bidder.

On February 23d the board met to select a location for the new house,
which resulted in their choosing the southeast corner of the public square, the
main building and offices fronting on Court and Main streets. It was ordered
that a draft be made of the contemplated structure, the main building to be
forty feet square, with a wing thirty feet long and fourteen feet wide at-
tached, facing each street. On the day appointed, March sth, the board met

| S
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to receive the bids and award the contract. Thomas Laughead, of Ross
county, was the successful bidder, with a bid of one thousand three hundred
eighty dollars and ninety cents. The carpenter work went to John Harbi-
son, of Greene county, for one thousand three hundred seventy-two dollars
and forty cents. On March 4, 1829, one year after the awarding of the
above contracts, the house was ready for the inside work, the contract for
which was awarded to John Harbison for six hundred eighty-nine dollars
and sixty-seven cents.

The floor of the lower story was laid of white or burr oak, one and a
half inches thick and seven inches wide. The upper was of yellow poplar. A
washboard of good seasoned walnut, one and a quarter inches thick and
eight inches wide, surrounded the floor of the lower story. The fire-places
were of brick, with hearth of same. A handsome chair-board of walnut
extended around the lower wall. In the smallest office, on Court street, there
were three plain fire boards in the lower floor.

The contract for the plastering was given to Silas Young for three hun-
dred and twenty-nine dollars and on December 8th, the same vear, the work
was completed, examined by the commissioners and accepted. On April 10,
1830, the inside work was examined and accepted by the board and the bal-
ance paid. This was the date of the finishing of the court house, although
it had been used previously. On June g, 1836, Daniel McLean was ordered
to purchase a bell for the court house, at any sum not to exceed one hundred
dollars. At different times afterward repairs were made on the building
and improvements added. _

In 1844 a county auditor’s office, also a treasurer’s, were built on the
Court street side. William Harfor was the contractor. Extensive repairs
were made in 1846, consisting of girders, flooring, plastering, and painting
of the outside in Venetian red. In 1848 an addition was made on the north-
west side also, twelve by thirty feet in size.

THE PRESENT COURT HOUSE.

The first mention made of attempting to prepare for the erection of the
present magnificent temple of justice for Fayette county was an item found
in the Herald, dated March, 1881, which spoke of the county commissioners
having decided to put it to a vote of the people of the county, at an election
to be held April 4th, that year. The propositions up were: “Shall we build
a court house by tax, and shall we build a jail by tax?” The county board
then consisted of Joshua Mahan, R. S. Sutherland and W. J. Horney.
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The records show that a contract was awarded, August 3, 1882, to J.
North Bros. & Lichtenberger, under architects D. W. Gibbs & Company, of
Toledo, Ohio, to construct a court house, the same being the present sub-
stantial and beautiful temple of justice. The contract price was originally
eighty-five thousand eight hundred and fifty dollars, and the structure was to
be completed by September 1, 1884. To this were added changes and in-
_ternal improvements, fixtures and furniture, etc., totalling about one hun-
dred and forty thousand dollars for the property, as it now stands. It is its
own best monument and record, for doubtless unborn generations will yet use
it to transact the business of [Fayette county in. When erected, thirty-one
years ago, it was looked upon as among the finest, modern court houses in
Ohio. Age has told somewhat on it, yet it is in good condition today. Re-
cently, it has had its outer walls thoroughly cleaned, making the stone work
look as good as new. A town clock adorns and makes useful its splendid
tower. It is a high three-story structure. A hot-water heating plant was
contracted for in 1903, and cost one thousand five hundred dollars; at the
same date another contractor placed in the jail a similar one, costing two
hundred and ninety-five dollars.

COUNTY JAILS.

-

It is recorded that an old dry well served as the first jail in Fayette
county.

The first jail built at Washington C. H. was located near the present one,
about sixty feet from Main street and about thirty feet southeast of the alley
running along the northwest side of the old public square. The jail con-
sisted of two square pens, one inside the other, the intervening space of per-
haps one foot between the walls being filled in with stone, the outer wall being
about twenty-four feet square. It was built of hewed logs, was two stories
high, and was erected about 1811 or 1812. At the east corner a door opened
into a hallway six feet wide that extended along the northeast side of the
building to the north corner. About five or six feet from the entrance to this
hall a stairway led to the “debtor’s room” above. The room below was
about twelve by eighteen feet and was called the criminal cell, or dungeon.
This jail was burned in 1823 by an incendiary, and the sheriff’s dwelling, a
small frame structure contiguous to the jail, was also destroyed at the same
time, with all the household goods of Sheriff Robinson, save a deer-hide
trunk, containing some of the clothing helonging to his deceased wife.

In 1825 a new jail was built on the same square, a little nearer the alley
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and also closer to Main street. This was a two-story brick building, twenty-
five feet square, and was arranged inside similar to the old log jail. The
walls of this jail were only thirteen inches thick and several prisoners escaped
while it was in use. On December g, 1835, the auditor was ordered to offer
the old jail for sale on the 15th of the following June, except such material
as the board might reserve.

On January 15, 1836, at a meeting of the board, it was decided that, for
lack of funds, the old jail should be repaired instead of building a new one.
New walls of bricks were to be built, the same height as the old ones, also one
dungeon and one prison room, and the whole building to undergo repairs,
the contract for which was let to Benjamin A. Crone for three hundred and
fifty dollars. On the 27th of the following August the work was reported
completed.

This jail was used until September 16, 1839, when public notice was
given that a new jail was to be constructed, located on the public square,
forty-four feet front, thirty-five feet back, and two stories high, with all the
necessary cells and other fixtures for the confinement and accommodation of
prisoners, all of which work was to be done by Edward Lamme for forty-
seven hundred dollars, who entered into bond for the faithful performance of
the same. After the walls were up the carpenter work was begun by Benja-
min A. Crone, who was to complete the same for one thousand dollars. On
August 25, 1841, the commissioners accepted the jail, after a careful examina-
tion of the work.

The present jail and sheriff’'s residence was erected by the same con-
tractors who constructed the present court house. It was built in 1882-3, at
a cost of twenty thousand dollars for the structure, to which were added in-
terior expenses from time to time. It is an excellent building, standing on the
corner of the public square, near the court house.

PUBLIC DRINKING FOUNTAIN.

On the corner of the court house square is situated a handsome publio
drinking fountain, constructed of gray granite at much expense. It was
placed there, handy to the passer-by, in 1896, by Mrs. Morris Sharp. It
bears the inscription upon its large square metal tablet, facing the court house,
the words: “Presented to the City of Washington Court House and Fay-
ette County, by Madeline Baker Sharp, in Memory of Her Husband, Morris
Sharp, who Died February 11, 1905. Erected 1906.”

Tens of thousands of passers-by have already slaked their thirst from
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the waters of this artistic fountain, and it will doubtless stand many years as
a perpetual reminder of, and as a truly befitting memorial to, one of the
honored sons of Fayette county.

Mr. Sharp, for whom this was erected as a memorial, was a prominent
business man and a banker.

THE FIRST COUNTY “SAFE.”

Odd as it may seem to the reader of today, when time locks and fire-
proof, burglar-proof safes are found in every county in the country, at the
time when County Treasurer Heagler took the office in 1838, the county safe
consisted of a tin box, six inches in depth, by four inches wide and a foot
long. It was fastened with a tin clasp and brass pad-lock. This “safe” held
the paper money, while the coin, amounting to about two hundred dollars, was
placed in a shot bag. The “office” consisted of a mere room. The official
papers were kept in a sealed half-bushel measure. The books were three in
number and had thin paste-board covers. The room had no desk, table or
stationery. In fact, the treasurer did his county business largely at his private
residence. He received four hundred and fifty dollars per year salary.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE COUNTY INFIRMARY.

The early residents of this state were in the habit of providing for the
wants of the poor and destitute in the following manner. When application
for the keeping of a person in poor circumstances was made to the township
trustees, they bound him for a certain term to the lowest bidder, who was
required to give bond for the faithful discharge of his duty, feeding, clothing
and properly caring for his charge. Thus were the poor well cared for in
the early days.

Later an act was passed by the Legislature of Ohio, providing for the
“establishment of county poor houses.” Any county having within her limits
a sufficient number of paupers was empowered to purchase grounds and erect
suitable buildings thereon, to which all the infirm and needy were to be ad-
mitted. For the period of nearly fifty vears after its organization Fayette
county had no public institution in which she could care for her infirm, but
provided for them through her township trustees. In about 1850 philan-
thropic citizens agitated the erection of buildings for this purpose and in
1853 the board of county commissioners were induced to take the matter
under advisement. On June 7, 1853, they resolved to erect an institution of
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this character and purchase a tract of land for the same. On the same day
Hopkins Shivers, in consideration of three thousand five hundred eighty-
seven dollars and fifty cents, deeded to Jacob A. Rankin, Robert Eyre and
Micajah Draper, commissioners, for the purpose of a poor house, a tract of
land. It is not certain whether steps were immediately taken to construct
buildings on the deeded land. On Christmas day, 1854, the board examined
the woodwork of the building being erected and were satisfied. On May 16,
1855, the plastering was looked over in the same manner. A report for the
year ending June 1, 1855, showed the institution in operation, with seven
inmates.
THE FAYETTE COUNTY CHILDREN'S HOME.

This institution was founded, under the laws of Ohio, in June, 1885, on
a hundred-acre tract of land hequeathed by Peter Carder. The administra-
tion building was completed in October, 1886. In 1900 thirty-four acres
more land were added, and the donation of ten thousand dollars by a wealthy
farmer named Jesse Johnson, from the east part of the county, materially
aided in making the excellent improvements there found today. This dona-
tion was provided for in Mr. Johnson’s will in 1896. Fifty-three acres were
then added, making a total of one hundred and eighty acres in the place. It
is all valuable land.

CARDER INFIRMARY,

Peter Carder, an old resident of this county and owner of an immense
old estate, upon being informed of the necessity of a new poor farm, con-
ceived the idea of donating a portion of his estate to the county for infirmary
purposes. In the year 1863, shortly before his death, he bequeathed to the
county five hundred and seven acres of his estate, as a home for the poor.
After his death, his widow objected to the provisions of the will, and several
years passed before the matter was compromised. The county, in 1867, by
its agents, William Clark, William Jones and Allen Heagler, began the erec-
tion of the new building. The foundations were laid in the summer of the
same year and by 1869, the work was fully completed. On July 7, 1369, the
inmates of the old building, forty-seven in number, were admitted to the new
infirmary. This institution was located on the Columbus pike, two miles
northeast from Washington C. H. It is a four-storied structure, including
basement and attic, and contains many modern conveniences. The govern-
ment of the institution is vested in a board of directors and a superintendent
appointed by them.

(8)
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The last report of the condition of the county infirmary, made by the
auditor of Fayette county, in September, 1914, shows the following: The
total cost of maintaining the unfortunate poor during the year ending
September 1st, was seven thousand five hundred seventeen dollars and fifty-
seven cents, but this did not take into account the amount of produce raised
on the county farm, as the harvest was not yet gathered and its value obtain-
able at that date. Then there is the additional expense of keeping certain
persons, or partly maintaining them, outside the infirmary, which sum
amounted to two thousand four hundred twenty-six dollars and eighty-six
cents, making a grand total of nine thousand nine hundred forty-four dol-
lars and forty-three cents, less the amount raised on the county farm. On
September 1, 1914, there were forty persons, twenty-six men and fourteen
women inmates. There were fourteen admitted during the last fiscal year.
Total number supported during the year, fifty-four, thirty-six male and
eighteen females. Five died during the last vear and eight were discharged,
making the present number of inmates forty-one, thirty of whom are men.

The average cost of keeping the inmates of the Children’s Home was
one hundred sixty-six dollars and one cent each, and the average number in
the home was thirty-six.

During the year ending, September 1, 1914, five hundred and twenty-
nine dollars was paid to old soldiers, sailors and marines, and three thousand
three hundred and sixty-seven dollars to wives and widows, making a total
of three thousand eight hundred and ninety-six dollars.

COUNTY ROADS—THE PIKE SYSTEM.

In the matter of highways, Fayette county has for many years been in
the forefront in its improvements of the public roads. Its citizens long
years ago decided that good road-making was the wisest policy to pursue.
These highways have cost hundreds of thousands of dollars, but the money
was well expended. These roads have been the means of increasing the
general value of farming lands throughout the county, and have been a
pleasure to the tax-payer, as he has traveled from one township to another.
In August, 19oo, the records of the county disclose the fact that there were
then two hundred and seventy-eight miles of pike roads in Fayette county,
divided in the various townships as follows: Union township, forty-nine
miles; Jefferson township, forty-seven miles; Perry township, eighteen miles;
Madison township, twenty-eight miles; Marion township, eighteen miles;

. Jasper township, thirty miles; Paint township, thirty-seven miles; Green town-
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ship, fifteen miles; Concord township, nineteen miles, and Wayne township,
seventeen miles. At present it is believed that there are upwards of four
hundred miles of pike (or its equivalent) in Fayette county, and more is being
annually contracted for.

COUNTY FINANCES.

An up-to-date county history should make some mention of the financial
condition of the county in question, and we know of no better method than
to give some account of early-day finances and values and then, in contrast,
give the present showing as found in the county records and reports of 1914,
which will here follow :

In 1837, or seventy-seven years ago, the record shows that the number
of acres of land in the county was 236,265 ; value of same, including houses,
$356,212; value of town lots, including buildings, $33,258; number of horses,
3.563, valued at $142,600; number of cattle, 5,753, valued at $46,024; mer-
chants’ capital and money at interest, $35,737; number of pleasure carriages,
27, valued at $1,779 (price of a modern automobile). The tax on physicians
and lawyers was $24 ; total amount of taxables, $615,580; amount of tax paid
into the state treasury, $7,397.

In 1838 George Mantle, Samuel Sollars and James Kirkpatrick, surplus
revenue fund commissioners, published a statement in the local newspapers,
relative to the funds as used by the county. The total amount received thereof
from the state was $14,485, and it was loaned to individuals at the rate of
seven per cent. on personal security.

It is an historic fact that in 1835 the United States was out of debt, a
thing that has only occurred once in her history as a republic. The funds
in the national treasury then increased and rapidly accumulated in excess of
the expenditures.

The subjoined is a brief summary of the present standing of finances
in and for Fayette county as per auditor’s report for the fiscal year 1913:

The county has but a small outstanding warrant debt, and had on hand
August 31, 1913, cash to the amount of $74,748.79.

The total receipts of the county for the year was $222,123.37.

Among the expenditures and disbursements were the following items:
State expenses, $16,481.14; local school districts, $112,395.91; Children’s
Home school, $55.39; townships, $43,041.91; cities and villages (schools),
$49,719.54; examination of municipalities, $133.87; examination of district
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schools, $66.30; examination of townships, $44.60; total expenditures,
$222,063.26.

Among the detailed items of county expenses are found these: For
charitable purposes and support of the poor, a total of $22,680.37. Of this
total amount there were items as follows: For Children’s Home, $5,264.95 ;
relief for indigent blind persons within the county, $3,049.50; for care, treat-
ment and burial of tuberculosis cases, $300.94. For court of common pleas
expenses, $4,443.16. Total cost of criminals to county, $1,715.05. Total
expended in the locating and construction of ditches, $13,697.27.

It will be seen that much of the tax money goes, as it should, for educa-
tion. Next comes the expenses connected with the great drainage ditches
of the county, by which lands once of but slight value for agriculture have
become the most fertile and valuable of any in the county, now so well known
as one of Ohio’s banner agricultural counties.




CHAPTER VL
COUNTY, STATE AND NATIONAL REPRESENTATION.

There is, perhaps, no better way to indicate the political complexion of
Fayette county than to show who was elected here for the various offices,
county, state and national, from the early days in the county to the present
date, as nearly as can be found by a careful search of the records. In this
will be found a list of the governors, Presidents (with vote where it has been
preserved), the county officers, etc., including the judges and justices of the
peace of today.

PRESIDENTIAL VOTE IN FAYETTE COUNTY.

In recent years the presidential vote in Fayette county has been as
follows : _

1880—James A. Garfield had a majority over General Hancock of 719.

1884—James G. Blaine had 3,171 votes; Cleveland had 2,111.

1888—Benjamin Harrison had 2,313 votes and Cleveland had 2,191.

1892—Benjamin Harrison had 2,838 and Cleveland had 1,989.

1896—William McKinley had 3,559 votes and W. J. Bryan had 2,739.

19o0—William McKinley had 3,380 votes and W. J. Bryan had 2,438.

1904—Theodore Roosevelt had 3,331 and Judge Alton G. Parker, 1,880.

1908—William H. Taft, 3,343; W. J. Bryan, 2,45I.

1912—William H. Taft, 2,193; Theodore Roosevelt, 837; Woodrow
Wilson, 2,287.

POLITICS OF THE COUNTY.

In 1824 the Whigs and Democrats appointed meetings at Washington
C. H. the same day and evening. One was to be held at Hamilton’s corner
and the other at the court house corner, and both political parties had secured
all the anvils in the villages with which to fire salutes. A party with an ox-
cart loaded up all these anvils and hauled them to the bank of Paint creek
and dumped them over into the stream, near the present iron bridge. This
general disarmament prevented them from having the occasion enlivened by
“cannon,” as these anvils when fired much reminded the old soldier and
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militiamen of real cannon.
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But instead came the curses long and loud of

both parties. Later the blacksmiths had to fish up their anvils, while others
looked on and smiled. Then Fayette county was about half Democratic,
and continued so till 1840, after which the Whig and Republicans held, and
have ever since held, the balance of power.

STATE SENATORS.

The following served as state senators, representing Fayette and other
counties which have been in the same senatorial district, since 1810:

1811—]James Dunlap.
—Duncan McArthur.

1812—G. W. Barrere.
1813—G. W. Barrere.
1814—G. W. Barrere.
1815—Sam Evans.
1816—Sam Evans.
1817—Allen Trimble.
1818—Allen Trimble.
1819—Allen Trimble.
1820—Allen Trimble.
1821—Allen Trimble.
1822—Allen Trimble.
1823—Allen Trimble.
1824—Allen Trimble.
1825——Allen Trimble.
1826—]John Jones.
1827—John Jones.
1828—]John Jones.
182g—M. Crothers.
1830—M. Crothers.
1831—M. Crothers.
1832—M. Crothers.
1833—]. J. McDowell.
1834—]J. J. McDowell.
1835—J. J. McDowell.
1836—Tacob Kirby.

- —7J. Arbuckle.

1837—]. Arbuckle.
1838—Aaron Harlan.
1839—Aaron Harlan.
1840—No record.
1841—W. Robbins.
1842—W. Robbins.
1843—]. M. Barrere.
1844—]. M. Barrere.
1845—B. Martin.
1846—B. Martin.
1847—Franklin Corwin.
1848—Franklin Corwin.
1849—Ruel Beeson.
1850—Ruel Beeson.
1852—John Fudge.
1854—Isaac S. Wright.
1856—Nelson Rush.
1858—]. J. Winans.
1860—John Q. Smith.
1862—Mills Gardner.
1864—John F. Patton.
1866—A. W. Doan.
1868—S. N. Yoeman.
1870—M. D. Gatch.
1860—John Q. Smith.
1874—S. N. Yoeman.
1876—-A. Spangler.
1878—-Thomas S. Jackson.
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1880—A. R. Creamer. 1898—Byron Lutz.

1882—Coats Kinney. 19o0—Arthur W. Madden.
1884—]Jesse N. Oren. . 1902-—Thomas M. Watts,
1886—Madison Pavey. 1904—James G. Carson.
1888—Isaac S. Barrett. 1906—F. C. Arbenz. .
1890—John N. Oren. 1908—Doctor Holdren.

1892—F. G. Carpenter. 1910—C. L. Doster.

1894—John M. Hughesy. - 1911—M. A. Broadstone.

1896—Charles F. Howard.

STATE REPRESENTATIVES.

1812—Joseph Hopkins. 1839—Batteal Harrison.
1813—Samuel Myers. 1840—Reese, Carothers and Smith.
1814—James Crothers. 1841—Reese, Carothers and Smith.
1815—Thomas McDonald. 1842—Robert Robinson.
1816—James Crothers, 1843—Means and Martin.
1817—James Crothers. 1844—Robert Dobbins.
1818—Samuel Myers. 1845—Stephen Evans.
1819—James Crothers. 1846—F. Corwin.
1820—Benjamin Hinton. 1847—James Carothers.
1821—James Crothers. 1848—Hugh Smart.
1822—Robert Robinson. 1849—]Jacob T. Pugsley.
1823—Robert Robinson. 1850—Otto Williams.
1824—Batteal Harrison. 1852—Nelson Rush.
1825—Thomas McGarraugh. * 1854—]. J. Worthington.
1826—Thomas McGarraugh. 1856—W. H. Latham.
1827—Thomas McGarraugh. 1858—R. M. Briggs.
1828—Batteal Harrison. 1860—Sam F. Kerr.
1829—Thomas McGarraugh. 1862—James Purcell.
1830—William Palmer. 1864—James Purcell.
1831—T. McGarraugh. 1866—Mills Gardner.
1832—]. J. McDowell. 1868—S. F. Kerr.
1833—S. F. Yoeman. 1870-—M. J. Williams.
1834—Jacob Kirby. 1872—M. J. Williams.
1835—David Reese. 1874—]. L. Myers.
1836—B. Harrison. 1876—William Millikan.
1837—B. Harrison. 1878—M. S. Creamer.

1838—W. H. Creighton. 1880—William Millikan.
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1882-86— H. L. Hadley. 1902-06—]J. Madison Willis.
1886-g0—David 1. Worthington. 1906-08—Dr. L. M. McFadden.
1890-9g4—H. M. Daugherty. 1908-10—Dr. L. M. McFadden.
1894-98—Charles W. Gray. 1910-12—C. A. Reid.
1898-02—Reuben Rankin. 1912-14—C. A. Reid.

PRESIDING JUDGES.

Before the constitution of 1851 the Ohio judicial system provided for
a presiding judge and associate judges, who later, after the adoption of the
new constitution, were called common pleas judges. The following served
as presiding judges:

1810—John Thompson. 1829-33—Frederick Grinke.
1818—Orris Parish. 1834-42—]. W. Price.
1816-23—]John Thompson. 1843-47—0. T. Fishback.
1824-28—Gustavus Swan. 1848-50—S. F. Norris.

ASSOCIATE JUDGES.

1810-16—Henry Snyder, William Blackmore and James Mooney.
1817-18—Thomas McGarraugh, Batteal Harrison and James Mooney.
1819-23—Batteal Harrison, James Mooney and Thomas McGarraugh.
1824-27—Thomas McGarraugh, Wade Loofborrow and Joseph L. Gil-
lespie.
1828-30—Joseph L. Gillespie, James Carothers and James B. Webster.
1831-33-—]James Carothers, James B. Webster and Jacob Jamison.
1834-42—Jacob Jamison, James Carothers and James Sharp.
1843—]Joel S. Bereman, Jacob Jamison and James Carothers.
1844-46—James Carothers, Jacob Jamison and Daniel McLean.
1847—James Carothers, Daniel McLean and James Manery.
1848-50—Samuel F. Yoeman, Daniel McLean and James Manery.
1851—James Manery, Daniel McLean and James Beatty.

COMMON PLEAS JUDGES.

1852-54—James S. Bates, Shepard F. Norris and John L. Green.
1855-56—James L. Bates.

1857—J]ames Sloane.

1858—A. S. Dickey and Shepard F. Norris.
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1859-60—Robert M. Briggs and James L. Bates.
1861-—A. S. Dickey, James L. Bates and T. Q. Ashburn.
1862-64—Robert M. Briggs and Alfred S. Dickey. .
1865-68—Alfred S. Dickey.

1869-71—W. H. Stafford and A. S. Dickey.

1872—S. F. Steele and W. H. Stafford.

1873—Joseph Olds and S. F. Steele.

1874—T. M. Gray and S. F. Steele.

1875—T. M. Gray and S. W. Courtright.
1876-77—]John Vanmeter and Thadeus R. Minshall.
1878-79—S. F. Steele and T. R. Minshall.
1880-81—S. F. Steele and Asa Gregg.

1884—T. A. Minchall, H. H. Huggins and Ace Gregg.
1886—W. E. Evans, I1. H. Huggins and Ace Gregg.
1887—H. H. Huggins, W. E. Evans.

18&go—William E. Evans, H. H. Huggins.

181-—--H. H. Huggins, C. Newby and William E. Evans.
1893—C. Newby.

1895—H. B. Maynard.

1896—H. B. Maynard.

19oo—F. Walters.

1903—-S. W. Durflinger, W. H. Wiggins.
19o4—Charles Dershbach.

1906—Cyrus Newby, O. H. Sams.

1908 —]. W. Goldsberry, F. G. Carpenter.

1910—C. Curtin, Charles Dresbach.

1912—-H. F. Morrow, Cyrus Newby.

COUNTY AUDITORS.

1824—Norman F. Jones. 1870-73—Abel McCandles.
1828-33—Norman F. Jones. 1873-77—James P. Robinson.
1833-41—James Hinton. 1877-80—Thomas J. Lindsey.
1841-42—Jared Plumb. 1880-86—James P. Robinson.
1842-50—James Pursell. 1886-1900—T. ]. Lindsey.
1850-58—Henry Robinson. 1900-04—John Craig.
1858-61—John Sanders. 1904-08—H. D. Chafin.

1861-70—James P. Robinson. 1908-12—A. E. Henkle.
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COUNTY RECORDERS.

1810-31—Jesse Milliken.
1831-33—Robert Robinson.
1833-35—Samuel Millikan.

1835-37—Samuel Loofborrow.

1837-38—Samuel F. Kerr.
1838-39—S. F. Loofborrow.
1839-43—Samuel Millikan.
1843-53—Nelson Rush.
1853-61—John Douglass.

1861-64—N. B. Coons.
1864-66—Joseph C. Plumb.
1866-81—Z. W. Heagler.
1882-92—]. R. Sutherland.
1892-9g6—H. V. Rodgers.
1896-02—]. A. Dick.
1902-10—]J. M. Sturgeon.
1910-14—T. E. B. Brown.

COUNTY TREASURERS.

1828-36—Benjamin Hiinton.
1836-39—]James Webster.
1839-50—Z. W. Heagler.
1850-54—W. McElwain.
1854-57—Jesse Burnett.
1857-56—Robert Stewart.
1859-60—William McElwain.
‘1860-61—Richard Tarokes.
1861-62—]. S. Bereman.
1862-66—A. T. Silcott.
1866-70—A. C. Johnson.
1870-72—]. W. Sayre.

1872-76—Eli Craig.
1876-78—C. Garis.
1878-82—Eli Craig.
1882-86—L. W. Rowe.
1886-9o—James F. Cook.
1890-94—E. W. Welsheimer,
1894-98—G. W. Patton.
1898-02—Samuel Cockerill.
1902-06—John Anders.
1906-11—P. E. Rothrock.
1911-14—R. S. Quinn.

CLERKS OF THE COURT.

1810-35—Jesse Millikan.
1835-42—Joseph Bell.
1842-44—Elam Hinton.
1844-50—Samuel Millikan.
1850-54—]. S. Bereman.
1854-67—Richard Millikan.
1867-75—Mason Blanchard.

1875-76—Joseph C. Plumb,

1876-87—Elmer W. Welsheimer.

1887-96—Frank M. Allen.
1896-02—O0. D. Smith.
1902-08—E. J. Light.
1908-12—G. H. Hitchcock.
1912-14—E. W. Durflinger.
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SHERIFFS.

1810-12—Mr. Clark.
1812-22—Robert Robinson,
N. F. Jones.
1822-28—Aaron Johnson.
1828-32—Joseph Bloomer.
1832-3¢—W. S. Williams.
1834-43—Joseph Bloomer.
1843-44—Robert Cissna.
1844-48—Joel S. Bereman.
1848-51—James Vance.
1851-55—John C. Jones.
1855-56—William H. Blakemore.
1856-61—William Burnett.
1861-65—William Smith,

1865-69—James Starley.

.1869-73—Conrad Garis.

1873-77—John Millikan.
1877-81—Oswell Smith.
1881-84—James Cook.
1884-88—A. B. Rankin.
1888-94—George W. Patton.
1894-96—Solomon Loofborrow.
1896-1900—S. O. Wilson.
1900-04—S. C. Phillips.
1904-08—John A. McLain, Jr.
1908-12—Samuel Nelson.
1912-14—O0. S. Nelson.

PROBATE JUDGES

1852-56—S. F. Kerr,
1856-65—L. D. Williard.
1865-68—Manfred Williard.
1868-71—S. B. Yoeman.
1871-82—]. B. Priddy.
1882-88—Thomas N. Craig.

1888-96—T. D. McElwain.
1896-02—H. M. Blessing.
1902-08—]. L. Zimmerman.
1908-12—A. C. Patton.
1912-14—Rell G. Allen.

PROSECUTING ATTORNEYS.

1810-18—Wade Loofborrow.
1818-19—Samuel Buck.
1819-22—Wade Loofborrow.
1822-23—Benjamin G. Leonard.
1823-24—Wade Loofborrow.
1824-27—Benjamin G. Leonard.
1827-31—Wade Loofborrow.
1831-33—H. Phelps.
1833-34—Wade Loofborrow.
1834-35—Robert Robinson.
1835-42—Col. S. F. Kerr.

1843-47—Bereman Martin.
1847-52—Nelson Rush.
1852-54—David M. Jones.
1854-56—Robert M. Briggs.
1856-60—Mills Gardner.
1860-62—M. Williams.
1862-64—M. Pavey.
1866-68—M. Williams,
1868-70—]. B. Priddy.
1870-72—H. B. Maynard.
1872-74—M. Pavey.
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1874-80—A. R. Creamer. 1896-02—Charles A. Reed.
1880-82—Ace Gregg. 1902-08—E. L. Bush,
1882-84—Frank Carpenter. 1908-10—P. Gregg.
1884-92—Robert C. Miller. 1910-12—Thomas S. Maddox.

1892-96—Nye Gregg.
CORONERS.

Since 1880 the county coroners have successively been Samuel Hooker,
T. H. Knott, S. C. Roberts, L. F. House, J. M. Edwards, E. M. Burgess, T.
J. Grove, S. E. Boggs and L. P. Howell.

COUNTY SURVEYORS.

Since 188c—T. M. Perdue, F. M. Kennedy, D. R. Jacobs and Thomas
J. Groves.
COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

This office was created by the Ohio Legislature in 1913 and Frank M.
Allen was the first to hold such office in Fayette county, having been elected
in 1914.

DISTRICT ASSESSOR.

This is another new office created in Ohio in 1913, and J. C. Dunn was
the first to hold the office. His headquarters are in the basement of the court
house. He has charge of the fourteen deputy assessors in the county. The
office is one of much importance to taxpayers. Already this officer has dis-
covered much more property that has not been taxed for a third of a century,
the taxes on which is enough to pay his salary a long time. In the state there
will be millions of dollars of taxes brought to light and paid through this
new system.

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

This office was created by act of the General Assembly of Ohio, Febru-
ary 14. 1804. and stands substantially as it was first made.

1810—]Jacob Jamison, James Brooks and John Harrold.

(Owing to loss of records those down to 1828 cannot be given.)

1828—Thomas Burnett, Jacob Jamison and Mathew Jones.

182g—Jacob Jamison, Mathew Jones and James Woods.

1830—Jacob Jamison, David Creamer and Joseph Parrott.
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1831-—Samuel Sellers, David Creamer and Joseph Parrott.
1832-33—>Samuel Sellers, Merit Jamison and John Stilt.
1834—John Stilt, Samuel Sellers and James Kirkpatrick.
1835-36—Samuel Sellers, James Kirkpatrick and George Mantle.
1837—Samuel Sellers, George Mantle and Isaac Jenkins.
1838—Isaac Jenkins, Merit Johnson and Samuel Sellers.
1839—Merit Johnson, Isaac Jenkins and James Shivers.
1840—Isaac Jenkins, James Shivers and John Hays.
1841-—James Jenkins, William Limes and William Limes.
1842-—lsaac Jenkins, William Limes and Isaac Cook.
1843—William ILimes, Isaac Cook and Joseph B. Creamer.
1844-40—I1saac Cook. ]. B. Creamer and James Shivers.
1847-48—Isaac L. Cook, J. B. Creamer and Joseph Mark.
1849-—Joseph Marks, Isaac L. Cook and Jacob A. Rankin.
1850 --Isaac L. Cook, Jacob A. Rankin and Robert Eyre.
1851-52—Jacob A. Rankin, Robert Eyre and Micajah Draper.
1853—Jacob A. Rankin, Alfred Bruce and William Knox.
1855—Alfred Bruce, William Knox and M. Draper.
1856—Jacob A. Rankin, M. Draper and John H. Parrott.
1857—Jacob A. Rankin, M. Draper and Benjamin Burnett.
1858-50—No record. /
1860—]Jacob A. Rankin, M. Draper and Thomas B. Thornton.
1861—Jacob A. Rankin, Thomas B. Thornton and Ira Yoeman.
1862-63—Ira Yoeman, B. H. Burnett and Jacob A. Rankin.
1864—No record.

1865—]Jacob A. Rankin, B. H. Burnett and B. F. Thomas.
1866—B. H. Burnett, B. F. Thomas and William H. Jones.
1867—William H. Jones, Allen Haegler and William Clark.
1868—Allen Haegler, William Clark and Enos Reeder.
1869—William Clark, Enos Reeder and Curan Millikan,
1870—\William Clark, Enos Reeder and George S. Fullerton.
1871—George S. Fullerton, A. C. Johnson and Abram Bush.
1872—George S. Fullerton, Abram Bush and E. L. Ford.
1873—Abram Bush, E. L. Ford and R. S. Sutherland.
1874—Abram Bush, E. L. Ford and H. Ellis.

1875—Same as above.

1876—R. S. Sutherland, Abram Bush and H. Ellis.

1877—H. Ellis, R. S. Sutherland and W. J. Horney.
1878-80—W. J. Horney, R. S. Sutherland and J. Mahan.
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1880-86—R. J. Sutherland, R. S. Eyre and W. 1. Horney.
1886—Same as above.

1887—R. S. Eyre, Henry Mark and Thomas Parrott.
1888—Henry Mark, T. P. Parrott and L. C. Mallow.
1889-93-—T. F. Parrott, L. C. Mallow and Henry Fulton.
1893—L. C. Mallow, Henry Fulton and E. L. James.
1894—Henry Fulton, E. L. James and E. T. Cockerill.
1895-99—LE. L. James, E. E. Cockerill and N. B. Hall
18g9-o1—I.. E. Cockerill, N. B. Hall and E. L. James.
19o1-02—F.. L. James, R. \W. Vincent and Charles Sollars.
1902-07—Robert Vincent, Charles Sollars and Clark Rowe.
1907—Charles Sollars, Clark Rowe and James Ford.
19o8—Clark Rowe, James Ford and John M. Jones.
1909—James Ford, John M. Jones and Clark Rowe.
1910—J. M. Jones, S. C. Phillips and Add Hays.
1911—James Ford, H. F. Brown and Edwin Weaver.
1912—James Ford, H. F. Brown and Edwin Weaver.
1913—H. F. Brown, Louis Perrill and Edwin Weaver.
1814—H. F. Brown, Louis Perrill and Edwin Weaver.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

In 1914 the following were the justices of the peace serving in Fayette
county, by townships:

Concord—None qualified.

Green—S. M. Roush, Washington C. H.

Jasper—John D. McMahon, Milledgeville.

Jefferson—U. G. Creamer, Jeffersonville.

Madison—Fred Halvey, Madison Mills; J. W. Lewis, Pancoastburg.

Marion—Joseph Andrews, New Holland.

Paint—E. W. Rumer, Jeffersonville; H. A. Pinkerton, Bloomingburg.

Perry—]J. N. Fetherlin.

Union—]. B. Koontz, Washington C. H.; T. N. Craig, Washington
C. H.
Wayne—R. J. Nelson, Good Hope.




CHAPTER VII.
TRANSPORTATION BEFORE AND AFTER RAILROADS CAME.

In the settlement of early Ohio counties there were no railroads. Trans-
portation was by freight wagons and by boats of various types. The pio-
neer was working at a great disadvantage in comparison to what the “first
settlers” in the far West are. Now the steam horse goes through and scat-
ters circulars broadcast, advertising the quality of land, the chance in town
sites, corner lots, etc. Immigration is thus 3et in operation. The train bears
the family and the household belongings, together with teams and farm im-
plements, all ready to go to tilling the virgin soil with. Not so fifty and a
hundred years ago in Ohio and Fayette county!

With all that may be said concerning the “soulless corporations” (rail-
ways), the fact still remains that the railroads have been the great and all-
powerful agencies in developing what was once a wilderness into a garden
spot that has come to blossom like the rose.

THE FIRST RAILROAD.

During the session of the Ohio Legislature of 1849-50 the member from
this senatorial district, Mr. Linton, introduced a bill which authorized the
granting of a charter for a railroad, to be constructed from Zanesville to
Cincinnati, via Wilmington. * The member of the House from Fayette re-
quested that the name of Washington C. H. be included in the charter, but
this the gentleman from Wilmington refused to do. The Washington people
became indignant and employed Judge Daniel McLain to go to Columbus and
work up their interest, and he eventually succeeded in securing the desired
change. The company was organized and Judge McLain elected one of the
directors. The county commissioners were importuned to issue bonds to the
extent of one hundred thousand dollars, and took action on the matter as
follows:

“Washington, Saturday, July 12, 1851.

“On this day the commissioners met. Present, Isaac L. Cook, Jacob A.
Rankin and Robert Eyre. '

“And upon examining the act of the General Assembly of the State of
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Ohio, passed March 5, 1851, entitled ‘An Act to authorize the commissioners
of Fayette county to subscribe to the capital stock of the Cincinnati, Wil-
mington & Zanesville Railroad Company,” and being fully satisfied that the
preliminaries required by said law, in order to the taking of said stock by
said commissioners, had all been fully complied with, they thereupon did
proceed, for and in behalf of said county, to subscribe to said capital stock
of said railroad company the sum of one hundred thousand dollars, in all
respects as by said act they are authorized and required to do, as by their
subscription upon the books of said company, this day made, will fully and
at large appear.”

A question arose as to whether bonds could be issued on a railroad
before it was constructed and the commissioners of Clinton county refused
to sign the bonds. Meanwhile the contractor, Mr. DeGraff, demanded some
assurance that the money would be forthcoming at the proper time, before
he would begin operations. He was fully assured on that point and in the
fall of 1852 the road was completed from Zanesville to Morrowtown. Judge
McLain took a number of trips to the East and purchased iron, which had
been manufactured at Sweden. The terminus of the road being Morrow,
instead of Cincinnati, the earnings of the road were insufficient to meet the
expense. The road went through various hands until the present time, being
now known as a part of the Pennsylvania line.

An historic work published in 1881, touching on the subject of Fayette
railway systems, said: ‘‘Several roads have been projected through this
county, and at this writing there are three in active operation. A number
of years ago the construction of a road from Dayton running to Belpre was
agitated, and the line surveyed through Fayette county. Bonds for money
- to assist in the work were issued by the commissioners and a number of
people subscribed liberally to the general fund. The grading was nearing
completion, when, for reasons known best to those interested, the project
was abandoned.

“In 1874 Dayton capitalists conceived the idea of building a road from
that enterprising city to the coal fields of southern Ohio. Great interest was
taken in the matter, work was begun and hurried to completion, and, in
spite of financial troubles, the desired end was reached in 1879. This road
was constructed as a narrow gauge and did an immense business after its
completion to the coal fields. In the spring of 1881 it was purchased by the
Toledo, Delphos & Burlington Railroad Company, who connected it with
their extensive narrow gauge system through Ohio and Indiana, and will
extend on to the Ohio river shortly.
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“In the meantime, Springfield capitalists determined to construct a nar-
row gauge to Pomeroy, Ohio. Work was commenced and in 1875 the road
was finished to Jackson. It was first known as the Springfield, Jackson &
Pomeroy Railroad, but was sold under mortgage in 1879 to a Springfield
syndicate, who changed it to a standard gauge, and changed the name to
that of the Springfield Southern. This last company operated it until the
spring of 1881, when the Indianapolis, Bloomington & Western Company
purchased the franchise and changed the name to the Southern Ohio.”

For near a half century the good citizens of Jefferson township worked
for a steam railway through its territory. When the county took a vote to
determine whether the taxpayers should aid in the building of the Cincin-
nati, Wilmington & Zanesville railroad, Jefferson township liberally voted
“Yes.” The Dayton & Southeastern project was defeated, while the question
of voting a certain amount in bonds to aid in the construction of the Spring-
field, Jackson & Pomeroy railroad was decided in the affirmative; however,
the bill authorizing the township to issue bonds was declared unconstitutional
and for the time being the project was abandoned.

In the winter of 1874-75 the matter was again taken up by Wllllam
Blessing and C. W. Gray. Meetings were called, speakers secured and thirty-
five thousand dollars was quickly raised. The land owners came to the front
most willingly. In the spring work was commenced on the proposed railroad,
which road was finished in the autumn of 1877. This line did a fair business,
but the following year the road went into receiver’s hands, who sold to the
Springfield Southern Company.

PRESENT RAILROADS.

In 1914 the railway lines of Fayette county were as follows: Baltimore
& Ohio, with twenty-one miles; Cincinnati, Hamilton & Dayton, with twenty-
three miles; Detroit, Toledo & Ironton, with twenty-eight miles; Pennsyl-
vania (old Cincinnati & Muskingum Valley line), with seventeen miles; the
old “Grasshopper” line, now a branch of the D., T. & L. road, with twelve
miles. This gives, in main track in this county, a mileage of one hundred
and one miles, in round figures.

(9)




CHAPTER VIIL
EVOLUTION OF AGRICULTURE AND STOCK-RAISING.

Fayette county may properly be classed among the purely agricultural
sub-divisions of the state of Ohio. Its wealth has come from the soil through
its annual crops, either sold as harvested or fed to live stock, and of later
years largely to swine. On account of the small per centage of loss by
cholera, until recent years, and the higher prices which have obtained, it has
been a profitable thing to raise swine in the county.

The soil, as has been shown in the chapter on geology, is far superior
to that of many sections of the commonwealth. At an early day both fruits
and grains were converted into various kinds of distilled and malted liquors,
but for many years the farmer has not depended on this source of revenue—
indeed has not been permitted to use his grain for this purpose. The days
of distilleries have forever passed here. The great products of the soil are
demanded in more legitimate and useful channels—that of feeding the nations
of the earth.

The leading industry in all ages has been that of agriculture. The
products of the ground, by proper tillage, have fed and will continue to feed
the teeming millions of earth’s inhabitants. Some countries are better suited
for the profitable production of the great crops of wheat and corn than are
others. Then the country where these grains are best grown must be the
center of agriculture and wealth. The United States census a decade and
more ago disclosed the fact that in this country seven out of every twelve
persons were engaged in farming pursuits, directly or indirectly. This, of
course, included stock raising, dairying and horticulture. The first thing,
then, to make a profitable country in which to farm is to have the gift of good,
lasting soil. The best of soil will wear out and not many decades since Ohio
farmers paid but little attention to keeping the land provided with proper pro-
ductive elements, by fertilizing. But the time came when it was found that
the native soil would no longer produce well, and then it was that, from a
self-protective standpoint, men began to husband the soil and take proper
care of it. Fayette county has been fortunate in having an original good
soil, and also in having intelligent farmers, who have kept the land in suitable
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condition. Hence we hear it spoken of as one of the banner counties in
Ohio. In 1862; over a half century ago, this was listed with fourteen of the
best counties in Ohio in the matter of corn production. Fayette was third
in rank among these fifteen counties, and produced two million sixty-five
thousand seven hundred and thirty-nine bushels of corn that year.

Corn and live stock, horses and cattle, have been, together with the im-
mense droves of hogs in more recent years, the source of this county’s great
wealth.

AGRICULTURAL STATISTICS.

The 1910 census reports give the following figures on Fayette county,
and may be relied upon as correct:

The total number of farms in the county was 1,846; farms operated by
owners, 1,080; operated by tenants, 742; operated by managers, 24.

These farms were run as follows: 372 on share rent; 8o on share cash
rent; 273 cash rent; not specified, 17.

‘The classification of farms as to size was: 3 to g acres; 112; 10 to I9
acres, I0I; 20 to 49 acres, 226; 50 to 99 acres, 410; 100 to 174 acres, §520;
175 to 259 acres, 275 ; 260 to 499 acres, 159; 500 to 999 acres, 39; 1000 acres
and upwards, 4.

The total land area is 264,320; land in farms, 249,140; timber land,
12,464 ; per cent in farms, 94.3; average acreage, 135; average value of
farms, $14,494; average value per acre, $84.93.

The number of farms free from debt was 718; number with mortgage
debt, 354; number not reporting condition, 8.

The amount of fertilizer used in 1910 was $52,254.

The total of crops was: Corn, 3,841,506 bushels; wheat, 792,023
bushels ; oats, 157,869 bushels; rye, 8,015 bushels; barley, 591 bushels.

Total cattle, 15,350, valued at $524,263; total horses, 11,639, valued at
$1,137,724; total swine, 93,560, valued at $521,064 ; total of sheep, $24,025,
valued at $105,299; total goats, 15, valued $45; total of poultry, 180,394,
valued at $95,186.

In 1911 there were 226 acres of alfalfa grown and from it 540 tons
produced.

DRAINAGE.

Many years prior to the settlement of the territory now including Fayette
county it was a favorite hunting ground for roving bands of Indians, who
occupied the country lying between the old town of Chillicothe, in Greene

.
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county, where they had their council house and headquarters, and the Ohio
river, and who each year burnt off the grass, which, in some places, grew to
a height of six feet. However, as the white settlers gradually came in and
the Indians withdrew, the rank vegetation was permitted to grow unmolested,
fall down and decay, year after year, until the deep accumulation of vege-
table matter producing miasmatic infection to such an extent that the county,
during the years from 1818 until 1824, was rendered almost uninhabitable
and all who could possibly leave the county did so. On Lee’s creek, or be-
tween Lee’s and Rattlesnake, in the early history of the county, a settlement
was formed by the Yocums, Bursons and others which, on account of the
extreme unhealthy condition of the same, was totally abandoned and the
empty cabins were seen standing as late as 1820. These cabins, it is said,
were superior in their structure to any in the county, having been hewn smooth
on the outside and the corners neatly dovetailed and carried up straight and
square. To such an extent did malaria exist that the county was in danger
of total depopulation in some regions, especially north of Washington C. H.,
in Jasper, Jefferson, Paint, Madison, Marion and the northern part of Union
townships, while those south of Washington C. H. were level, but the beds
of the streams being deeper better under-drainage was provided.

The problem of drainage and tiling them came into prominence as a
means to combat the unhealthy conditions and the failure of nature to pro-
vide aid. The pioneers in this enterprise were Judge D. McLain and several
others, who cut a few open ditches in the wettest lands, one of which, cut by
McLain, emptying into Vandeman’s run, was visited by people from a dis-
tance as a great curiosity. In about 1840 the open ditches were improved
by having wood placed within them and filled in with dirt. These, in turn,
were replaced by the tile ditch.

The first effort in this direction was made by Judge McLain, who con-
ceived the idea of placing brick on end, closed at the top, and apart at the
bottom a distance of six inches. These, however, when the dirt was thrown
in, sank into the ground and proved worthless. A kind of tube was then
manufactured by hand, which, though a very slow process, was a great im-
provement upon the open ditch, the wood-covered ditch or the brick.

As the feasibility of tiling was established and the great advantages per-
ceived, the Judge erected a power tile machine, said to have been the first in
the United States. In 1856 or 1857, J. W. Penfield procured a patent for
a horse-power tile machine and exhibited the same at the state fair in Cin-
cinnati. Judge McLain saw the machine, finally bought it, set it up on his
farm and burned a kiln of tile. Prior to the introduction of this invention
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tile were pressed by a large lever operated by hand. There was much prejudice
against the tile, owing to the belief that water could not get through it. This
had to be refuted by the actual experiment of placing a closed tile perpen-
dicular in a bed of mortar and filling it with water and not until the water
was seen oozing through and running away was prejudice disarmed and the

true value of tile established. '

In the beginning Judge McLain manufactured tile for his own use
alone, but, in order to introduce the article and to persuade others to improve
their lands, he made some for others, in small quantities, to test their value.
In about 1850 he began tiling his wettest lands on a systematic basis. The
tile was laid about three feet below the surface, so that water when reaching
the tile would be completely filtered and all sediment removed.

This fortunate system of land drainage has reached a wonderful stage
of development in Fayette county today. Hardly a farm is without tiling
and systematic drainage of the crop land. A farmer now has little to do
with stagnant pools in his land. The water sinks quickly after a heavy
rain and is carried off in proportionate quantities. Crops are practically
doubled on this account.

COUNTY AGRICULTURAL SOCIETIES.

Of agricultural societies there has been no end in Fayette county. They
began to exist in an early day, comparatively speaking, and for a time were
successful. Then the state fairs interfered with them, and the local societies
began running largely to horse racing at the fairs and this soon displeased
the better, more practical type of farmers and they did not bring in their
exhibits as before, hence the county fairs went down. Then within a few
years more enterprising men took hold of the matter and formed other county
societies and held creditable annual exhibits again.

A new agricultural society was formed in Fayette county January 11,
1901, and its officers and directors were as follows: Jacob Cockerill, vice-
president and from Perry township; Samuel Zimmerman, Green township;
S. L. Sollars, Concord township; James Ford, Jasper township; Howard
Hagler, Jefferson township; J. M. Kleever, Paint township; John Salmon,
Madison township; Charles Persinger, Marion township; Capt. T. F. Parrott,
Wayne township; Benton Garinger, Union township; Dr. E. M. Boggess,
Washington:; H. S. Sanderson, president; Solon Loofborrow, vice-president;
Frank M. Kennedy, secretary; H. Jones, treasurer.

The present society holds its annual fairs at Washington C. H., which
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are usually largely attended. The exhibits of the products of the soil, the
array of fine blooded stock and the races draw large crowds. The present
officers of the society are: R. G. Jefferson, president; Mart L. McCoy, vice-
president; James Ford, treasurer; W. B. Rogers, secretary. By townships
the directors are: M. L. McCoy, Union; James Ford, Jasper; B. L. Sollars,
Concord; Howard Hagler, Jefferson; J. M. Klever, Paint; R. G. Jefferson,
Madison; H. Wilson, Marion; Oris Hagler, Wayne; E. E. Cockerill, Perry;
Jesse F. Cross, Green.

The fair grounds are located about a half mile from the court house,
are well improved and furnished with all that makes a successful annual
exhibit.

HOG CHOLERA EPIDEMICS.

During the last few years Fayette county has been scourged by hog
cholera, perhaps as much as, if not indeed more than, any Ohio county. Tens
of thousands of valuable swine were lost by this dread animal disease. In
1913 so alarming was this trouble in Ohio that the Legislature, prompted by
petitions from farmers and stock men, appropriated twenty thousand dollars
to experiment with certain suposed remedies, and Fayette county was selected
as the location in which to make such tests. This is all under state super-
vision and in this county, where cholera was the worst, the treatment is free.
In three townships there were twenty-nine thousand hogs being treated with
this specific, and the results the present season (1914) are very satisfactory,
scarcely no hogs having died, and still the work goes on. The test com-
menced in December, 1913, under state direction.

CORN SHOWS AND INSTITUTES.

Fayette county has long been noted for its excellent farmers’ institutes
and its annual corn shows, held in various parts of the county. The agricul-
tural extension schools have accomplished a wonderful work in advancing
the science of agriculture in these parts of Ohio. At the seventh annual corn
show held at Jeffersonville in 1913, one hundred and fifty farmers received
instructions. Enthusiasm was great and the corn contest was spirited. The
best corn in the county was exhibited and was greater than ever before in the
county’s history. There were one hundred and seventy-seven entries of high
grade corn. H. W. Bussert made many winnings, and carried off four
“firsts” and won out on ‘“sweepstakes.” F. E. Eichelberger came in close
behind with three “firsts” in the various classes of corn exhibits.




CHAPTER IX.
BANKS AND BANKING.

Banking is not among the pioneer institutions in any new country, at
least such was not the case in the settlement of countries a half century and
more ago. - Barter was the rule, and it was a time when the per capita of
money in this country was very low. Money, as a real true circulating
medium, was indeed scarce. We had to depend upon Spain, with her Spanish-
milled dollar, on England for her smaller silver coins, and on ‘“red-dog,”
“wild-cat” and other cheap paper notes or scrip, put in circulation from vari-
ous sections of the country, for what money we did possess. This all went
for taxes and hence there was little use for banks or banking in Fayette in
those years. ’ ,

Though in her very infancy, Fayette county, during the War of 1812,
sent many supplies to the American army during its operations in the North-
west. Especially was this true in live stock. A good deal of money was put
into circulation as a direct result of this medium of exchange. In these
transactions the government paid partly in specie, but mainly through the
banks of Cincinnati, the Miami Exporting Company, Bank of Cincinnati and
John H. Piatt’s bank. Piatt was a heavy army contractor and his notes
obtained an extensive circulation during that last war with Great Britain.

A peculiarity about the money put in use in the Miami and Scioto val-
leys before and after the War of 1812 was what was termed “cut money.”
This kind of medium originated, it is believed, in Kentucky, the object being
to keep silver in home circulation, where it was current at par in most trans-
actions, though not receivable for public lands or merchandise outside of the
county. The Spanish milled dollar, or quarter, was taken to the blacksmith,
who, placing it on his anvil, with a cold chisel cut it into two, four, and some-
times five pieces, keeping the fifth for toll and yet having four quarters left.
Occasionally it was cut smaller and the names of the parts were quarters,
bits and fips. Again one would then often hear the terms, eleven-penny bit
and five-penny bit, hence eleven-pence, fip-and-a-bit—undoubtedly derived
from the English custom and brotight into this country from Pennsylvania.
After 1812 this was prohibited.
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The name “Sharp-shins” arose from the sharp edges exposed after cut-
ting on the anvil. Sharp-shins could not be well carried in the pocket, hence
were carried in a leather bag or sack.

Shortly after the beginning of the War of 1812 state banks were estab-
lished in Ohio and shin-plasters (paper money) became the general medium
of exchange, all other kinds of circulating mediums soon disappearing.

FIRST BANKING IN THE COUNTY.

The first bank established in Fayette county, at Washington C. H., was
known as the Fayette County Bank, with James Pursell as its cashier. Its
books were opened for business in October, 1858—fifty-six years ago. It
was located on. the north side of Court street, near the western corner of
Fayette street. It was housed in a small, one-story brick building, which
stood on ground east of and adjoining that upon which the People’s and
Drovers’ Bank of today stands. Later it was changed to the south side of
Court street, in the second story of the brick building west of and adjoining
what was then known as the Kirk House, now the Arlington Hotel block.
There its business was transacted until 1867, its assets then being transferred
to the First National Bank, that concern having purchased all interests and
holdings in the pioneer banking house.

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK.

What was the First National Bank of Washington C. H. (now out of
business as a corporation by that name) was organized by the election of a
board of directors, as follows: Daniel McLean, Thomas B. Thornton,
William McElwain, Anthony Allen, Curan Millikan, James Beatty and
Charles Vanpelt. Afterward Daniel McLean was elected president and
Thomas A. Claypoole was appointed cashier, he being the first really practical
banker in the county. He had previously been connected with the old Fay-
ette County Bank. The books of the First National Bank were opened for
business in March, 1864, and hence it was one of the earliest in the country,
as the act creating such banks was passed in January of that year.

At the date of its organization this bank carried a capital of $75,000.
Its paid-up capital, however, was only $50,000. The following year, in
January, the capital was increased to $100,000, and in July, 1871, the paid-up
capital of the concern was $200,000. By consent of the stockholders, in
November, 1875, the business of the Fayette County National Bank was
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transferred and consolidated with that of the First National Bank, making
its combined capital $300,000. In April, 1878, the First National was
changed to a private bank, and its charter surrendered to the government.
The newly organized concern was then styled, as now, the People’s and
Drovers’ Bank.

BANK OF FAYETTE.

The Bank of Fayette (Pavey & Claypoole—Madison Pavey and Thomas
A. Claypoole, special partners) commenced business February 1, 1867, in
rooms located on the south side of Court street. Pavey purchased Claypoole’s
interest in this bank in February, 1870, and about one year later transferred
the entire business to A. C. Johnson, who subsequently disposed of the same
to the Fayette County National Bank.

THE MERCHANTS AND FARMERS BANK.,

This institution was organized in January, 1872, by the election of
directors as follows: M. Pavey, E. L. Ford, A. M. Stimson, J. W. Sayre,
Henry Kirk, James Willis and George Dahl. M. Pavey was soon elected
president, and Morris Sharp appointed cashier. This bank commenced busi-
ness in April, 1872, on the north side of Court street, in the west room of
what was known as the Wilson House.

THE FAYETTE COUNTY BANK.

This institution was established September 2, 1899, by William Worth-
ington, with an original capital of $12,500, which has been increased to
$100,000. The first officers were A. R. Creamer, president; W. E. Ire-
land, vice-president; William Worthington, cashier. The present officers
are: William Worthington, president; Dr. W. E. Ireland, vice-president;
Robert Howatt, cashier; Fred O. Cline, assistant cashier. This bank does
business in a leased building. It is an unincorporated bank and has been
very successful in its transactions. It has an individual responsibility of
$2,000,000. Having the confidence of the people, it has grown from its first
inception, and is looked upon as one of the county’s safest and strongest
banking houses.
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THE WASHINGTON SAVINGS BANK AND TRUST COMPANY.

This financial institution was established in April, 1907, by Charles U.
Armstrong, with a capital of $25,000, which has been increased to $50,000.
The date of its charter was April 10, 1907, and was the first regular savings
bank in Fayette county. It ddes business in a leased building. The first
officers, as well as the present ones, are: George Jackson, president; Jesse
F. Cross and Reuben Rankin, vice-presidents; Frank A. Chafin, counsel;
Charles U. Armstrong, secretary and treasurer. One of its last statements
(September, 1914) shows their resources and responsibilities to be $463,-
385.01. Of this amount there is $370,236 in loans and discounts; cash and
due from other banks, $90,037. The earned surplus is $32,000, undivided
profits, $3,420, and deposits, $377,889.01.

THE COMMERCIAL BANK.

This bank was established in 1883 and now has a capital of $50,000.
A. S. Ballard was, until his death, October 13, 1914, its president. Its vice-
presidents are H. B. Dahl and W. B. Sharp: its cashier is W. P. Barnes.

This institution is one of the county’s solid financial houses, having in
1914 deposits amounting to over $500,000. Its surplus and undivided profits
amount to $100,000, while its loans run high as $500,000.

THE PEOPLES AND DROVERS BANK.

Another of the pioneer institutions in Washington C. H. is the Drovers
Bank, which was established as the successor to the old First National Bank,
established in 1864. The Peoples and Drovers Bank dates its own history
from 1878. The early history of its predecessor, the First National Bank,
has already been given in this chapter. So it may truthfully be stated that
the Peoples and Drovers Bank is the oldest banking house now doing busi-
ness in the city or county. It is an unincorporated concern, but under the
state laws is subject to inspection and regulation by the banking department
of the state. No bank stands higher in this section of the commonwealth than
does this pioneer institution. It is ably managed by safe, conservative busi-
ness men who most thoroughly understand modern banking methods. Its
stockholders are individually responsible in the aggregate of more than a
million dollars. They now have a paid-up capital of $100.000 and a surplus
of $30,000. One ‘of the directors and stockholders, Frank Johnson, has
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been connected longer than any man in the county with banking, beginning
in this bank in 1873, and has never been absent for any length of time during
all of these years.

The present directors are Humphrey Jones, Frank Johnson, E. O. Mc-
Cormick, William H. Thornton, Norman McLean. The officers are: Hum-
phrey Jones, president; William H. Thornton, vice-president; Roy T. Mc-
Clure, cashier. The bank had for its home until 1867 the center of lot No.
18, facing Court (now Main) street, old National Bank site, and then moved
to its present site, at the west quarter of lot No. 5, Court street.

THE MIDLAND NATIONAL BANK.

The Midland National Bank, at Washington C. H., is now the only
national bank in Fayette county. It was organized in June, 1892, and has a
capital of $50,000, with surplus and profits amounting to $56,662.67. It is
the depository for Fayette county and the city of Washington C. H. Their
statement for September 12, 1914, shows resources and liabilities to the
amount of $709,098.39. There were then deposits amounting to $552,435;
circulation of $50,000; cash on hand, $36,715.65.

The present officers are S. W. Cissna, president; Josiah Hopkins, vice-
president; M. S. Daugherty, cashier; Scott Hopkins, assistant cashier. The
directors were S. W. Cissna, Scott Hopkins, Josiah Hopkins, Viola Stuckey
and M. S. Daugherty. This is classed among the best institutions doing a
banking business within Fayette county today.

THE FARMERS BANK OF JEFFERSONVILLE.

The Farmers Bank of Jeffersonville is an unincorporated concern, or-
ganized or established in 1893, with a capital of $20,000, same as it is now
carrying ; the surplus, however, is now $20,000. The deposits amount to (in
October, 1914) $207,850.53. The amount of loans were $197,232.65.

The organizers of this bank were Henry L. Hire, J. R. Vanorsdall, Ira
D. Booco,- Nathan Creamer, Eli Mock, James P. Font, Eli Smith, Jacob
Bush, John A. Parrett, D. W. Kessler, A. R. Creamer. At first the officers
were elected as follows: J. R. Vanorsdall, president; Ira D. Booco, vice-
president; S. M. Taggart, cashier. The officers are now: Nathan Creamer,
president; Eli Mock and J. R. Vanorsdall, vice-presidents; G. H. Garlough,
cashier; Louis A. Kessler, assistant cashier. The banking house is situated
on the corner of Main and High streets and is a brick structure. A few
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years since it suffered loss by a fire, which destroyed the large plate-glass
front windows. This institution is in a flourishing condition-and has the
confidence of the entire community, both in and outside the village of Jeffer-
sonville. ,

CITIZENS' BANK OF JEFFERSONVILLE.

The Citizens Bank was organized at Jeffersonville in the autumn of
1906, with a capital of $25,000, the same as it now has. Its surplus is now
$5,000 and its deposits amount to $175.000. It was the first banking con-
cern in Fayette county to establish a savings department, which today is a
prominent feature of its business transactions. This bank was organized by
Ira D. Booco and Silas M. Taggart. The original officers were: Ira D.
Booco, president; E. L. Janes, vice-president; Joseph Straley, vice-president;
Silas M. Taggart, cashier. The officers in 1914 are: President, Joseph
Straley ; vice-presidents, N. C. Wilcox and Frank Snodgrass; cashier, Silas
M. Taggart.

The latest report on this bank shows that it is flourishing and its com-
mercial and savings departments are operated in an up-to-date manner. The
efficient cashier, Mr. Taggart, has been engaged in banking at Jeffersonville
for thirty years, and has trained several young men in the business who now
hold excellent positions of trust in various cities of the country.

THE FARMERS BANK OF GOOD HOPE,

The Farmers Bank of Good Hope was organized as a state banking
concern in 1910 by William Thomas Steers. Its first officers were: Presi-
dent, E. D. King; vice-president, Isaac Cory; second vice-president, S. B.
Hoppes; directors, George T. Moore, W. T. Stears, R. J. Holdren, S. E.
Boggs, A. H. Taylor.

The 1914 officers and directors are: E. D. King, president; William
Thomas Steers, cashier; directors, S. B. Hoppes, H. D. Johnson, W. T.
Steers, R. J. Holden, H. C. Smalley, S. F. Boggs. '

The original and present capital stock is $25,000. It was chartered in
1910 under the laws of Ohio. It owns its own fine brick banking house,
erected at a cost of about $3,700. The condition of the bank today is ex-
cellent. From August, 1913, to August, 1914, there were seventy-two new
accounts opened in this bank. Safety deposit boxes are for rent.

Three per cent. per annum is paid on deposits left at this place for a
stipulated time. The August 4, 1914, statement, as shown in the reports
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made to the state banking department, shows this bank to have had at that
date resources and liabilities amounting to $95,818.83. The loans and dis-
counts amounted to $78,668.41; deposits, $65,069. 84.

THE MILLEDGEVILLE BANK.

The Milledgeville Bank, located at Milledgeville, Jasper township, was.
organized in 1903. Its first officers were: C. E. Ford, president; W. E.
Smith, cashier. There were twenty stockholders, with a personal responsi-
bility of $500,000. The officers at this date (fall of 1914) are: R. H.
Fichthorn, president; W. E. Smith, cashier, with Fern Fichthorn, assistant
cashier.

At first the capital was $4,125, which has been increased to $20,000. It
is purely a private banking house. It suffered loss by a fire that occurred in
the town April 13, 1912, but immediately resumed its business.

PEOPLES BANK OF BLOOMINGBURG.

This is a private concern, and did not see fit to furnish the author with
data. It made a showing of resources and liabilities in 1912 of $110,196.

THE IQI2 FINANCIAL SHOWING.

The reports of the various banks in Fayette county in 1912 made the
following showing: Total amount in resources and liabilities, $3,487,712.40.
This amount was divided among the banks as follows: Midland National
Bank, $645,096; Commercial Bank, $557,275; Washington Savings Bank
and Trust Company, $402,166; Fayette County Bank, $545,767; Peoples
and Drovers Bank, $681,087; Farmers Bank of Jeffersonville, $206,112;
Citizens Bank of Jeffersonville, $169,552; Peoples Bank, Bloomingburg,
$110,196; Farmers Bank of Good Hope, $73,172. |



CHAPTER X.
\ THE NEWSPAPERS OF FAYETTE COUNTY.

The newspaper press is universally conceded to be one of the greatest
civilizing influences in the world. This is more especially true in modern
years, since the daily papers and the magazines and all descriptions of class
journals have so greatly increased in numbers. Today the farmer in remote
portions of the country may have, and, if an intelligent, reading, thinking
man, usually has, his daily paper delivered at his very door by the govern-
ment’s free rural delivery carrier system. By this means he is as much in
touch with the great busy world about him as though he lived in the town or
city. He keeps well abreast with the markets, the war news and important
events in all parts of the world, for the telegraph, cable and wireless now
send news from the furtherest parts of the globe. Things happening in
China and Africa are printed in American newspapers the same day or the
day following on which they occur. In the early history of Fayette county
this was not possible. The weekly paper was lacking for a decade or two
after the county’s organization, and when one was established it was a far
different sheet from the fresh, newsy paper that greets the eye of the present-
day reader. Really, the news columns were very old and uninteresting, for
events happening one month were not made known to the people on the
other side of the globe until the month following, as such news had to be
sent by sailing boat from one country to another in those days. But now
the intelligence is flashed by electric current over the submarine cable, in al-
most a moment’s time, and is then quickly put in type by type-setting ma-
chines and run off into printed pages by means of rapid steam presses, with
paper-folder and mailer attachments. . Vast has been the change in fifty
years in the art of printing, especially as relating to the publication of news-
papers. :

Fayette county’s first newspaper was issued Saturday, February 21,
1829, by Joel S. Bereman, who styled his pioneer journal Freedom’s Advo-
cate. Mr. Bereman came here from Highland county, where he had been
taught the printing business, as known in those times. He conducted an out-
and-out Whig political paper and thoroughly believed in the teachings of
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that party, which later was superseded by the present Republican party. This
paper would not be called much of a newspaper today, but at that time was
welcomed with delight at the firesides of this county. Its subscription was
usually paid in rags, feathers, bees-wax, tallow, flour, sugar, bacon, oats,
wheat, and deer-skins, at the rate of two dollars per year. Thirty-odd years
ago the only known copy of this paper (which was established eighty-five
years ago, before a mile of railroad was built in this country, but in which
paper the Baltimore & Ohio railway was being talked of) was in the hands
of Mrs. M. V. Logan, a daughter of the proprietor of the Advocate. It had
been preserved carefully under a glass frame, and of course was highly
prized.
FURTHER NEWSPAPER HISTORY.

From old historical works of this county and from well-written accounts
of the various newspapers by the ready pen of M. Hebert, a resident of the
county, we are permitted to draw for an account of all the earlier publications
in Fayette county, which here follows: _

The second newspaper venture was that of the paper styled the People’s
Palladium (meaning ‘“‘safe-guard of liberty”), which was launched some
time in 1831, by Arthur Critchfield, who had purchased the pioneer paper of
which mention has already been made—the Bereman paper. It now became
a Democratic journal and nothing further is now known of its history, other
than that in the autumn of 1832 the office was sold, passing into the hands
of S. F. Yoeman and S. Lydy, who immediately commenced the publication
of the Washington Herald, which was still a Democratic organ, Mr. Yoeman
doing most of the editorial work. For a time the paper had the double name
of Herald and Fayette County Registcr. The name of S. Lydy appeared at
its head as proprietor, while that of William Hill appeared as printer and
publisher. Its columns were very short of news items, but well filled with
sundry kinds of advertising. In one of its issues an account was given of the
exhibitions of the Siamese twins at Stockdale’s inn, Washington C. H. In
June, 1834, it was in the hands of Hill & Baird as publishers and they were
champions for the Whig cause. It gave an account of big Whig mass-meet-
ings at the old court house. In November, 1834, the Herald (third volume)
was in the hands of Robert R. Lindsey, as publisher and printer. It was still
a Whig organ. It continued publication until about 1835 and then suspended.

The Genius of Liberty, a Democratic paper, was established in Wash-
ington C. H. in 1834, by J. M. Morgan. Its issue in November, 1834, glori-
fied the result of the fall election, the main issue being the re-chartering of
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the United States Bank, which had been favored by the Whig party in that
campaign. Papers of those days seemed not to think about local news, but
lived on the political campaigns, and mourned when election was over be-
cause they were schooled to think politics was all the people cared to read
about. In May, 1833, the paper bore the immense title of Genius of Liberty
and Democrat Republican and had for its sub-head motto, “Unawed by the
influence of the rich, the great or the noble, the people must be heard, and
their rights vindicated.” At that date the names of J. Jamison and W. Loof-
borrow are given as proprietors, and William Hill as printer and editor.
Its tone, politically, was then Democratic.

A SPICY CAMPAIGN PAPER.

The Political Hornet was the name of a political organ established for
campaign purposes in 1836, and supported Gen. William Henry Harrison
for President. Robert Robinson and J. S. Bereman were editorial con-
tributors. Up to 1836 Fayette county had always gone Democratic, but that
year was changed to Whig, which party elected every officer.

The Circulator, another publication, printed its first number January 2o,
1838. It was ‘“published simultaneously in Washington C. H. and London,
in the legislative district composed of Fayette and Madison,” being delivered
in London, by private express, on the same day of issue. It was then the
only paper published within the limits of the district. Elisha Williams Sex-
ton was its proprietor. While it was a Whig organ, it was quite independent
and neutral in politics, generally speaking. This paper spoke of printers
being so scarce in Ohio that many young girls were being taught to set type,
including one in the Circulator office. April 14, 1838, there appeared an item
concerning an “Act to abolish imprisonment for debt” in the state of Ohio.
About that date this paper had the following notice: ‘“No man, henceforth,
can be heard through our columns unless he be a yearly subscriber. Some
of these times we will publish a communication precisely as it is sent to us.”
It is not known how long the Circulator continued to circulate!

The Fayette Republican was established in December, 1839, by R. R.
Lindsey and was published in Wilmington, Clinton county. It was a radical
Whig organ. In writing of a new publication at Louisville, Kentucky, the
editor of this paper remarked, “The publication of a new paper called the
IV hiskey Barrel is soon to be established at Louisville; its object is to make
war upon all temperance laws and temperance societies.” He then adds
“Wesley Roberts & Co. will preside over the bung-hole and spigot.”
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The Washingtonian was established in July, 1840, under the editorship
of J. S. Bereman and E. W. Sexton, who opposed the bill then before Con-
gress creating two hundred thousand militia. The point was made that it
was not democratic and must not be tolerated. It supported Tom Corwin
for governor of Ohio, the ticket being surmounted by a log cabin, with a
“hard cider’” barrel alongside. Later, this paper was edited by Harvey C.
Blackman and he supported Henry Clay for President. It passed through
several men’s hands and was published from 1840 to 1847, and then sus-
pended. John W. Poff was its last proprietor and editor.

The Star Spangled Banner was established in the autumn of 1846, by
W. H. H. Thompson, who in its first issue mentions the then newly published
work, Henry Howe’s “Historical Collections of Ohio.” This paper plant
employed much of the printing office material formerly used by the Wash-
ingtonian, above named.

John L. Scott published a newspaper in this county some years prior to
1849, but its name is now forgotten,

The Fayette New Era was established in the spring of 1850 by Editor
George B. Gardner. Its local columns spoke of the first sewing machine
ever brought to Fayette county, as having been the Wilson machine, brought
to Washington C. H. in May, 1852, by Clarence Parin, a tailor. The Era
was published until the spring of 1855, and was succeeded by the IWashing-
ton Register, under E. B. Pearce and J. C. D. Hanna, who issued the first
number of their paper March 15, 1855. It was “independent in all things
and neutral in nothing.” This was the first attempt, in this county, to pro-
duce a first-class local news page, and the files of the paper show how well
the editors succeeded. Mr. Hanna sold the paper to his partner in 1857, and
Pearce continued it till his death in 1864.

The Ohio State Register was established directly after the paper last
named. It was established by Samuel Pike, who conducted it as a Democratic
organ. After six months he sold to W. C. Gould, who continued to advocate
Democratic doctrines until April, 1873. In 1871 the name was changed to
that of Register and People’s Advocate, with the motto, “That nation is most
prosperous where labor commands the greatest reward.” Its chief hobbies
were oppositions to monopolies and middlemen. On April 24, 1873, H. H.
Simmons and W. A. Beasley succeeded Gould, and they changed the name
back to Ohio State Register and continued to run it as a Democratic sheet.
In 1875 Beasley assumed sole management until October of that year, when
he died at the old Shaw hotel. The administrator, D. I. Worthington, sold

(10)
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the plant to H. V. Kerr, then a Democratic state senator, who suddenly died

in 1881. At the date of his death he was state librarian. The publication of
the paper was continued by his son, J. D. Kerr. Later it was owned by Os-

wall Smith, then by J. R. Marshall and Robert Palmer. In 1899 it was sold to

Barrett & Terry. In 1902 it was sold to Joseph H. Harper, and in 1910 was

taken over by the Herald Publishing Company. Its politics is now Demo-

cratic. It circulates in Fayette and adjoining counties and is known as an

up-to-the-minute local newspaper.

The Fayette County Herald was commenced in December, 1858, by
William Millikan, and on November 26, 1868, W. W. Millikan, his son, was
admitted to partnership. This was the first regular Republican paper estab-
lished in Fayette county, and has been influential with all the passing years
in support of the party and the general local upbuilding of the county seat
and county.

The News was established by W. C. Gould and Frank M. Jones in the
second story of McLean’s block, opposite the court house, June 3, 1874. It
claimed to be “independent upon all subjects—opposed to all monopolies.”
Gould sold his interest to Jones in 1874, and Jones continued until March,
1876, then moved the plant to Mount Sterling, where, after four months, it
suspended publication. After the material of the office had been moved to
various points, it finally landed at Jeffersonville, this county, where, in Octo-
ber, 1880, A. Voigt established the Chronicle, which was the pioneer paper of
that place. It suspended publication about 18go.

The Church of Christ Advocate (for the Primitive Christian Union),
published at Washington C. H., was established in September, 1907, by J. H.
McKibban. It was originally published at Spring Valley, Greene county, Ohio,
but removed to its present location in 1909. In 1912 a company was formed
known as The Church of Christ Advocate Publishing Company, which is an
incorporated concern. It is a six-column, four-page paper, run by electric
motor presses. It is strictly a religious newspaper and is the special organ
of the Church of Christ. It circulates in all parts of the United States. Its
day of publication is Thursday. At this date its corresponding editors are
Rev. H. C. Leeth, Rev. G. C. McKibban and Everett A. Keaton.

The Washington Daily Herald was established in 1885 by William Milli-
kan & Son. It was published by the Millikan family until 1910, when it was
purchased by the Herald Publishing Company. The president of this cor-
poration is W. W. Millikan; vice-president and general manager, Joseph H.
Harper, with Charles H. Parrott as secretary and treasurer. It is indepen-
dent in politics and is the only paper between Cincinnati and Columbus carry-
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ing the Associated Press dispatches. It is a daily, six-column, eight-page
paper, using electric motor power. Its job department is especially well
equipped for all up-to-date work. It prints all the daily news of Fayette
county, the state and the nation, so far as it relates to decent matter. It goes
to the home fireside, and is welcomed each day as a real news-letter.

The Horse Journal, of Washington C. H., was established by a company
and is a consolidation of the old Kentuckv Stock Farm and the Horse Jour-
nal, the former of Lexington, Kentucky, and the latter of Jamestown, Ohio.
The present journal is one of sixteen pages, issued each week in the year. It
has a circulation in all parts of the United States and Canada, as well as in
England. It is devoted to horse interests exclusively. It is printed at the
Record-Republican office.

The Jefferson Citizen, a Democratic paper, was established in August,
1884, by Dr. L. A. Elster. He was succeeded in 1888 by L. C. Fults, and he
was followed for a time by ID. W. Callihan in 1896, and in 1903 it became the
property of the Citizen Publishing Company. It is a six-column quarto, run
on a gasoline-power press and circulates in Fayette, Greene and Madison
counties. Its day of publication is Thursday and its annual subscription
price is one dollar. A good, modern equipped job department is run in con-
nection with this newspaper. '

The pioneer paper here was perhaps the Chronicle, that suspended about
18go.

THE RECORD-REPUBLICAN.

The Record-Republican is a semi-weekly paper, published at Washing-
ton C. H. Its history runs back many years, and its connecting papers have
already been mentioned in this chapter. For a time it was semi-weekly, then
changed to weekly, then again went to a semi-weekly publication under its
present management in 1913. From what was known as the Record Pub-
lishing Company, it was sold to a stock company, incorporated with J. H.
Williams as president; A. P. Williams, secretary and treasurer, with other
stockholders, E. R. Williams, S. A. Evans and D. E. Warren. This com-
pany took the property over in July, 1911. It is now published on Tuesday
and Friday of each week and is a six-column, eight-page paper, which often’
runs twenty pages in busy seasons. Politically, it is Republican. It is run
on power presses propelled by gas engines. Its job department is complete
in every particular. It also prints the Horse Journal, for its publishers, each
week.
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THE ADVERTISER.

This is a daily journal devoted to local news and business interests of
Fayette county and especially the county-seat town. It was established
about 1905 by Joseph Gest, who, in 1913, sold to the Galvin Publishing
Company, who made it a semi-weekly paper, and later a daily. In May,
1914, it was taken over by the Record-Republican Company, who still issue
it daily. It was coupled with the Daily News, established October 11, 1913,
by Mr. Williams, and hence is known as the News-Advertiser, and is pub-
lished by the Record-Republican Company.

On September 17, 1879, T. F. Gardner established The Fayette Repub-
lican, as an organ of the Republican party. In its opening announcement it
stated, *“As a journalist, it shall be the aim to chronicle all the local events of
town and county, of which we may become cognizant, be they good: or bad.”

PRESENT NEWSPAPERS OF THE COUNTY.

A recent newspaper directory gives the following on the Fayette county
papers : )

Washington C. H. papers—Church of Christ Advocate; established 1906
Rev. J. H. McKibban, proprietor. Fayette Advertiser, daily; Republican;
circulation, 3.,000. Herald, daily, established in 1885; circulation, 1,527.
Horse Journal, Charles Allen, proprietor; established in 1907; circulation,
6,286. Ohio State Register, weekly; established 1836; Joseph H. Harper;
Democratic; circulation, 2,000. Record-Republican; established 1879, a semi-
weekly ; circulation, 3,500.

Jeffersonville—The Citicen, weekly; established in 1884; L. O. Fultz;
Democratic; circulation, 8oo. :

NEWSPAPERS IN OHIO.

Number daily papers in 1909 _________ 184
Number of Sunday papers _—_________ [ 25
Number semi and tri-weekly ___________________ 60
Number weekly ____ . 699
Number monthly . ___ 152 -
Number quarterly __ __ 37
All other publications ___ oo 24

Total in state (1909) - oo o 1,181
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THE FIRST PRINTING PRESS IN FAYETTE COUNTY.

In concluding the chapter on the press of this county, perhaps no better,
more historic item can possibly be inserted than to give what a former history
has published concerning the county’s pioneer printing office, its press and
material and how they were operated, showing as it will the great change in
the “art preservative” that has taken place with the passing of eighty-five
years:

“In the old Register office, which paper long ago ceased to be, there stood
for some years, after Edgar B. Pearce took editorial control of that estab-
lishment, the first printing press brought to Washington C. H. It was shipped
from Chillicothe, to which point it had years before been transported from
Philadelphia. Its history was known to an old employe of the Franklin
Type Foundry, of Cincinnati, who in 1858 happened to see it here while
engaged in business pursuit. It was afterward shipped to that institution,
and was there many years, possibly still held by their successors, as a price-
less printing relic. It was a very quaint looking institution. Its frame was
of mahogany. On it Judge Bereman printed and executed, for the time,
much artistic work, and from its bed there rose and spread thoughts sarcastic
and severe, and many truths which bore good fruit soaring therefrom. Glad
tidings, and sad as well, emanated from its platen impress—yea, much of joy
and woe, of mirth and sorrow, through its lever power, was scattered.

“On that first printing press used here, it required two pulls' to complete
the impression of one side of the paper, each page of the form being run
under the platen separately. Then two hundred and fifty to three hundred
sheets or impressions per hour was considered quite rapid work, but today,
in the Herald office, with the power press facilities, one thousand sheets per
hour can be printed. The size of the newspapers published here was eighteen
by twenty-six inches; today they are twenty-eight by forty-four inches. Of
reading matter one paper of today will contain as much as six did then; yet
the subscription price was greater than now.”



CHAPTER XI.

THE MEDICAL PROFESSION.

In all ages of the world, among civilized and uncivilized peoples, the
medical profession has been in high esteem, whether it be the learned pro-
fessor, who has studied the real science of medicine in all its branches, or the
“great medicine man” of the untutored savages, who from actual experience
has made discoveries of the healing powers of herbs and roots; honor has
awaited them on every hand, while the life and death of every human has been
virtually placed in their keeping. The weary patient lying upon a bed of pain,
and the no less weary watcher, wait anxiously for the coming of the good
doctor, who, upon his arrival, notes every physical indication or expression
of countenance for a ray of hope. He administers what his knowledge of
medicine tells him is best in the special case at hand. The work of the phy-
sician cannot be measured by dollars and cents, and the long years required
in preparing himself are all necessary.

As to the progress of medical science, let it be stated that the last fifty
years have seen vast changes in the treatment of diseases, and nowhere is
this advancement more noticeable than in America. Our numerous medicat
colleges have sent forth men of excellence, and today we have, as a general
rule, first-class physicians and surgeons in every community. Our hospitals
vie with any in the old world. Especially in dentistry and surgery is this
change very striking. The doctor is a necessity, and he frequently has many
bad accounts on his books, but if he be a true physician he slights not the
poorest in the community in which he practices. Should the science progress
in the next half century as in the last fifty years, a wonderful degree of ex-
cellence will certainly exist at that date. All men must die, but many need
not go to premature graves if medical aid be rendered at the proper time.

FIRST AND EARLY DOCTORS.

Thomas McGara, a native of Pennsylvania, came to Fayette county in
the autumn of 1812 and was the first to practice medicine in this county.
His family consisted of wife and two children, Joseph and Jane. Doctor
McCara was a great favorite with the pioneer settlers; was elected to the
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Legislature, serving in such capacity six years. He died at the age of cighty-
eight years. his faculties holding out until almost his last hour. He was the
uncle of Judge Daniel McLean, the latter being his sister’s child. \While
singular in ways, he was a bright, deliberate and exceedingly popular man
and doctor.

The second physician in the county was Doctor Baldridge (some place
him hefore McGara). He came here about 1811. He was both minister and
doctor of medicine. He was a Presbyterian in his religious faith. He had
a wife and one child. .

The third, or next, physician here was Dr. Benjamin Hinton, who was
a man of rarc ability. He came from Highland county in 1818. He mar-
ried, in this county, Rachel Stimpson. He was an energetic and upright
man, noted for his kindness. He was also a member of the Ohio Legislature
from this district; also county treasurer (collector). In 1838 he moved to
Peru, Indiana, where he died in the seventies.

Other early physicians were Drs. L. and B. Rush, sons of pioneer Will-
iam Rush, of Union township.

OTHER PHYSICIANS.

Drs. A. Worley and A. W. Brown, with office in the drug store of
Brown & Worley, announced that they were “fully prepared to treat diseases
cf all kinds, both chronic and acute, on either the botanic or mineral system.”

Dr. O A. Allen, druggist, was born in New Jersey, July 21. 18325. His
parents and family moved to Ohio in 1831. The Doctor was a member of
the Masonic order and of the Baptist church. He was clerk of the village
of Washington C. H. at one time. He studied at Granville Coullege, comn-
pleting his course at the Cleveland Medical College in 1854, commencing his
practice in the spring of that year.

Dr. Henry F. Coffman, druggist and physician, was born in Brown
county, Ohio, August 4, 1823. His father was a native of Kentucky and his
mother of Pennsylvania. They came to Ohio about 1800 with a family of
seven children, four sons and two daughters. The Doctor was a member of
the Masonic fraternity and also of the Independent Order of QOdd Fellows
He successfully practiced medicine for many years at Washington C. H. He
was an extensive druggist. It is said that he was one of the most careful
- and best posted druggists in all Ohio. He graduated from Starling College
of Medicine, Columbus, in 1850. He first practiced medicine at Good Hope,
this county, without horse, saddle or bridle, beginning with but twenty-five
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cents in his possession. He had accumulated over forty thousand dollars
by 1880, but in one deal had all taken from him; however, he set about to
retrieve his fortune and finally became well circumstanced, having one of the
finest medical and drug practices of any in Fayette county.

Dr. S. S. Salisbury, another physician of Washington C. H., was born
in Georgetown, Ohio, in January, 1848, being one of nine in his father’s fam-
ily which came to Ohio in 1810. He was a member of the Masonic order
and identified with the Odd Fellows. Both he and his estimable wife were
members of the Presbyterian church. He obtained his education at Lebanon,
Ohio, and at Peru, Illinois. He studied medicine with Dr. W. H. McGrana-
ghan, of Maysville, Kentucky. He attended medical lectures in Philadelphia,
at Hahnemann Medical College, from which institution he graduated in
March, 1873. He began his practice at Washington C. H. in May, 1873,
continuing many years.

Dr. C. M. Wilson, physician at Washington C. H., was a native of
Northampton, Pennsylvania, born in 1845. He enlisted in August, 1864. as
a Union soldier in Company A, One Hundred and Seventy-fifth Ohio Vol-
unteer Infantry; was wounded in his first engagement, at Franklin, Ten-
nessee, and in November, 1864, had his second finger of his right hand shot
off; also received flesh wounds in his thigh. He was discharged in May,
1865. That fall he entered the South Salem Academy, where he remained
until the fall of 1868, then commenced his medical studies under Doctor
Looker, of Cincinnati, graduating from Miami Medical College in March,
1871. He began practice in Washington C. H. and followed the profession
several years. '

Doctor Hazen came to Plymouth in 1846, but his sojourn was brief on
account of his bad character, living as he was with a woman not his lawful
wife. The moral community would not tolerate him and he wisely removed.

Between 1863 and 1865 Dr. A. J. Gaskin located at Plymouth, and re-
mained until 1868,

The next physician at Plymouth was Doctor Spangler, who came from
Milledgeville in 1870, bought property and remained until 1881, then returned
to Milledgeville.

Doctor Cully was the first physician in Milledgeville, locating there in
1863, remained three years and moved to Plymouth.

Dr. A. J. Gaskin, in 1865, opened an office at Milledgeville, but later
removed to Plymouth, where he remained in practice until 1868.

At Martinshurg, one of the pioneer doctors was J. S. Jones, who was at
one time engaged in mercantile business at that place.
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Dr. Abraham Baker was a native of Kentucky, where he spent his
youthful days. He attended Augusta (Kentucky) College, and graduated at
the Ohio Medical College at Cincinnati. Soon afterward he began practicing
medicine at Dover, Kentucky; next we find him practicing at Hillsborough,
where he remained nine years, then removed to Winchester, Indiana, spent
ten years there, thence to Frankfort, Ohio. He remained in practice there
six years, then settled at Good Hope, where he continued in the practice. In
his younger days he was a traveling preacher in the Methodist Episcopal
church.

Dr. James F. Wilson, who died in the seventies or early eighties, was
an important factor at New Holland, this county, a part of which is within
the borders of Pickaway county. He was born near Chillicothe, Ohio, in
October, 1808, his early years having been spent on his father’s farm. At the
age of twenty-one years he was sent to Greenfield, Highland county, and
there commenced the study of medicine under the direction of Dr. Daniel
Robbins. He finally secured a diploma, and immediately settled at New Hol-
land, of which town he was the first practicing physician. Later he entered
Ohio Medical College at Cincinnati, graduating with a fine record. He then
returned to New Holland, where he followed ‘his profession the balance of
his days. He had a large clientele and made friends on every hand. He suc-
ceeded in a financial way and was possessed of a handsome fortune. He had
an enviable reputation as a fine surgeon. For a time during the Civil War he
was located at Camp Chase, Ohio, in the capacity of surgeon. He was not a
church member, but practiced every-day Christianity and was a liberal giver
to all good causes. He gave free of charge his medical services to every
member of the two companies that enlisted from his neighborhood to enter
the Union cause. Their families he sacredly agreed to treat free while the
men were at the front, and this he did. For a quarter of a century he was
afflicted with heart trouble, and finally, on January 21, 1875, this malady
caused his death. His son was Hon. John M. Wilson, so well known over
Ohio as a brilliant lawyer and statesman. He was appointed by General
Grant, while President, as consul to Bremen; later serving at Hamburg.
After this experience, he was sent to Panama to represent the United States.

Concerning some of the physicians at Waterloo, let it be stated that
Doctor Dilley was the first to practice in that place. He located there in
1842, but remained only a brief period.

Following him came Doctor Freeman, of London, Madison county,
who continued there about four years.

Dr. Tobias Haskins came in about the same date of Doctor Dilley’s de-
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parture and remained until 1860, removing to Licking county. About this
time Doctor Cleeve located at Waterloo, remained a number of years and
then went to Illinois.

Dr. V. H. Gaskill commenced practice in Waterloo about the close of
the Civil War and was still in practice in the eighties.

Other physicians of the past were Doctors Goldsberry, Harlow and
Culy. Also Doctor Martin, the first to locate in Madison township, who was
from New England. He opened his office at Yankeetown, remained five
years, then removed to Bloomingburg, continuing until 1854, when he moved
to McClain county, Illinois.

Dr. J. N. Clark came from Harrisburg, Ohio, in the spring of 1873,
locating at Buena Vista, Green township. After one year he opened his
office at Madison Mills, where in the nineties he was enjoying an extensive
medical practice.

In 1881 these physicians were practicing in the county: Drs. A. and
J. L. Worley, C. A. Foster, H. L. Smith, C. M. Wilson, S. A. Salisbury and
O. H. Saxton. '

Dr. Francis Marion Blick, deceased, practiced in Washington C. H.
from 1874 until within a few months of his death. He was born in Pickaway
county, Ohio, studied medicine under Doctor Brown, of Circleville, and began
the practice of medicine at a village in Pickaway county known as Darbyville,
where he remained in constant practice for just twenty-five years, then moved
to Washington C. H., where the remainder of his life was spent, dying
January 22, 1902, aged about seventy-two years. For three years, while in
Pickaway county, he had for a student and partner Doctor Boggs, now of
Good Hope. Doctor Black was highly successful both as a physician and
surgeon. He also had the gift of accumulating property. He was wise in
that he invested in land and left an estate of some four hundred acres in Pick-
away county, the same still being held by his widow, whose maiden name
was Mary J. Zimm, a native of Columbus, who married for her first husband
Silas Ambrose in 1851. She married Doctor Black in 1853. Doctor Black
and wife had no issue, and Mrs. Black, by her former marriage, was the
mother of one daughter who died young. Doctor Black was well up in
Masonry, belonging to the thirty-second degree of that most ancient and
honorable fraternity. Politically, he was a stanch Republican. He served
his country during the Civil War, having been a captain in Company A,
Ninetieth Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He served one year and was honorably
discharged upon his resignation. He served as acting colonel of his regiment
at different times, in the absence of the regular colonel. Mrs. Black still re-

./
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sides in the old homestead on North street, where the Doctor first located
upon removing to Washington C. H. in 1884.

Dr. James Hinton, “the thumbless doctor,” as he was known, for, be-
sides his being a dwarf in stature and humped-backed, he had no thumb on
either hand, was of the regular school of medicine and had good success here
from an early day on to later years. He it was who originally owned the
old Doctor Wilson residence property, now owned and occupied by Doctor
Wilson's daughter, Mrs. Jarred Millikan, at the corner of North and Court
streets. He was married and reared seven children. His wife became in-
sane and was kept in a sgnall room in the residence just named and many queer
stories are related of her strange actions. It was an unfortunate case, in
which the Doctor had the sympathy of the community. It was 1841 when he
sold the property above mentioned, but he remained here several years after
that; he finally went West, and was lost sight of to Fayette county people.
It is stated by Mrs. Mary Millikan that he was a good doctor and was fre-
quently associated with her father, Dr. J. G. Wilson. From a former history
published for this county, it is learned that this Doctor Hinton was the brother
of Benjamin Hinton, probably Fayette county’s third physician. Dr. James
Hinton, it is stated, removed to McLean county, Illinois, where he was still
practicing as late as 1881. He was a success financially and accumulated a
handsome competency, at one time owning fourteen hundred acres of valu-
able land in Illinois. -

Dr. Felix H. Knott, physician and surgeon of Washington C. H., was
born in this county. February 21, 1851, son of Ananias Knott, who was from
Pennsylvania, but emigrated to Ohio about 1845. Felix was married in
1871, to Samantha De Witt. He received his education in Cincinnati, at
the Eclectic Medical College, from which he graduated in 1871. He had
commenced the practice of medicine in 1869, at Monticello, Illinois, and there
continued for about three years. After he settled in Washington C. H. he
continued a regular practitioner. He really commenced the reading of medi-
cine when twelve years of age, with his father, who was a prominent doctor
of his day and generation, at Monticello, Illinois. He soon built up a large
and respectable practice here and was widely known and very successful in
his calling.

Dr. W. E. Ireland, now the oldest practitioner in Washington C. H,,
came here in 1887. He was born near Bloomington, Illinois, in 1852. His
parents removed to Fayette county when he was but a small lad. He was
reared in Fayette and Ross counties. He obtained a good education and taught
school for seven years, and finally chose medicine as his profession. He studied
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under Dr. A. Ogar, at Sedalia, Ohio, and graduated from Starling Medical
College with the class of 1882; practiced five years at Leesburg, Highland
county, Ohio, and moved to Washington C. H. in 1887, since which time he
has ranked among the best, most careful and honorable members of the
medical fraternity. He married, in 1882, Florence I. Carr, of Jeffersonville,
Ohio, by whom two daughters and one son were born, all now married and
settled in homes of their own. Politically, the doctor is a Democrat. He has
held numerous non-paying offices, including member of the board of educa-
tion, a place he has ably filled for about ten years. He is a member of Grace
Methodist Episcopal church, of which he is the present president of the board
of stewards. In fraternal affairs, he is well up in Masonry, being a Knight
Templar. In a financial way, the Doctor has succeeded and is the vice-presi-
dent of the Fayette County Bank. He is placed in the list of best citizens
and physicians in the county, where he has resided more than twenty-seven
years. '

Dr. S. A. Ireland, a brother of the above, was born in 1848 in Ohio, and
died in Washington C. H. in January, 1911, of pneumonia. He never mar-
ried; was a most excellent physician and had a faculty of winning the con-
fidence and esteem of all who knew him. His death was a great loss to the
profession and the community. He taught school in young manhood twelve
years and after graduating from Starling Medical College located at Martins-
ville, Ohio, then in Leesburg in 1887, coming to Washington C. H. in 1889.
He was a member of the Methodist Episcopal church and the Masonic order.
There was no night too dark and stormy to deter him from making his pro-
fessional calls, and really this extreme exposure was what finally caused his
death. He was a man of honor, modest, retiring and studious. He was a
wonderful worker and never lost sight of advanced theories in medicine and
gave his patients the best that his reading and practice afforded.

From Dr. W. E. Ireland’s memory, the following facts concerning men
of whom he has had knowledge since his coming here in 1887, have been
gleaned:

In 1887 Doctor Lowry was in practice at Washington C. H. He mar-
died a sister of Dr. S. S. Salisbury, moved West and has been lost sight of.

Doctor Ustick was also here in 1887, later sold his practice to Dr.
Rogers, of Greenfield, Ohio. Doctor Ustick went from here to Boise City,
Idaho, where he still practices medicine. Doctor Rogers moved to Honoluly,
Hawaii.

Doctor Moorehouse located here about 1887, remained a year or two and
removed.
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Dr. O. H. Saxton moved from here to Topeka, Kansas, in 1887, and died
there a few years later.

Doctor Teeters, father of Dr. Charles Teeters, located here in the
eighties, and died here.

Doctor Roberts came in prior to 1887 and practiced untxl his death. He
was an excellent physxcnan and an honored citizen of the city.

Doctor Hall came here from Good I{ope in the eighties, and died years
later of consumption.

Dr. Joseph Williams and his father practiced medicine in Washington
C. H. many years, ahd were eminent in their profession.

Dr. J. W. Hughey practiced in the city many years and died in 1912.

Dr. J. Morton Howell practiced here in the city a few years, then moved
to Dayton. When he had no real calls in the country, it is related of him
that he frequently run his fast team over the rural roads as if he had urgent
calls and had no time to waste, but ever drove on, thinking to create the opinion
that he had a large practice.

Dr. John G. Wilson was another physician and surgeon of earlier days
in this county, who had a very large and successful practice. He was an ex-
cellent man and was loved and admired by legions within this county. He
was a native of Ross county, born March 19, 1811, of parents who had emi-
grated from Pennsylvania. The forefathers were in the Revolutionary
struggle, while his father was a soldier in the War of 1812. He studied
medicine under Dr. James Robbins, of Greenfield, three years and in 1835
went to Dayton, where for more than five years he was associated with Dr.
Henry Vantyne. He then spent a part of a year in Lockport, Indiana, after
which he located permanently in Washington C. H., where he continued his
medical practice until about eighty years of age. The date of his settlement
in Washington C. H. was August, 1841. He died September 22, 1896, at his
home. He married, in 1839, Lucinda Mackerley, of New Jersey. She died
in 1875 and was the mother of two children, Martha, who died in young
womanhood, and Mary L., who became the wife of Jerred L. Millikan and
is now the only survivor of the Wilson family living. She occupies the old
homestead where Doctor Wilson, her father, resided so many years and in
which house she was born. It is at the corner of North and Court streets.
Doctor Wilson was physician for the county infirmary for twenty-one years.
Politically, he was a stanch Republican, and formerly a Whig. In his church
faith he was of the Presbyterian denomination. There are still many within
the county who readily recall the good doctor, when he used to ride over the
county either in his cart or on horseback. He was absorbed and interested
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in his chosen profession even until the end of life came. During the Civil
war days he had a large practice, and agreed with many a brave man who
went forth in defense of the flag that he would look after the health of their
families while they were absent. This he carried out to the letter; some re-
paid him and others never did, but he felt he had performed a patriotic duty
and thus cancelled the account.

Dr. Harry M. Jenkins, a young and very successful physician, of but few
years practice, was born in 1880, and was reared in this county and city. He
studied medicine and attended and graduated from the Ohio Medical College.
He was married in Sandusky, Ohio, in October, 1914, and two weeks after
his marriage ended his life by taking a quantity of carbolic acid, while seated
in his own office late in the evening. This act shocked the entire community,
for he was a bright, genial and exceptional promising young professional
man, with seemingly many years of pleasure and usefulness before him. The
motive for this terrible ending was made known by a note he penned the night
of his death, in which he referred to the fact that, when twelve years of age,
he met with an accident while crossing the Pennsylvania tracks in Washing-
ton C. H., by which his skull was crushed and his brain injured. A number
of strips of metal were inserted at the time, and one of these seemed to him
to have slipped and pressure was brought upon his brain, causing, at numerous
times of late, a sudden mental aberration, or insanity, which he feared was
fast becoming worse. He feared in his practice that he might administer
dangerous drugs and take the lives of others, hence he took his own life.
The accident mentioned was twenty-two years prior to his death. Doctor
Jenkins was a favorite with very many in the county, and he held member-
" ship in several secret fraternities. His death caused a general sadness over
this entire county.

PHYSICIANS OF THE COUNTY IN IQI4.

In the early autumn of 1914 the following were practicing medicine in
Fayette county:

In Washington C. H—Drs, W. E. Ireland, L. L. Brock, G. W. Blakely,
E. F. Todhunter, C. A. Teeters, George S. Hodson, Lucy W. Pine, D. H.
Rowe, Paul Hilderbrant, C. A. Harlow, Howard Stitt, A. A. Hyer, L. M. Mc-
Fadden, Roy Brown, P. E. Decatur, R. M. Hughey, Florence Rankin, C. A.
Hazzard, L. P. Howell. These are all of the regular school of medicine ex-
cept Doctors Hazzard and Rankin, osteopaths; Doctors Hodson and Hilder-
brant, homeopathic, and Doctor Decatur, eclectic.
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At Milledgeburg—Drs. J. A. Adams, A. N. Vandeman, Grant Marchant.
At Bloomingburg—Drs. E. H. McDowell and G. W. Holdren, and, until
recently, Doctor Hyer, who is now on his farm.
At Jeffersonville—Drs. F. E. Wilson, J. H. French and H. V. Lusher.
* At Good Hope—Doctors Boggs and Stemler.
At Buena Vista——Doctor Hooks.

FAYETTE COUNTY MEDICAL SOCIETY.

There have been several medical societies in this county with the passing
years, but the present one ‘is all that will here be mentioned on account of
there being no data from which to draw, earlier than that of the present.
organization.

The Fayette County Medical Society was organized in May, 1903, and
contained twenty-one charter members. There have been more and less at
various times, the present membership being sixteen.

The original officers were Dr. G. W. Blakely, president; S. A. Ireland,
vice-president; A. O. Erwin, secretary and treasurer. Those serving at pres-
ent are: Dr. E. F. Todhunter, president; H. F. Kaler, vice-president; Lucy
W. Pine, secretary and treasurer. Meetings are supposed to be held once a
month, but really are not attended nearly so frequently. Physicians belong-
ing to the county society may become members in the state and national
society and association, but not otherwise. Hence the importance of these
local societies.

CITY HOSPITALS.

The first regular hospital at Washington C. H. was organized and duly
incorporated under the state laws, by local people, in the month of November,
1907. The by-laws specified that there be nine directors and the first were
as follows: Mrs. Madeline Sharp, Dr. W. E. Ireland, Dr. R. M. Hughey,
Col. B. H. Millikan, F. M. Fullerton, Mrs. Aus Hopkins, C. A. Reid, Mrs.
F. L. Stutson and J. H. Dahl. For president, Doctor Hughey was elected;
for first vice-president, S. A. Ireland: for second vice-president, Dr. Lucy
Pine; for treasurer, Colonel Millikan. The name was given in the articles
of incorporation as the Fayette County Hospital Association. It is now con-
ducted solely by Dr. L. M. McFadden.

The next hospital was the one still in operation, in the city’s very center,
the Hodson Hospital, established in 1911 by Dr. George S. Hodson, in mem-
ory of his deceased son. This is a well appointed, finely equipped hospital
which usually has all the patients it can care for. '



CHAPTER NXII.

THE BENCH AND BAR.

THE JUDICIARY.

On April 15, 1803, the General Assembly of Ohio passed an act estab-
lishing the judiciary system of that time. It determined that the supreme
court of the state should consist of three judges, chosen in the manner
directed in the constitution, that is, they were to be appointed by a joint
ballot of both houses of the General Assembly, and they were to hold office
for the term of seven years. This court was declared to have original juris-
diction in all civil cases, both in law and equity, where the title of land was
in question or where the sum in dispute exceeded the value of one thousand
dollars. It had exclusive cognizance of all criminal causes where the punish-
ment was capital, and of all other crimes and offenses not cognizant by a
single justice of the peace; it had cognizance concurrent with the court of
common pleas. By this act also the state was divided into circuits. A presi-
dent of the court of common pleas was to be appointed in each circuit in the
same manner that the supreme judges received their appointment. The
president, together with three associate judges, appointed in a similar way,
for each county in the state, constituted the court of common pleas for such
county.

It has been recorded that the first court in Fayette county was held in
the log cabin belonging to John Devault, a little north of the present site of
Bloomingburg, and was presided over by Judge John Thomson. It appears
that chairs were scarce articles and Mrs. Devault’s bed was pressed into
service by the Judge, for which he received a severe lecture by the lady.
Sometimes a stable, and again the adjoining hazel thicket, accommodated the
grand jury in its sittings. Judge Thomson was known as a man of puritani-
cal morality and distinguished himself by the long and tedious moral lectures
he invariably delivered in court to the prisoners.

According to the best authorities, the year 1811 was the date of the

" holding of the first court in the town of Washington C. H. A double round-
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log cabin was standing on the corner of Court and Main streets, fronting on
Court, consisting of two independent rooms, probably ten or twelve feet
apart, with the roof meeting in the center and covering the space between.
In the room nearest Main street the first court in Washington C. H. was held.
The jury retired to the hazel brush nearby to hold their deliberations and
whenever the presence of the sheriff or prosecuting attorney was needed
their names were loudly proclaimed from the thicket. It is stated that while
justice was solemnly dispensed in one room, whiskey was as hilariously sold
by the owner of the cabin, Valentine Coil, in the adjoining room. It is not
certain just how many terms of court were held in this cabin, but it appears
that the court house was ready for occupancy at least as early as the spring
of 1814; also that court was held in the cabin during the latter part of the
year 1812, and by good authority it is stated that court was held in the Coil
cabin a much longer period than elsewhere. It is surmised that the cabin
served as a court house from 1812 until the latter part of 1813, then was
removed to the Melvin, afterward Vandeman, corner, and from there to the
first court house.
FAYETTE COUNTY LAWYERS.,

The attorneys practicing here in 1836 (three in the entire county) were
Wade Loofborrow. Robert Robinson and Samuel Kerr, all long since de-
ceased and their names forgotten, save by the families they represented and
a few of the older citizens of the county. They were all excellent men and
good lawyers for those days. Robert Robinson died in the fifties.

Another whose name should not be omitted is Robert M. Briggs, who
died in 1869, aged less than forty years of age. He was a splendid type of
American manhood; was unusually eloquent and had a promising future
before him. He was judge at one time and had a state-wide reputation.

The attorneys practicing in the county in 1861 included these: Madison
Pavey, Horatio Maynard, George B. Gardner, M. J. Williams, Nelson Rush
and Mills Gardner.

In 1880 these were found in active practice here: R. C. Miller, O. T.
Gunning, Mr. Barclay, T. N. Craig, M. Willard, ]J. B. Koontz, Thomas D.
McElwain, Gregg & Chambers, W. T. Tanzey and Maynard & Hadley.

Another attorney was Col. S. F. Kerr, of a pioneer family, who was
born in Kentucky October 5, 1805, came with his parents to Ohio in 1809,
settled in Ross county, where he remained until 1811, then removed to
Jeffersonville, Fayette county. He studied law under Attorney Phelps,

(11)
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was admitted to the bar in 1835 and continued in active practice in this
county until his death, in the early eighties. He was a public-spirited man,
held the office of state representative and was probate judge.

All but five of the above 1880 lawyers are deceased now, some for many
years, others more recently.

Of ’Samuel Buck, the second attorney in the county, C. A. Palmer, a
native of the county, later of Indianapolis, relates the following:

“Samuel Buck was later a resident of Greene county, where he resided
on his farm. He was a man five feet and six inches tall; was stocky built and
very stout. At the time he began his practice in Washington C. H., Peter
and Jesse Funk (of the famous Funk family) were known as the bullies of
this county. They were probably not bad men, but the times and customs,
with environments, made them what they were, dangerous and undesirable
characters in the community. It was the custom then to meet in town on
general muster day of the militia, and fight just to see which was the best
man. At this the Funks were counted the ‘cocks of the walk.’” This seemed
to render them immune from prosecution for crimes of which they were
suspected. Samuel Buck announced himself a candidate for the office of
prosecuting attorney, and in this he promised, if elected, to prosecute the
Funks and thus break up their terrorism. .

“A short time afterward Peter Funk—at least one of the boys, the worst
one—came into town and, hearing of Mr. Buck’s proposition, announced that
he would whip him on sight. They met between the present Arlington hotel
and the Trust building, and immediately the fight was on! The result was
the little lawyer whipped the big bully to a frazzle. This resulted in the
election of Buck, who at once proceeded to cause the arrest of the two
Funks. One of the brothers, fearing the outcome, went away from the
county, while the other remained and barricaded himself in his cabin home
and resisted the sheriff and his posse. During the night he made his escape,
left the county and state and never came back. There was no attempt to
capture them and all were too glad to be without such citizens. This cabin
of Funk’s was what gave rise to the phrase ‘Battle of Funk’s Cabin,” so much
heard about in this county. The log house stood in the present Klever-Tway
settlement.”

MISCELLANEOUS LIST OF ATTORNEYS.

Through the kindness of Hon. H. L. Hadley, we are permitted to give a
list of lawyers, as remembered by him, as having practiced in the county at
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one date or another. Some of these have already been given, while many
more have not, for lack of sufficient data. Mr. Hadley’s list is as follows:

S. F. Kerr, Judge H. B. Maynard, Judge M. J. Williams, Hon. Mills
Gardner, Hon. Madison Pavey, Judge T. M. Gray, J. B. Priddy (probate
judge), C. A. Palmer, T. D. McElwain (probate judge), Manford Willard
(probate judge), Humphrey Jones (arrived here in April, 1870), Judge Ace
Gregg, Hon. A. R. Creamer, H. L. Hadley (who came in 1874 to practice),
C. M. Jones, Willis M. Pine, Nye Gregg, Pope Gregg, C. Thompson, W. A.
Paxon, M. S. Creamer, Mr. Mudd, Mr. Hixon, J. N. VanDeman, C. A. Reid,
C. W. Russell, J. D. Post, T. N. Craig, J. H. Patton, Judge Carpenter, H. H.
Sanderson, John Logan, Mr. Kimball, C. E. Baughn, Lee Rankin, H. Ran-
kin, Judge Joseph Hidy, E. L. Bush, F. A. Chaffin, J. L. Zimmerman, Rell
G. Allen, D. L. Thompson, Fred B. Creamer, C. W. Spangler (deceased),
George Hitchcock, Nathan Creamer, Thomas S. Maddox, W. B. Rodgers,
P. E. Dempry.

Some of these lawyers never practiced long and did not make much of
a record, but have been members of the Fayette county bar. Others have
moved to other parts of the country, while very many have died with the
passing years. Many of these have brief sketches in this work, while others
have none. The list of names, at least, should here appear as a tribute to
their memory, and some as connecting links between the long-ago years and
the active practice of the present day.

Ace Gregg, former judge of the court common pleas, was born in
Washington C. H., Jefferson township, this county, the son of John F. Gregg
and wife. He was married in 1871 to Amelia J. Jones, of Bloomingburg.
He was a member of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows and Royal
Arcanum societies. He read law at Washington C. H. under Hon. M. ]J.
Williams, took a law course at the University of Michigan, at Ann Arbor,
and commenced law practice in 1870, under the firm name of Gregg &
Cochran, continuing until 1880. During his practice he was prosecuting at-
torney for six years. In the autumn of 1880 he was elected judge of the
common pleas court. Mr. Gregg died in about 1893.

Hon. Horace L. Hadley, now retired from the legal practice, was born
in Sandwich, New Hampshire (see biographical sketch). He married S.
Lizzie Emerson, of Massachusetts. He enlisted in 1862 as a soldier in the
Union cause in the Civil War, having commenced the study of law before
that date, and resumed the same after the close of the war. He read law
with Hon. Sidney C. Bancroft before he entered the army, and finished his
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studies at Salem, Massachusetts, with Perry & Endicott, both celebrated law-
yers and authors. Mr. Hadley was admitted to the bar in September, 1863,
and first located that year at Danfers, Massachusetts. He remained there
until April, 1870, then came to Ohio, and since 1874 has been engaged in the
practice of law at Washington C. H. He was of the firm of Maynard &
Hadley, and in 1881 was elected to a seat in the House of Representatives
from Fayette county. He has accumulated a good property and in his ad-
vanced years is leading a retired life, enjoying the hard work of former years.
He was one of the substantial members of the Fayette bar many years and
now is beloved and highly esteemed by everyone in his district, county and
city.

Joseph Hidy, another Fayette county attorney of considerable promi-
nence, was born in this county in 1854, son of Urban and Mary A. Hidy. Mr.
Hidy was a member of the Jefferson Masonic Lodge. He received his edu-
cation at the common schools, after which he took a philosophical course, re-
ceiving the degree of Bachelor of Philosophy at Buchtel College, Akron,
Ohio. He then went to Ann Arbor, Michigan, took a collegiate course in
the University of Michigan, graduating in the spring of 1878, and was ad-
mitted to the bar that spring, and commenced practice the following May,
under the firm name of Savage & Hidy. He has been in the law practice at
Cleveland many years and is now just retiring. He was judge a number of
years, filling the position with credit.

Horatio B. Maynard, Washington C. H., was born in Holden, Massa-~
chusetts, October 12, 1826, the son of John P. Maynard and wife. He was
married in 1856 to Kesiah Blakemore. He entered the One Hundred and
Fourteenth Ohio Regiment in August, 1862, and resigned February, 1863.
He was prosecuting attorney of Fayette county for 1868-69, and was later a
member of the well-known and strong firm of Maynard & Hadley. His early
education was obtained at Ludlow, Vermont, but he passed his youth in New
Hampshire. He was for two years assistant superintendent of the Black
River Academy, of Vermont. He died in 1908, greatly mourned by the bar
and the community in which he had lived so long and been so true to good
citizenship.

» Thomas McElwain, lawyer at Washington C. H. for many years, was
a native of this city, but of parents who emigrated from Kentucky to this
county. He attended school here until the breaking out of the Civil War,
when he enlisted as a private soldier in Company A, First Ohio Cavalry, with
which he served three years and was honorably discharged. He returncd



FAYETTE COUNTY, OHIO. 165

home and in 1867 took up the law practice. He died at the State Soldiers’
Home in 1912.

R. C. Miller, a native of Fayette county, Ohio, was born in 1853, the
only son of Robert and Marie Miller. In 1881 he married Eva J. Parrett,
of the pioneer family of this county. He received his education in Wash-
ington C. H., sttudied law under Gregg & Creamer, and was admitted to the
bar December 7, 1880. He began law practice in April, 1881. Politically,
he was a Republican. He spent a few years in the West, variously engaged,
but finally settled down as an attorney in this county. He served as prose-
cuting attorney at one time here. He died several years ago.

J. H. Patton, attorney at Washington C. H., was born in this county in
1849, a son of Mr. and Mrs. James Patton. He was united in marriage
December 3, 1870, to S. E. Durnell. He received his education at Lebanon,
at South Salem Academy, and commenced the study of law with Hon. M. J.
Williams, of Washington C. H., and in 1869, when only twenty years old,
commenced the practice of law. He passed from earth’s shining circle in
1893.

John N. VanDeman, formerly of the firm of VanDeman & Russell, at
Washington C. H., was born in that city in 1845, the son of John L. Van-
Deman and wife. He lived there, attended the village school, until February,
1858, then moved with the family to Frankfort, Ross county, Ohio. His
father was a merchant and when the son was twelve years of age he com-
menced clerking in the store, where he soon acquired a liking for the affairs
of commerce and trade. When seventeen years old he attended Duff’s
Commercial College, at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, then went to Miami Uni-
versity, remaining there until twenty years of age. His father then gave
him a one-third interest in his large mercantile business. On March 1, 1865,
he began business for himself and bought the stocks of merchandise. A
wholesale department was soon added to the business, and the former twenty-
five thousand dollar sales increased to eighty-five thousand dollars per an-
num. In 1872, however, he turned to the study of law at leisure hours, not
thinking he might ever practice, but for the general information he might
thus obtain. He had also taken a commercial law course while at Pittsburgh.
By 1876 he had become infatuated with the law a